Planning sour
Committee COUNGIL

Thursday, 6 February 2025 at 1.00 pm
Council Chamber - Council Offices,
St. Peter's Hill, Grantham. NG31 6PZ

Committee Councillor Charmaine Morgan (Chairman)
Members:  Councillor Penny Milnes (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor David Bellamy, Councillor Harrish Bisnauthsing, Councillor Pam Byrd,
Councillor Helen Crawford, Councillor Patsy Ellis, Councillor Paul Fellows,
Councillor Tim Harrison, Councillor Gloria Johnson, Councillor Vanessa Smith,
Councillor Sarah Trotter and Councillor Paul Wood

Agenda

This meeting can be watched as a live stream, or at a
later date, via the SKDC Public-I Channel

1. Register of attendance and apologies for absence

2. Disclosure of interests
Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for
consideration at the meeting

3. Minutes of the additional meeting held on 23 January 2025 (To Follow)

Planning matters
To consider applications received for the grant of
planning permission — reports prepared by
the Case Officer.

The anticipated order of consideration is as
shown on the agenda, but this may be subject to
change, at the discretion of the Chairman of the

Committee.

4. Application S24/1040 (Pages 3 - 40)

Proposal: Installation of solar farm with associated
battery storage, comprising ground

Published and dispatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Wednesday, 29 January 2025.
{ 01476 406080
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive
www.southkesteven.gov.uk



mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
https://southkesteven.public-i.tv/core/portal/home

mounted solar photovoltaic panels,
including mounting systems, inverters and
transformers, electrical substation,
underground cabling, stock proof fencing,
CCTV, internal access tracks and
associated infrastructure for a temporary
period of 40 years

Location: Pastures Farm, High Dike, Welby

Recommendation: To authorise the Assistant Director —
Planning & Growth to GRANT planning
permission, subject to conditions.

Application S24/1327 (Pages 41 - 84)

Proposal: Conversion of former school house
building together with erection of 3 (no) 3-
storey apartment blocks to form a total of
60 (no) apartments with associated
amenity space and vehicle parking;
following demolition of the existing
workshop and office building (Revised
submission of S23/0882)

Location: The Old School House, Station Road East,
Grantham

Recommendation:  To authorise the Assistant Director —
Planning & Growth to GRANT planning
permission, subject to conditions

Application S24/1822 (Pages 85 - 103)

Proposal: Proposed demolition of Class Q consented
barn and erection of a detached dwelling,
hard and soft landscaping and formation of
a re-wilding Zone

Location: Wildwood, Nightingale Lane, Aisby,

NG32 3NE

Recommendation: To authorise the Assistant Director —
Planning to GRANT planning permission,
subject to conditions

Application S24/1719 (Pages 105 - 118)
Proposal: Change of use of outbuilding to single

dwelling
Location: 1 Albert Road, Stamford, Lincolnshire, PE9

2EA

Recommendation: To authorise the Assistant Director —
Planning & Growth to GRANT planning
permission, subject to conditions.



Application S23/0299 (Pages 119 - 133)

Proposal: Erection of 67 dwellings with associated
vehicular access from Reedings Road and
Owen Way, and associated public open
space and infrastructure

Location: Land at Reedings Road, Barrowby

Recommendation: To authorise the Assistant Director —
Planning & Growth to GRANT planning
permission, subject to conditions and the
completion of a Section 106 Agreement

Any other business, which the Chairman, by reason of
special circumstances, decides is urgent



This page is intentionally left blank



S24/1040

Agenda Item 4

SOUTH Planning Committee
KESTEVEN 6 February 2025
DISTRICT

COUNCIL

Proposal:

Installation of solar farm with associated battery storage, comprising
ground mounted solar photovoltaic panels, including mounting systems,
inverters and transformers, electrical substation, underground cabling,
stock proof fencing, CCTV, internal access tracks and associated
infrastructure for a temporary period of 40 years

Location:

Pastures Farm, High Dike, Welby

Applicant

Welby Solar Farm Limited

Application Type:

Full Planning Permission (Major)

Reason for Referral to
Committee:

At the discretion of the Assistant Director — Planning & Growth

Key Issues:

Climate Change / Principle of Development

Effect of the proposal on agricultural land

Effect of the proposal on the character and appearance of the area
Effect of the proposal on biodiversity and ecology

Technical Documents:

e Agricultural Land Classification Report
Arboricultural Impact Assessment
Biodiversity Net Gain Report
Construction Traffic Management Plan
Cultural Heritage Assessment
Cumulative Impact Assessment
Drainage Strategy

Ecological Impact Assessment

Flood Risk Assessment

Geophysical Survey

Glint & Glare Assessment

Landscape and Visual Appraisal
Minerals Resource Assessment

Noise Assessment

Planning, Design and Access Statement
Statement of Community Involvement
Sustainability Statement

Transport Appraisal

Report Author

Adam Murray — Principal Development Management Planner



http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1

@ 01476 406080

2% Adam.Murray@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type:

Growth ‘ Regulatory ’ Lincrest

Reviewed by: Phil Jordan, Development Management &
Enforcement Manager
Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

To authorise the Assistant Director — Planning & Growth to GRANT planning permission,
subject to conditions.

28 January 2025



mailto:Adam.Murray@southkesteven.gov.uk

S24/1040 — Pastures Farm, High Dike, Welby




1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.7

Description of the site

The application site consists of an area of approximately 144.9 hectares of land situated to
the east of High Dike (B6403) and situated approximately 1.5km north of the village of
Welby. The site comprises of 99.2 hectares of land for the proposed solar farm, and 45.7
hectares of land for the proposed grid connection route, which is situated approximately
4km to the south-west of the site. The site currently consists of an area of agricultural land,
which are currently in arable use, and form part of a single agricultural unit associated with
Pastures Farm.

The application site primarily follows the established field boundaries, with the exception of
the south-eastern boundaries, which do not follow a clearly defined physical feature. The
boundaries of the site are largely marked by mature hedgerow and trees.

The site is bound to the north, south and west by open countryside, including further
agricultural land and associated dwellings and storage buildings; and to the west by High
Dike (B6403), with the former RAF Barkston Heath, and Belton House Registered Park and
Garden located beyond. There are a number of Public Rights of Way (PRoW) within the
immediate vicinity of the site, including Bridleway Heyd/19/1, which runs adjacent to the
northern boundary of the site.

As referenced above, the proposed development site also includes a cable connection
route, which extends from the southern western boundary of the solar farm, running
southwards adjacent to the High Dike before crossing approximately 0.7km south of High
Road and running for approximately 1km to the east connecting to the Grantham BSP
substation.

As alluded to above, the proposed development site lies outside of the main built-up area
of a defined settlement within the village — the nearest settlement is Welby, which is located
approximately 1.5km to the south of the proposed development site — and, therefore, falls
to be identified as being located within the Open Countryside. The site is identified as being
within Flood Zone 1 of the Flood Map for Planning but is also identified as including areas
of medium and higher risk of surface water flooding. Furthermore, the Natural England
Provisional Agricultural Land Classification Maps identify the site as being Grade 3
agricultural land value; a detailed Agricultural Land Classification Survey has been
completed as part of the application submission and this is discussed in further detail below.
The site also falls within a Minerals Safeguarding Area designed in the Lincolnshire Minerals
and Waste Local Plan.

The site is not subject to any statutory landscape designations. However, the site is located
within the Southern Lincolnshire Edge Landscape Character Area (South Kesteven
Landscape Character Assessment, 2007), which is defined by the large-scale, open arable
landscape character; and comprises of open rectilinear fields under arable cultivation with
some fragmented hedgerow trees, which allow extensive views.

Similarly, the proposed development site does not contain any designated built heritage
assets. However, there are a number of designated assets located within the surrounding
area. The Grade | Listed Belton House and its associated Registered Park and Garden are
approximately 1.8km to the west of the site on the opposite side of the High Dike. Honington
Camp Scheduled Monument is located approximately 2.4km to the north west of the site.
There are a number of listed buildings also located within the village of Welby.



1.8

1.9

1.10

2.2

2.3

Furthermore, whilst the site is not subject to any ecological designations, it is note that the
verges immediately adjacent to the High Dike on the western boundary are identified as a
Local Wildlife Site, and form one of five LWS within 1km of the site. Similarly, there are also
a number of nationally designated sites within the immediate area, including Wilsford Heath
Quarry Site of Special Scientific Interest, which is located within approximately 600m to the
north of the site. The site is located within the SSSI Impact Risk Zone for this site.

The proposed development site has not been subject to any previous planning applications.
However, the application proposals have been the subject of an Environmental Impact
Assessment [EIA] Screening Opinion (LPA Ref: S23/1845) in December 2023, which
concluded that the proposed development was not defined as being EIA development, and
therefore, the current application was not required to be accompanied by an Environmental
Statement.

It is appreciated that the site is one of three solar proposals within the immediate vicinity of
Welby. The current status of these proposals are as follows:

e LPA Ref: S24/0360 — Church Lane, Welby — approximately 2.2km to the south of the
current application site and uses the same grid connection point as the current
application scheme. Allowed on Appeal in January 2025.

e LPA Ref: S23/2199 — Land at High Dike, Londonthorpe (Ash Tree Solar Farm) —
located on the opposite side of the High Dike. Refused planning permission following
resolution by Planning Committee in October 2024. Currently pending appeal.

Description of the proposal

The current application seeks full planning permission for the installation of a solar farm with
associated battery storage, comprising ground mounted solar photovoltaic panels, including
mounting systems, inverters, transformers, electrical substation, underground cabling, stock
proof fencing, CCTV, internal access tracks and associated infrastructure for a temporary
period of 40 years.

The proposed solar farm in anticipated to have an energy generating capacity of up to 46
megawatts (MW) and would be operational for a temporary 40-year period, with all
equipment removed from the site at the end of the operational period, and the land
subsequently returned to its current agricultural use. The application states that the solar
farm would provide the equivalent energy needs for approximately 14,500 homes in the UK.

The application submission has been accompanied by a series of Proposed Plans and
Elevations, as well as detailed technical assessments, which indicate that the development
would consist of the following:

e Ground mounted solar array — panels based on metal mounting structure to form an
array, which would be pile driven into the ground. The panels would be tracker
panels, which would run to south and rotate east to west tracking the sun throughout
the day. The arrays would be positioned 2.3m above ground and therefore, the
panels would be 0.8m above ground at their lowest point and 3.5m at their highest
point in the day.

e Battery Storage Compound — the battery energy storage system (BESS) would be
located in the north-east corner of the site and screened by Welby Hazels. The units
would be grouped in approximately five sets of eight units divided by internal access
tracks. The individual units are 6m in length, 2.5m in width and 2.9m in height.



2.4

2.5

2.6

2.7

e 33kV Customer Substation — the substation and control building consists of a
prefabricated container structure situated on a concrete foundation. The building is
approximately 12.5m in length, 2.9m in width and 2.4m in height and contains two
entrances.

e Power Conversion Block — the conversion blocks would house the inverters,
transformers and associated equipment to convert the energy into Alternating
Current energy. There are proposed to be 17 conversion units within the site with 10
situated in the BESS area. The conversion units would be 2.2m in height, 2.6m in
with, and 11.7m in length and would be a metal panel situated on a stell base frame.

e Boundary Fencing — deer fencing, comprising of wooden posts and wire mesh
fencing approximately 2km in height. The on-site substation would be bound by metal
palisade fencing approximately 3m in height. The BESS compound would be bound
by weldmesh fencing which would be 2.5m in height.

e CCTV system — the CCTV system is to be pole or fence mounted around the
perimeter of the site at a maximum height of 3.5m

e Storage container for spare parts

e Water Tanks for the Battery Energy Storage System (BESS) — the proposed water
tanks would have capacity for 228,000 litres and would be 2.57m in height, 2.42m in
width and 5.42m in length.

e Upgrade of site access and internal access tracks to connect the site

The Proposed Site Layout indicates that the proposed development would exclude the
central field of the site, which will be retained in agricultural use for the lifetime of the
development.

As referenced above, the proposed development would connect to the National Grid via the
existing Grantham BSP substation. The cable connection route will be taken from the south-
western corner of the site and would run parallel to the High Dike for 3km before crossing
to the south of High Road and running for approximately 1km to the east to the substation.
The cable would be buried underground for the extent of its connection route, and
agricultural land would be fully reinstated following installation of the cable.

Access to the site is proposed to be taken via the existing agricultural access from the High
Dike (B6403), which currently serves Pasture Farm. The access is proposed to be used for
construction of the proposed development, as well as during the operational period.

The application submission has also been accompanied by a Proposed Landscape
Mitigation Plan, which identifies that the existing hedgerow boundaries will be retained and
enhanced through closing existing gaps with native hedgerow. New species rich hedgerow
with occasional tree planting will be planted within the internal boundaries of the site and
adjacent to the existing access route. The internal field boundaries are to be planted with
new species diverse grassland under the panels, and nectar rich and tussocky grassland
on all other areas. A 10m buffer is to be retained around Welby Hazels. New skylark plots
are to be provided in the central field which is being retained in arable use.

10



3

Relevant History

Application Ref | Description of Development Decision

S23/1845 Request for an EIA Screening Opinion for the | EIA Not Required

installation and operation of a 46MW ground | 18.12.23
mounted photovoltaic solar farm with battery
storage, grid connection and supporting
infrastructure

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5
4.6

5.1
5.1.1

Policy Considerations

South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (Adopted January 2020)
Policy SD1 — The Principles of Sustainable Development in South Kesteven
Policy SP1 — Spatial Strategy

Policy SP5 — Development in the Open Countryside

Policy EN1 — Landscape Character

Policy EN2 — Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity and Geodiversity
Policy EN4 — Pollution Control

Policy EN5 — Water Environment and Flood Risk Management

Policy EN6 — The Historic Environment

Policy DE1 — Promoting Good Quality Design

Policy RE1 — Renewable Energy Generation

Policy ID1 — Infrastructure for Growth

Policy ID2 — Transport and Strategic Transport Infrastructure

Local Plan Appendix 3 — Renewable Energy

Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan: Core Strategy and Development
Management Policies DPD (Adopted June 2016)
Policy M11 — Safeguarding of Mineral Resources

Design Guidelines for Rutland and South Kesteven Supplementary Planning
Document (Adopted November 2021)

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (Published December 2024)
Section 2 — Achieving sustainable development

Section 4 — Decision-making

Section 9 — Promoting sustainable transport

Section 11 — Making effective use of land

Section 12 — Achieving well-designed and beautiful places

Section 14 — Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
Section 15 — Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

Section 16 — Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

Section 17 — Facilitating the sustainable use of minerals

National Policy Statement for Energy (EN1) (Published November 2023)

National Policy Statement for Renewable Energy (EN3) (Published November 2023)
Representations Received

Association of Gardens Trust

No comments to make

11




5.2
5.2.1
5.3
5.3.1
5.3.2

5.3.3

5.3.4

5.3.5

5.3.6

5.3.7

5.3.8

5.4
5.4.1
5.5
5.5.1
552

Civil Aviation Authority

No comments received.

Defence Infrastructure Organisation
No objection subject to conditions.

The application site occupies the statutory safeguarding zones surrounding RAF Barkston
Heath, RAF Cranwell ad East 1 WAM network. Specifically, the application site falls within
the aerodrome height and birdstrike safeguarding zones, and the technical zone around the
East 1 WAM network, an asset which facilitates air traffic services.

Within this zone, the principal concern of the MOD is the creation of new habitats that may
attract and support populations of large and / or flocking birds close to an aerodrome.

After reviewing the plans and documentation provided in the application, given the location
of the development relative to RAF Barkston Heath, it is identified that the landscaping plans
have the potential to form an attractive environment to those large and / or flocking bird
species that may be hazardous to aviation safety.

The land underneath the panels is shown as species diverse grassland, which if maintained
by grazing, may introduce an attractive environment for birds hazardous to aviation. Other
habitats which will be provided include modified grassland, other neutral grassland, mixed
scrub, trees and hedgerow with an enhancement of existing ditches. Whilst the indicative
landscaping plan identifies the species that would be planted, no details of the proportions
or numbers of individual species have been provided. To address that potential harm, a
condition requiring the submission, approval and implementation of a detailed planting and
landscape management plan should be added to any consent that might be issued.

The technical safeguarding zone defines areas to regulate the height of development,
materials used in construction and introduction of sources of electro-magnetic fields around
radars, transmitter / receiver sites and other types of technical installations supporting
operational defence and national security requirements.

It is identified that the volume of ground mounted photovoltaic panels has the potential to
generate Electrical Noise Interference which may impact on the operation and capability of
technical assets forming part of the East 1 WAM network, an asset used to facilitate air
traffic management with resultant degradation in aviation safety.

In order to prevent this harm, the MOD requests that a condition is added to any consent to
require the submission, approval and implementation of an Electric Noise Management
Plan.

Environment Agency
No objection subject to conditions.
Heritage Lincolnshire
No objection subject to conditions.

The site for the proposed development lies in an area of archaeological interest,
approximately 2km to the south of the meeting point of two Roman roads, Ermine Street to
the west and King Street to the east. Cropmarks of possible prehistoric date comprising a
field system and a ring ditch lie immediately beyond the northern boundary of the proposed
development and other cropmarks of prehistoric date lie to the south. Romano-British

12



5.5.3

5.5.4

5.6
5.6.1
5.6.2

5.6.3

5.7
5.7.1
5.8
5.8.1
5.9
5.9.1
5.10
5.10.1
5.11
5.11.1
5.12
5.12.1

pottery, roofing tile and stone building debris were identified at a site to the west of Ermine
Street, approximately 1.5km from the western boundary of the proposed area of
development.

Trial trenching has identified a range of archaeological deposits distributed over several
areas which are predominantly of late Iron Age and Roman data. Previous investigations on
deposits within the site have been undertaken in advance of the construction of an Anglian
Water pipeline. Prior to these investigations, the archaeological remains were unidentified,
although cropmarks plotted in the area have indicated their presence. The identified remains
have the potential to contribute to the regional archaeological research agenda and to
consideration of the setting of the nearby Iron Age hillfort at Honington which is a Scheduled
Monument of national importance.

We recommend that an archaeological mitigation strategy is imposed as a condition of any
planning permission which may be forthcoming. The mitigation strategy should be submitted
to and agreed by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of development.
The strategy should contain illustrations which show the locations of significant
archaeological remains against all areas of proposed impact and ground disturbance.
Written details of construction methods and groundworks should be detailed as part of the
process of compiling the strategy and protected areas should be clearly demarcated and
fenced off during construction and decommissioning.

Historic England
No objections.

With regard to the assessment of setting impacts on Honington Camp Scheduled
Monument, there is evidently a setting relationship between the later prehistoric — Roman
remains indicated in the geophysical survey and previous investigations, and the Iron Age
scheduled monument which sits on the same mass of rising ground the other side of
Barkston Heath.

Our key concern in respect of the setting of Honington Camp is that associated
archaeological remains on the proposal site are appropriately addressed through the
planning process both as setting and as assets in their own right.

Black Sluice Internal Drainage Board

No objections

Lincolnshire County Council (Highways & SuDS)
No objections subject to conditions.

Lincolnshire County Council (Minerals)

No comments received.

Lincolnshire County Council (Planning Policy)
No comments received.

Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue

No objections.

Lincolnshire Wildlife Trust

No comments received.

13



5.13
5.13.1

5.13.2

5.13.3

5.13.4

5.13.5

5.13.6

5.13.7

5.13.8
5.14

5.14.1
5.14.2

5.14.3

5.14.4

5.15
5.15.1

Londonthorpe and Harrowby Without Parish Council

There is limited evidence to support the sequential search test as specified in the Local Pla
has been appropriately carried out. The 5km search area used due to the cost of connection
is not part of the sequential selection criteria and should be disregarded.

Lincolnshire County Council has recently stated that they will not endorse solar farms on
Grade 1, 2 or 3A land, and that 3B may only be considered to facilitate access to poorer
quality brownfield land.

The proposal impacts the golden triangle of Londonthorpe and the woods, Alma Park
Woods and Belton House and Park.

We are pleased that the cable does not pass through the heritage area of Londonthorpe
village.

We cannot see that existing wildlife has been taken into account. A bat survey has not been
carried out; the night time operation of the battery units may produce high frequency noise
which will act against the significant deer population.

We believe that a noise attenuation plan should be required for the battery storage system.

We request that the construction routing is revised and uses the new Grantham bypass
under construction.

We do not agree that a biodiversity net gain will be achieved.
Natural England
No objections.

From the description of the development, this application is likely to affect 18.8 hectares of
Grade 3A BMV agricultural land. We consider that the proposed development, if temporary
as described, is unlikely to lead to significant permanent loss of agricultural land as a
resource for future generations. This is because the solar panels would be secured to the
ground by steel piles with limited soil disturbance and could be removed in the future with
no permanent loss of agricultural land quality likely to occur, provided the appropriate soil
management is employed and the development is undertaken to high standards. Although
some components of the development, such as construction of the substation, may
permanently affect agricultural land this would be limited to small areas of which is BMVAL.

However, during the life of the proposed development, it is likely that there will be a reduction
in production over the whole development area. The LPA should therefore consider whether
this is an effective use of land in line with Paragraph 180 of the NPPF, which encourages
the siting of large solar farms on previously developed and non-agricultural land.

The application is accompanied by a Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment, which follows the
DEFRA biodiversity metric method. The assessment indicates that the proposals meet the
required minimum 10% BNG required by law.

National Trust

The National Trust recognise that the applicant has reviewed the Belton House and Park
Setting Study when considering the scope of the landscape and heritage impacts as a result
of the proposal. Further analysis is also provided, alongside the supporting Landscape and
Visual Appraisal and Zone of Theoretical Visibility (ZTV) work. Given both topography and
separation distances, it is considered that there is less risk to the more intimate, experiential

14



5.15.2

5.15.3

5.15.4

5.16
5.16.1
5.16.2

5.16.3

5.16.4

5.16.5

5.17
5.17.1
5.18
5.18.1
5.19
5.19.1

setting associated with Belton’s eastern parkland. There may be some wider incidental
intervisibility between the parkland and the application site, with the introduction of a more
functional visual feature in the wider landscape. This also accounting for the construction
phase, alongside any additional security measures and infrastructure.

It is noted that visual screening, both existing and proposed, is liable to change over time
and seasonally. Also, accounting for maturity, and in relation to Bellmount Plantation, the
current management of ash dieback disease.

In light of the above, and with regard for Belton’s significance and setting, the National Trust
request that relevant heritage, landscape and ecological review is undertaken during the
decision-making process. Also, that the cumulative impact of this, and nearby solar farm
proposals are given due consideration.

More broadly, if SKDC consider that this application should be approved we request the
type and nature of panels is agreed to secure the use of non-reflective panels, and that all
opportunity is taken to maximise visual screening.

North Kesteven District Council
No objections.

We note that the application site immediately borders the North Kesteven District Council
boundary on the northern edge of the site, and we can confirm that we have had pre-
application discussions in relation to the proposed development.

We have no objection to the proposed development and advised at pre-application stage
that cumulative LVIA impact with the registered NSIP solar projects in North Kesteven
District along with the Lincolnshire Reservoir were unlikely owing to separation distances
involved. We recommended that the applicant consider cumulative LVIA impacts with the
Temple Oaks Renewable Energy Park solar NSIP project. We note that these points are
addressed in the LVIA and that the applicant has referenced the North Kesteven Landscape
Character Assessment in their assessment.

We note that the LVIA assigns a minor or moderate adverse impact on the Wilsford Heath
Landscape Character Area and from Viewpoints 4, 5 and 7 which are located in North
Kesteven, and we agree with these conclusions.

We recommend that the applicant consider soft landscaping and mitigation measures which
respond to the characteristics of the Wilsford Heath LCA and also considers the Central
Lincolnshire Biodiversity Opportunity Mapping study, which illustrates opportunity areas
immediately adjacent, within North Kesteven District.

National Grid

No comments received.
National Trust

No comments received.
SKDC Conservation Officer

The Grade | listed Belton Park and Garden has been noted to be within the ZTV of the
proposed solar farm. This is assessed to be not impacted upon by the proposed solar farm.
The site is screen from Belton Park by hedgerows and trees. Care should be taken to
strengthen the visual barrier with strong hedgerows and a tree line along the western and

15



5.19.2

5.19.3

5.20
5.20.1
5.20.2
5.21
5.21.1
5.21.2

5.21.3

5.21.4
5.21.5

5.21.6

southern boundaries of the solar farm. By itself, it is not considered to cause harm to the
setting, the cumulative impact should be considered.

The DBA confirmed that there will be intervisibility with the Scheduled Monument of
Honington Camp. The assessment confirms that there will be a less than substantial impact
upon the setting of the Scheduled Monument. As noted by Historic England as well as
Heritage Lincolnshire, the results of further archaeological interventions should be submitted
to the LPA, to assess the archaeological potential, and its potential inter-relationship with
the Honington Camp, to fully assess the level of the potential impact. At this point, the
proposed works would result in a less than substantial impact upon the setting, however the
potential unknown below ground archaeology could raise this to a higher level of impact.

Further less than substantial impact has been noted on the nearby farmsteads Wilsford
Heath Farm, Quarry Farm and Gipple Farm, as well as RAF Barkston Heath. The
assessment concluded that ‘changes may impact the significance of the heritage assets due
to altering the rural context in which these assets are understood and appreciated’ (Arcadis
2024, 64). Wilsford Heath Farm is set approximately 400m to the north of the site, and would
be slightly screened by the field between the boundary and the farm. It is also proposed to
add more trees and mixed shrub planting to the existing boundary. Additionally, a small area
of grassland margins are to be retained to the north, which would further soften the
immediate visual impact of the solar farm. While there would be a less than substantial harm
to the setting of this heritage asset, it is considered to be at a low level at most, due to the
change in the immediate and wider rural landscape appearance. The inclusion of further
tree planting as visual and noise barrier may further reduce this harm.

SKDC Environmental Protection Officer

No objection subject to conditions.

The findings of the Noise Assessment are accepted.

Welby Parish Council

We recognise the need to decarbonise and achieve net zero targets.

We note from the EIA related to this submission that 19 acres of the proposed land is Grade
3A and none of it lower than Grade 3B. The vast majority of the land is actively farmed for
arable crops. We note that, whilst agriculture and energy production are not mutually
exclusive and in some instances land will need to be shared, the loss of high grade arable
land is of concern to our community.

The proposed development is one of three schemes at various stages of planning and all
are in close proximity to the village of Welby. The cumulative impact of loss of arable land,
the impact to the fundamental nature of the landscape and the sense of encirclement needs
to be noted. The cumulative impact on biodiversity should be considered collectively.

There is a lack of unanimous community support for this submission.

The South Kesteven Local Plan does not make any provision for solar farms, which makes
it difficult to recognise the basis for the approval of these plans.

Solar development is inefficient and therefore the benefits of these schemes need to be
guestioned.

16



7.2

7.3

7.4

7.5

7.6
7.6.1

7.6.2

7.6.3

Representations as a Result of Publicity

The application has been advertised in accordance with the Council’s Statement of
Community Involvement and no letters of public representation have been received.

Evaluation

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that the Local
Planning Authority makes decisions in accordance with the adopted Development Plan,
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The Council adopted the South Kesteven
Local Plan 2011-2036 on 30 January 2020, and this forms the Development Plan for the
District and is the basis for decision-making for the current application.

The Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan: Core Strategy and Development
Management Policies DPD (Adopted June 2016) also forms the development plan for the
District in relation to minerals planning.

The Local Planning Authority have also adopted a Design Guidelines Supplementary
Planning Document (SPD) (Adopted November 2021), and this document is a material
consideration in the determination of planning applications.

The policies and provisions set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (“the
Framework”) (Published December 2024), and the National Policy Statements for Energy
(EN1) and Renewable Energy (EN3) are also a relevant material consideration in the
determination of applications.

Furthermore, whilst each application is required to be determined on its own merits, it is
acknowledged that the current application scheme forms one of three proposed solar farms
within the vicinity of Welby. Land at Church Lane (LPA Ref: S24/0360) has recently been
allowed on appeal following refusal of the application in July 2024. The Inspector’s Decision
Letter (Appendix 1) for that appeal refers directly to the current application scheme and,
therefore, is a material consideration for the determination of the current application.

Principle of Development / Effect of the proposals on climate change

It is noted that representations have raised objections to the application proposals on the
basis that the adopted Local Plan does not specifically allocate land for solar development.
In addition, it is also noted that representations have raised objections on the basis that the
proposed development scheme cannot demonstrate substantial local community support.

The proposed development site is located outside of the main built-up area of an existing
settlement within the District; the nearest settlement is Welby, which is located
approximately 1.5km to the south. Therefore, the site falls to be defined as being located
within the Open Countryside. Policy SP5 (Development in the Countryside) limits
development in such locations to that which has an essential need to be located outside of
the existing built form of a settlement. This policy includes support for rural diversification
projects. The proposed solar development would reasonably fall within the consideration of
a rural diversification project and therefore, would be acceptable within this countryside
location.

The application proposals would have a generating capacity of approximately 46MW, and
the proposed solar fam includes a Battery Energy Storage System (BESS) that allows for
the storage of excess energy meaning energy can be exported when there is less or no sun
using the excess energy generated during the sunnier periods, to allow for a smoother
delivery to the Grid. The proposed development would make a positive contribution towards

17



7.6.4

meeting the national objectives in respect of energy generation, and would also be
consistent with the principles with the adopted Local Plan, which supports renewable energy
generation in principle, subject to material considerations. It is also acknowledged that
South Kesteven District Council has formally declared a climate emergency, and has also
published a Climate Change Strategy (2023) which, amongst other things, seeks to
maximise opportunities for the District to become more self-sufficient for energy and to
reverse biodiversity loss and expand existing habitats. It also recognises that the
development of renewable energy at every level will be important to drive local energy
generation and provide a tangible contribution to national net zero targets. These matters
are material considerations that weigh in favour of the application.

In assessing the application proposals against the specific policy obligation of Policy RE1
(Renewable Energy Generation):

(a) A detailed Agricultural Land Classification Report has been submitted as part of
the application and confirms that 40.3ha (40.6%) of the site is classed as Grade
3A (Good Quality) land and therefore constitutes BMVAL. The remaining 58.9ha
of the site (59.4%) is classed as Grae 3B and therefore does not constitute BMVAL.
As referenced above, the proposed layout excludes the central field of the site
(21.5 ha) which is identified as being the majority of the BMVAL, and therefore, the
proposed development would result in the use of 18.8ha of BMVAL in total.

(b) The application submission has been accompanied by a Statement of Community
Involvement which provides a summary of the consultation undertaken by the
Applicant prior to submission of the application. It is noted that representations
received from Welby Parish Council and Londonthorpe and Harrowby Without
Parish Council during the course of the consideration of the application have raised
concerns about the proposed development and, therefore, it can be concluded that
the proposal cannot demonstrate the express support of the affected local
community.

Notwithstanding this, it is noted that the Inspector’s decision for the Folkingham
solar development (LPA Ref: S23/0511) concluded that Policy RE1 does not make
any distinction between different types of renewable energy schemes and, in the
absence of Appendix 3 (Renewable Energy) of the adopted Local Plan making any
specific reference to requiring community support for solar proposals, there is no
firm basis for requiring such proposals to demonstrate the support of the local
community. In addition, national policy does not require solar development to
demonstrate the support of the local community and, therefore, it was concluded
that the imposition of such a requirement would be inconsistent with the
requirements of the Framework.

As such, whilst the application scheme does not benefit from the support of the
affected local communities, in light of the Folkingham appeal decision, it is
concluded that this does not constitute a conflict with Policy RE1(b).

(c) The application proposals have a generating capacity of up to 46MW and this limit
is recommended to be secured by planning condition. Electricity generated from
the development would be transferred to the National Grid at the Grantham BSP
substation located to the south-west of the site.

(d) The submitted Planning, Design and Access Statement confirms that permission
Is sought for a temporary period of 40 years from the date of the first export of

18



7.6.5

7.7
7.7

7.7.2

7.7.3

r.7.4

7.7.5

7.7.6

electricity to the National Grid. The statement also confirms that the site would be
decommissioned at the end of the operational period. A condition requiring a
decommissioning and restoration strategy would ensure that the site is
appropriately reinstated at the end of its operational life.

(e) Other relevant local and national planning policies and the prospective impacts of
the development are discussed in further detail below.

Taking the above into account, it is Officers’ assessment that the principle of renewable
energy generation is supported by Policy SD1, SP1 and REL1 of the adopted Local Plan,
subject to material considerations. These matters are discussed in further detail below.

Effect of the development on agricultural land

It is noted that representations have raised concerns on the basis that the proposed
development would result in the loss of an area of BMVAL and that there has been
insufficient assessment of alternative sites to justify the loss of this BMVAL.

As outlined above, 40.3ha (40.6%) of the site is classed as Grade 3A (Good Quality) land
and therefore constitutes BMVAL. The remaining 58.9ha of the site (59.4%) is classed as
Grae 3B and therefore does not constitute BMVAL. However, the proposed layout excludes
the central field of the site (21.5 ha) which is identified as being the majority of the BMVAL,
and therefore, the proposed development would result in the use of 18.8ha of BMVAL in
total.

In respect of the Alternative Sites Assessment undertaken, Officer's accept that the
Provisional Agricultural Land Classification Maps do not distinguish between Grade 3A
(BMVAL) and Grade 3B (non-BMVAL) quality land and, therefore, it is not possible to identify
alternative sites which would not involve the use of BMVAL without accessing private land
to undertake intrusive soil assessment. Officers accept that requiring such an approach
would not be proportionate, practical or reasonable and therefore, it is accepted that the
current site is sequentially preferable having regard to the balance of considerations.

Furthermore, as accepted in the Church Lane appeal decision, whilst the use of higher
quality agricultural land is discouraged by the Local Plan and NPPF, the proposed solar
development would be for a temporary period of 40 years and, therefore, the agricultural
land would not be permanently or irreversibly lost. The current application scheme allows
for pasture grazing to occur between and underneath the solar panels, which would allow
for the continuation of an alternative agricultural use, and also allows for the soil condition
and structure to improve through recovery from the current intensive use.

In addition, most of the land will continue to be used for some agricultural purpose during
the operational period and can be returned to arable farming at the expiration of the
temporary planning permission. Also, it is accepted that the way in which agricultural land
is used is not a matter of planning control and, therefore, there is nothing to restrict the
farmer from using the fields subject to the current application for grazing use, or even leaving
them to fallow. As such, whilst the proposals would limit the ability to carry out arable farming
during the operational period, this does not result in the loss of agricultural land.

In view of the above, it is Officers assessment that the proposed development would be in
accordance with Policy SP1 and Solar Energy Criteria 9 of Appendix 3 of the Local Plan
and therefore does not negatively impact the District’s agricultural land asset.

19



7.8
7.8.1

7.8.2

7.8.3

7.8.4

7.8.5

7.8.6

Effect of the development on the character and appearance of the area

It is appreciated that representations received have raised concerns about the impact of the
development on the rural landscape character and setting, particularly in view of the
potential cumulative impacts.

It is acknowledged that the site is not subject to any statutory landscape designations.
However, the site is located within the Southern Lincolnshire Edge Landscape Character
Area (South Kesteven Landscape Character Assessment, 2007), which is defined by the
large-scale, open arable landscape character; and comprises of open rectilinear fields under
arable cultivation with some fragmented hedgerow trees, which allow for extensive views.

The application has been accompanied by a Landscape and Visual Appraisal, which
reaches the following key conclusions in relation to the landscape character impacts:

e Southern Lincolnshire Edge Landscape Character Area — accounting for the
mitigation measures proposed, and the small geographic extent of impacts, there is
likely to be moderate / minor adverse effects in year 1, reducing to minor / moderate
adverse effects by year 15.

e Wilsford Heath Landscape Character Area -There is likely to be minor adverse effect
on this character area at year 1 and at year 15

In respect of the above, it is the Case Officer's assessment that the proposed development
would invariably result in an impact on the landscape character of the area, as result of the
change of use of the site and the introduction of the proposed large scale energy
infrastructure. Whilst these impacts would be softened through the proposed landscaping
mitigation scheme, there would remain a residual adverse impact on the landscape
character, contrary to the requirements of Policy EN1 of the adopted Local Plan, Solar
Energy Criteria 1 of the Renewable Energy Appendix, and Section 12 of the Framework.
This policy conflict falls to be assessed within the overall planning balance discussed below.

With regards to the localised visual impact of the development, as identified above, the
application site is bound to the west by High Dike (B6403) and also there is a network of
PRoW which run adjacent to the northern boundary of the site.

In terms of the localised visual impacts, the LVIA provides the following assessment:

e There is likely to be a moderate adverse effect at year 1 on those receptors closest
to the site i.e., those using the PRoW adjacent to the northern boundary of the site,
and along the PRoW between the site and Welby. These would reduce to minor and
moderate / minor by year 15.

e For those visual receptors beyond 1km of the site, there is likely to be a minor /
moderate effect at year 1 reducing to minor adverse effect by year 15.

e For road users beyond 500m the PV arrays and battery storage would only just be
perceptible, despite being visible upon the skyline, few views are possible. Whilst the
scale of change would be larger for road users closer than 500m, the proposed
development would not lead to an overall change in the nature of views experienced
when travelling along these routes. The scale and extent of the impacts would be
reduced through the mitigation measures, and therefore, there is likely to be a minor
adverse effect at year 1 and year 15.

20



7.8.7

7.9
7.9.1

7.10

7.10.1

7.10.2

Similar to the landscape character assessment, the proposed development would result in
a degree of visual impact, which would be reduced through the proposed landscaping
mitigation scheme, which can be secured through planning conditions. However, there
would remain a residual minor adverse visual impact for localised receptors. As such, the
proposed development would be contrary to Policy EN1 and DE1 of the adopted Local Plan
and Section 12 of the National Planning Policy Framework. This policy conflict falls to be
assessed in within the overall planning balance.

Cumulative Impacts

It is noted that representations received from Welby Parish Council have raised concerns
due to the potential cumulative impact of the development, in combination with the other
proposed solar developments, on the loss of agricultural land and the landscape character
of the area.

As referred to above, it is appreciated that the site is one of three solar proposals within the
immediate vicinity of Welby. The current status of these proposals are as follows:

e LPA Ref: S24/0360 — Church Lane, Welby — approximately 2.2km to the south of the
current application site and uses the same grid connection point as the current
application scheme. Allowed on Appeal in January 2025.

e LPA Ref: S23/2199 — Land at High Dike, Londonthorpe (Ash Tree Solar Farm) —
located on the opposite side of the High Dike. Refused planning permission following
resolution by Planning Committee in October 2024. Currently pending appeal.

In this respect, the Ash Tree Solar Farm does not represent a committed / allocated
development scheme and, therefore, it is not necessary to consider any cumulative impacts
associated with those proposals as part of the current application. In the event that the
Committee resolved to approve the current application, the cumulative impact of the
application together with the Ash Tree Solar Farm would be a matter for consideration by
the Inspector as part of the appeal determination. Nonetheless, it is appreciated that the
Church Lane scheme benefits from planning permission following the Inspector’s decision
to allow the appeal and, therefore, the current application must consider the potential
cumulative impacts.

The application has been accompanied by a Cumulative Effects Addendum (Arcadis)
(November 2024), which concludes the following:

e Southern Lincolnshire Edge Landscape Character Area - It is understandably
expected that the combined effect on landscape character of all three developments
would be greater than if any one development was singularly located in this area.
Taking into account the mitigation measures planned by all three schemes, it is
considered that the overall effect would be moderate in year 1 reducing to moderate
/ minor in year 15.

e Wilsford Heath Landscape Character Area — taking into account the distance that
Ash Tree Solar Farm and Church Lane Solar Farm lie away from this LCA, it is not
considered likely that there would be any cumulative effects upon this setting.

e The cumulative effects on visual receptors, including users of the PRoW and the local
roads would not be substantial to cause the schemes to collectively become
prominent or dominate any receptors visual experience. As the mitigation planting

21



7.10.3

7.10.4

711
7111

r.11.2

7.11.3

7.11.4

7.11.5

establishes, it would reduce the perceptivity of the developments to the point where
they would integrate effectively into the visual pattern of the surrounding landscape.

In connection with the above, it is noted that the Church Lane appeal decision includes the
following commentary in relation to the cumulative effects:

“The proposed scheme in addition to two solar schemes subject to recent planning
consideration have been assessed in terms of cumulative impact. Ash Tree Farm and
Pastures Farm are located 0.6km and 2.1km respectively to the north of the site. On the
assumption that all three schemes are constructed the overall cumulative effect, on the
area’s character and overall visual impact, would be greater. Nonetheless, mitigation
measures of all three solar farms would reduce these cumulative effects to minor”.

Taking the above into account, the application proposals in combination with the approved
Church Lane solar development would result in a cumulative minor adverse impact on the
character and appearance of the area. This harm falls to be weighed in the overall planning
balance detailed below.

Impact on heritage assets

The proposed development site does not contain any designated built heritage assets.
However, there are a number of designated assets located within the surrounding area. The
Grade | Listed Belton House and its associated Registered Park and Garden are
approximately 1.8km to the west of the site on the opposite side of the High Dike. Honington
Camp Scheduled Monument is located approximately 2.4km to the north west of the site.
There are a number of listed buildings also located within the village of Welby.

Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires
Local Planning Authorities to have special regard for the desirability of preserving listed
buildings and their settings, or any special architectural interest which it possesses.

In respect of the potential impact of the development on Belton House and the Registered
Park and Garden, Historic England and the National Trust have been commented on the
application. In this respect, it should be noted that neither party has raised formal objections.
The National Trust have advised that there may be some limited intervisibility between the
Registered Park and Garden and the application scheme, which would result in the
introduction of a functional feature in a rural landscape. They have requested that these
matters are taken into account in the decision-making process and, if the application is to
be approved, they have requested details of the type and nature of solar panels, as well as
a decommissioning and restoration plan to be secured via planning conditions. These
matters are included within the recommended schedule of conditions below.

With regards to the impact of the proposed development on Londonthorpe Conservation
Area, the Council’'s Conservation Officer has not raised any formal objections, however, it
is appreciated that they have suggested that the submitted Cultural Heritage Impact
Assessment should be updated to include assessment of the Londonthorpe and Oasby
Conservation Areas. The Conservation Officer has suggested that there is the potential for
less than substantial harm to the setting of the Conservation Areas.

It is the Case Officer’s assessment that the proposed development scheme would result in
a degree of impact of the rural landscape character in which the site is experienced, and
that this landscape does contribute to the experiential setting of Belton House Registered
Park and Garden and the Londonthorpe Conservation. The extent of impact on this setting
would be reduced by effective landscaping, which is to be secured via planning condition.

22



7.11.6

717

7.11.8

7.11.9

In view of the limited intervisibility between the Belton House Registered Park and Garden,
and the separation distance and landscaping between the proposed development and
Londonthorpe Conservation Area, it is the Case Officer's assessment that whilst the
proposed development would alter the setting of these assets, it would not amount to harm
to the significance of those assets.

In relation to the Scheduled Monument of Honington Camp, the submitted Heritage
Assessment confirms that there will be less than substantial impact on the setting of the
scheduled monument. Heritage Lincolnshire have acknowledged that further archaeological
investigation is needed to assess the potential inter-relationship with Honington Camp, this
is to be secured through planning conditions. However, there would be a less than
substantial harm to the setting of the asset, and this would be at the lower end.

However, it is understood that this part of the setting does not contribute to the significance
of the asset as it is beyond the likely extent of the defended rural landscape forming part of
the setting to the historical extent of the settlement area. Therefore, the proposed
development would comply with Section 16 of the NPPF.

Nonetheless, Local Plan Policy EN6 requires the harm to the setting of a heritage asset to
be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal. In this respect, the application
proposals would make an important contribution towards meeting the national objectives in
respect of reducing greenhouse gas emissions as set out in the Climate Change Act 2019.
On a local level, South Kesteven District Council have formally declared a climate
emergency, and the published Climate Action Strategy identifies increasing the provision of
sustainable forms of energy as a key action for achieving net zero. These are considered to
be significant public benefits that weigh substantially in favour of the proposals.

7.11.10 Taking the above into account, it is the Officer's assessment that the significant public

r.12
7121

r.12.2

7.13
7.13.1

benefits associated with the application proposals would outweigh the less than substantial
harm to the setting of the Honington Camp Scheduled Monument. As such, the application
scheme would be in accordance with Policy EN6 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan
and Section 16 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

Impact on archaeological assets

Heritage Lincolnshire (as Local Archaeological Advisors) have been consulted on the
application proposals and have confirmed that they have no objections, subject to the
imposition of conditions requiring the submission of an archaeological mitigation strategy,
which sets out a scheme for further investigation of the cable connection route, areas where
remains are to be protected and / or recorded during construction and the safeguarding of
areas during construction activities. This is included within the recommended schedule of
conditions set out below.

Taking the above into account, subject to the recommended conditions, the application
proposals would accord with Policy EN6 of the Local Plan, and Section 16 of the Framework
in respect of archaeological matters.

Effect of the development on biodiversity and ecology

As detailed previously, the site is not subject to any ecological designations. However, it is
noted that the High Dike, Copper Hill to Londonthorpe Verges are identified as a Local
Wildlife Site and form one of five LWS’s within 1km of the site. Similarly, there are also a
number of nationally designated sites within the immediate area, including Wilsford Heath
Quarry Site of Special Scientific Interest, which is located approximately 600m to the north

23



7.13.2

7.13.3

7.13.4

7.13.5

of the site; the application site is located within the SSSI Impact Risk Zone for this
designated site.

The application has been accompanied by an Ecological Impact Assessment (Clarkson &
Woods) (May 2024), which identifies the following conclusions:

e The majority of the site comprises large arable fields with little ecological importance.
The installation of panels into these areas is unlikely to result in any long-term
adverse impacts on biodiversity, and subject to the establishment of grassland
beneath and around the panels, the scheme is likely to result in a positive impact on
biodiversity within the local area.

e The design of the scheme has been modified at an early stage to ensure that the
most ecologically valuable habitats within the site are retained within the
development, and recommendations have been made to ensure that these habitats,
and the species which may be present within them are adequately protected. This is
to be secured through conditions for the production of a CEMP.

e On and off-site mitigation is proposed to enhance land to accommodate displaced
skylark territories. The mitigation proposed will mitigate for up to 52% of the displaced
skylark territories. It is considered that there will be a minor negative residual impact
on breeding birds as a result of the proposals.

e Several areas within the site have been retained for wildlife mitigation and
enhancement purposes. These areas will lie outside of the solar array construction
area, and will be managed for the benefit of biodiversity, and provision of habitat for
protected species.

e Post-construction, the creation of new habitats and ongoing management of retained
/ newly created habitats will result in a positive net gain to local wildlife. The creation
and management of these habitats will be secured through the production of a LEMP.

In addition, the application has also been accompanied by a Biodiversity Net Gain Report
(Clarkson & Woods) (May 2024), which includes the results of the statutory biodiversity
metric. This confirms that the proposed development would result in a 21.21% net gain in
habitat units, 19.87% net gain in hedgerow units and 52.58% net gain in watercourse units.
This is a benefit that weighs in favour of the proposals.

Lincolnshire Wildlife Trust have been consulted on the application proposals and have not
raised any objections. Conditions are proposed to require compliance with the submitted
Landscape Mitigation Plan, as well as the submission of a detailed Landscape and
Ecological Management Plan. Similarly, conditions are proposed to require compliance with
the recommendations contained in the Ecological Impact Assessment, including the
submission of a Construction and Environmental Management Plan (CEMP). Furthermore,
the statutory biodiversity gain condition will require the submission of a Biodiversity Gain
Plan and Habitat Management and Monitoring Plan prior to commencement of the
development.

In respect of the impact of the proposed development on the existing field boundary
hedgerows and trees, the submitted Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AlA) identifies the
following:

24



7.13.6

7.13.7

714
7141

r7.14.2

7.14.3

7.15
7.15.1

e Of the total 104 arboricultural features on site, a total of one group of trees and 11
hedgerows are located within, or immediately adjacent to, development works and
will require partial removal to facilitate the development.

e The proposed installation of a new access road within the RPAs of one group of trees
and four hedgerows has a low potential to result in soil disturbance which has the
potential to impact the structural or physiological condition of the trees. Any roots
encountered will require removal and will therefore require appropriate mitigation and
protection measures.

e Preliminary tree protection measures have been included within the report, when
further detail is known as to the construction process at the detailed design stage, a
bespoke Arboricultural Method Statement should be prepared to protect the trees to
be retained over the course of the works.

In view of the above, conditions are proposed to require the submission of a detailed
Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan prior to the commencement of
development, which will ensure that all retained trees are appropriately protected during the
course of the construction period.

Taking the above into account, subject to the imposition of conditions, the application
proposals would accord with Local Plan Policy EN2, Solar Energy Criteria 7, Section 15 of
the National Planning Policy Framework and the Environment Act 2021.

Access and Highways Impacts

Access to the site is proposed to be taken via the existing access from High Dike (B6403)
serving Pastures Farm. The access is proposed to be used for construction of the proposed
development, as well as the operational period, including periodic attendance by
maintenance operatives.

Lincolnshire County Council (as Local Highways Authority) have been consulted on the
application and have raised no objections and have confirmed that the proposed access is
suitable to accommodate the development.

In view of the above, the application proposals would not give rise to any unacceptable
adverse impacts on highways safety and / or capacity during the construction, operation and
decommissioning phases of the development. As such, the application proposals would
accord with Policy ID2 of the Local Plan, Solar Energy Criteria 6 of the Renewable Energy
Appendix and Section 9 of the Framework.

Flood Risk and Drainage

The site is identified as being within Flood Zone 1 of the Flood Map for Planning but is also
identified as including areas of medium and higher risk of surface water flooding. The Flood
Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy Reports (Arcadis) (May 2024) submitted as part of
the application draw the following conclusions:

e The main part of the site where the solar farm is proposed is primarily at low risk of
flooding from surface water, albeit with small areas at high risk. The drainage strategy
outlines how any risks will be managed, in line with national and local policy
requirements through incorporating SuDS such as swales.

¢ A small section of the cable route is at high risk of surface water flooding. However,
the only potential for change to the drainage regime along the cable route is

25



7.16.2

7.156.3

7.15.4

7.15.5

7.16
7.16.1

temporary, during construction, and the drainage strategy outlines how these risks
will be mitigated.

e The area beneath the solar panels will remain as existing and the pre-development
site infiltration rate will not change. Rainwater falling onto each panel will drain freely
onto the ground beneath the panels and infiltrate or runoff the ground at the same
rate as it does currently.

e The localised increased surface water runoff from the development will be
intercepted/collect via shallow vegetated swales which will interrupt and slow
channelised flows, enhance and promote infiltration, evaporation and interception
capacity and help spread the water over a greater surface area.

e Existing access tracks are impermeable. Any additional tracks will be constructed
using permeable materials such as Type 1 sub-base. All runoff will be retained on
site utilising trench drains to intercept where required.

e As a means of reducing flooding to the surroundings during exceedance events, by
offering betterment on existing surface water rates and volumes, a swale / depression
downslope will be created in each field of the solar farm.

Lincolnshire County Council (as Local Highways Authority) have been consulted on the
application proposals and have confirmed that the proposed development would not
increase flood risk in the immediate vicinity of the site, and therefore, they have confirmed
that they have no objections.

It is noted that comments received from the Internal Drainage Board have confirmed that
any works to any ditch, dyke, or watercourse would require express written consent, and
have also set out the duties for maintenance of any watercourse within the site. These
matters are covered under the Land Drainage Act and therefore do not require any further
planning control through planning conditions.

The Environment Agency (EA) did initially submit a holding objection raising concerns
relating to the risk of pollution to groundwater sources due to the battery energy storage
system. The Applicant subsequently submitted a further Groundwater Protection Strategy
Report, and the EA have confirmed that they have removed their objection pending the
imposition of conditions requiring the submission of a further Surface Water Drainage
Strategy for managing the risk of groundwater pollution from the BESS in the event of a fire.
This is proposed to be included as a pre-commencement condition.

Taking the above into account, subject to the imposition of conditions, the proposed
development would not give risk to any unacceptable risk of flooding and, therefore, would
accord with Policy EN5 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan and Section 14 of the
Framework.

Pollution Control

The proposed solar panels themselves would not emit noise, dust or vibration during the
operational period. However, the operation of the solar farm will require the installation of
transformers and inverters which would convert the solar energy generated into AC
(Alternating Current) to be supplied to the National Grid. Furthermore, the application
includes a Battery Energy Storage System (BESS). The operation of the power conversion
units together with the battery stations would be the main sources of noise during the
operation of the solar farm. The inverters would be operational during daylight periods when

26



7.16.2

7.16.3

7.16.4

7.16.5

7.16.6

7.16.7

a7
717

r17.2

the solar panels were generating electricity; the inverters would be actively cooled with the
operation of fans to control the temperature. The principal source of noise within the battery
system would also be the cooling fans located within the batter containers, which would
operate as required to ensure the batteries operate at their correct temporary. Whilst the
solar inverters would only operate during daylight hours, the equipment associated with the
operation of the battery stations could potentially operate on a 24-hour basis.

The Noise Assessment submitted with the application notes that a 3m high acoustic bund
has been included as part of the design for the BESS. The Assessment concludes that the
operation of the solar farm would generate noise levels that would exceed the existing
background noise levels, but that this would not be considered harmful to residential
amenity.

The Council’s Environmental Protection Team have been consulted on the application and
have confirmed that they accept the findings of the Noise Assessment and, therefore have
no objections.

As such, it Is Officers assessment that, subject to conditions requiring the implementation
of the proposed acoustic barrier, the proposed solar operations would not result in any
unacceptable adverse impacts on noise sensitive receptors and therefore, would be in
accordance with Local Plan Policy EN4 (Pollution Control), Solar Energy Criteria 5 of the
Renewable Energy Appendix, and Section 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

In relation to the potential for noise, dust and vibration to be generated as a result of the
construction and decommissioning of the proposed solar farm, the Council’s Environmental
protection have raised no concerns in relation to the submitted Outline Environmental
Management Plan. Conditions are proposed to require the submission of a detailed
Construction Environmental Management Plan, prior to the commencement of
development, which will reflect any updates to the proposed site layout accounting for the
results of the archaeological investigations and any further requirements for surveys to be
completed.

Furthermore, conditions are proposed to require the submission of a detailed
Decommissioning Plan, which will be required to include details relating to decommissioning
activities. Conditions are also required for the submission of an Operational Management
Plan, which will set out details of any approval for maintenance or repair works, to ensure
that these operations do not give risk to any unacceptable adverse impacts on the amenity
of residents of the surrounding villages.

Taking the above into account, it is Officer's assessment that, subject to conditions, the
construction, operation and decommissioning of the proposed solar farm will not give rise
to any unacceptable adverse impacts in relation to dust, noise and vibration. Therefore, the
application proposals would be in accordance with Local Plan Policy EN4 and Section 15 of
the Framework.

Aircraft Movements and Associated Activities

Criteria 8 of the Renewable Energy Appendix requires proposals to demonstrate that the
design and positioning of the proposed solar installation has been carefully considered to
avoid the potential nuisance of glint and glare to aircraft movements.

In connection with the above, the Ministry of Defence and Civil Aviation Authority have both
been consulted on the application and no objections have been received. The MoD have
confirmed that they have no concerns in relation to glint and glare impacts. However, they

27



7.17.3

7.18

7.18.1

7.18.2

7.18.3

7.18.4

have requested conditions for the submission of a detailed Landscape Management Plan
to ensure that the proposed development does not provide an environment that encourages
large and / or flocking bird species which may be hazardous to aircraft. Furthermore, they
have also requested conditions to require the submission of an Electrical Noise Interference
Management Plan to ensure that the proposed development does not interfere with any
technical installations the support aviation activities. These matters are proposed to be
included within the schedule of conditions recommended below.

As such, subject to conditions, it is Officers assessment that the application proposals would
not give rise to any unacceptable adverse impacts on aircraft movements and associated
activities, and therefore, the application proposals would accord with Solar Energy Criteria
8 of the Local Plan Renewable Energy Appendix.

Other Matters

Minerals Safequarding

Furthermore, it is noted that the proposed site lies within a Minerals Safeguarding Area. The
application scheme would involve the temporary change of use of the land to form a solar
development, and therefore the development proposals would be reversible, and would
retain the potential for future minerals extraction at the site. As such, the application scheme
would accord with Policy M11 of the Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan.

Fire Safety

Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue have been consulted on the application and have raised no
objections. Informatives are to be included as part of any planning permission granted to
direct the Applicant to the comments made by LFR in relation to battery safety and the
provision of suitable risk mitigation measures.

Crime Prevention

The proposed development scheme includes appropriate measures to mitigate against the
risk of crime, this includes the installation of perimeter fencing and CCTV monitoring.

Tourism

As set out above, it is Officers’ assessment that he application proposals would not give rise
to any adverse impacts of the setting of Belton House and its associated Registered Park
and Garden and, therefore, it would be unlikely to have any material impact on the overall
tourist offer or result in a reduced number of visitors to the area.

Crime and Disorder

It is concluded that the proposals would not result in any significant crime and disorder
implications.

Human Rights Implications

Article 6 (Rights to fair decision making) and Article 8 (Right to private family life and home)
of the Human Rights Act have been taken into account in making this recommendation. It is
concluded that no relevant Article of the Act will be breached in making this decision.

28



10
10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

Planning Balance and Conclusions

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that the Local
Planning Authority makes decisions in accordance with the adopted Development Plan,
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

The application proposals seek permission for the installation of a solar farm with associated
battery storage, comprising ground mounted solar photovoltaic panels, including mounting
systems, inverters, transformers, electrical substation, underground cabling, stock proof
fencing, CCTV, internal access tracks and associated infrastructure for a temporary period
of 40 years with a generating capacity of up to 46 megawatts (AC).

The proposed development is located within an area of Open Countryside, where Policy
SP5 strictly limits development to those which have an essential need to be located within
such areas; this includes support for rural diversification projects, such as the current
proposals. In addition, Policy RE1 (Renewable Energy Generation) of the Local Plan
advocates a generally permissive approach to renewable energy schemes, subject to a
series of criteria which consider the site specific impacts associated with a particular project.
As such, the application proposals are acceptable in principle, subject to material planning
considerations.

In this context, the application proposals would make an important contribution towards
meeting the national objectives in respect of reducing greenhouse gas emission as set out
in the Climate Change Act 2019. On a local level, South Kesteven District Council have
formally declared a climate emergency, and the published Climate Action Strategy identifies
increasing the provision of sustainable forms of energy as a key action for achieving net
zero. These matters are material considerations that weigh in favour of the application
proposals.

In respect of the effect of the development on the character and appearance of the area, it
is Officers assessment that the proposed development would result in an impact on the
landscape character area and a visual effect on localised receptors, as a result of the
change of use of the site and the scale of the proposed development. Whilst these
landscape and visual impacts can be reduced through the submitted proposed landscaping
scheme, the application proposals would still result in a minor adverse impact on these
matters, contrary to Policy DE1 and EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan and
Solar Energy Criteria 1 of the Renewable Energy Appendix. Furthermore, this would result
in a less than substantial impact on the setting of the Scheduled Monument at Honington
Camp.

In respect of whether there are material considerations which indicate that the proposals
should be determined other than in accordance with the adopted Development Plan, the
electricity generated by the proposed development and the contribution that this makes
towards meeting the national and local objectives of reducing reliance on fossil fuels and
reducing greenhouse gas emissions is a significant benefit which Officers attribute
substantial weight. In addition, the scheme would also achieve a biodiversity net gain which
exceeds the statutory 10% requirements, and therefore, Officers would attribute this
significant weight. It is appreciated that the proposed development would also attract
benefits to the local economy in association with the construction of the scheme over a
temporary period; accordingly, Officers would attribute this limited weight.

29



10.7

10.8

10.9

11

All other impacts assessed above are considered to be capable of being mitigated to a
position of being in accordance with the development plan.

Balanced against the proposal would be the minor adverse impacts on the landscape
character and visual appearance of the area, both in isolation and cumulatively with the
approved Church Lane, Welby solar development, and the less than substantial harm to the
setting of the Scheduled Ancient Monument at Honington Camp.

Taking all of the above into account, it is Officers assessment that the identified policy
conflicts within the Development Plan would be outweighed by the benefits. Further, it is
Officers’ assessment that the balance of material considerations in this case would also
indicate that planning permission should be granted.

Recommendation

To authorise the Assistant Director — Planning & Growth to GRANT planning permission,
subject to the proposed schedule of conditions detailed below.

30



Schedule of Conditions

Time Limit for Commencement

Time Limit for Commencement

1) The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of three years
from the date of this permission.

Reason: In order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set out in
Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

Temporary Permission Limits

2) Written confirmation of the first export date shall be provided to the Local Planning Authority
no later than 20 days following the event. The development hereby permitted shall cease on
or before the expiry of a 40 year period from the date of the first export of electricity from the
solar farm to the electricity grid network; excluding electricity exported during initial testing
and commissioning.

The land shall thereafter be restored to its former condition in accordance with a scheme of
decommissioning work (“Decommissioning Scheme”) which shall make provision for the
removal of the solar panels and all other associated equipment, and the subsequent
restoration of the site. The scheme shall include details of:

(a) The extent of equipment and foundation removal, and the site restoration to be
carried out;

(b) The management and timing of any works;

(c) A Traffic Management Plan to address the likely traffic impacts arising during the
decommissioning period.

(d) An Environmental Management Plan to include details of measures to be taken
during the decommissioning period to protect wildlife, habitat features and trees on
the site.

(e) The location of any temporary compound and parking areas.

(f) Full details of the removal of the solar arrays, associated buildings and plant, any
access tracks and sub-surface cabling and all associated ground restoration,
including trench backfilling.

(9) Full details of all other works to the land to allow for renewed agricultural production
following the removal of structures from the site.

(h) A programme of implementation.

The Decommissioning Scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority, no later than 39 years from the date of the first export of electricity and
shall be subsequently implemented as approved.

Reason: The proposed development has a 40 year operational period, and to ensure that the
site is fully restored to allow for agricultural use, and to maintain the rural landscape character
of the area.

Approved Plans

3) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following list
of approved plans:

31



Proposed Site Layout (Ref: IGP-02)

Proposed PV Mounting Structure (Ref: IGP-03)
Proposed 33kV Substation (Ref: IGP-04)

Proposed BESS and Conversion Unit (Ref: IGP-05)
Proposed Battery Energy Storage Unit (Ref: IGP-06)

-~ ® a0 T @

Proposed Battery Energy Storage Water Tanks (Ref: IGP-07)

Proposed CCTV Pole Details (Ref: IGP-08)

Proposed Deer Fence Details (Ref: IGP-09)

i. Proposed Weldmesh Fence Details (Ref: IGP-10)

j. Drainage Strategy Plan (Ref: 30183533-ARC-SW-XX-RP-CE-0001)

k. Landscape Mitigation Plan (Ref: 30183533-ARC-ELS-ZZ-DR-LV-00016-S2-P01)

Unless otherwise required by another condition of this permission.

= Q

Reason: To define the permission and for the avoidance of doubt.

Power Output

4) The output of the solar farm hereby approved must not exceed 46 MW (AC).

Reason: To define the permission and ensure that the output of the proposal remains below
the limitations allowed under the Town and Country Planning Act.

Before the Development is Commenced

Heritage / Archaeology

Archaeological Mitigation Plan

5) Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, an Archaeological Mitigation

Strategy shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
strategy shall include:

a. A Written Scheme of Investigation for further archaeological evaluation of the cable
connection route

b. A plan illustrating the location of archaeological remains on the site;
c. Areas which are designated for archaeological monitoring and recording;

d. Proposals to ensure that significant archaeological remains are protected or, if
appropriate, set out a programme of further archaeological works to ensure that they
are recorded in advance of works on site;

e. A programme for the implementation of the archaeological mitigation strategy.

Thereafter, all works on site shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
Archaeological Mitigation Strategy.

Reason: In order to provide a reasonable opportunity to record the history of the site and in
accordance with Policy EN6 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

Materials Details

32



6) Before any part of the development hereby permitted is commenced, a specification of the
materials to be used (including the use of any non-reflective panels) in the construction of
external surfaces of the development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in accordance with
Policy DE1 and EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan; and to ensure that the
development does not result in any harm to nearby heritage assets as required by Policy EN6
of the adopted Local Plan.

Biodiversity / Ecology

Construction Environmental Management Plan

7) Before any part of the development hereby permitted is commenced, a detailed Construction
Environmental Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The submitted CEMP shall be based on the submitted Outline
Construction Environmental Management Plan (OCEMP) (Arcadis) (May 2024) and shall
include measures to mitigate against the adverse effects of vehicular movements and noise
and means to manage the drainage and ecological impacts of the construction stages of the
development. The detailed CEMP shall include:

a. Details of access construction to ensure that the proposed development can be
accessed by emergency vehicles.

Construction hours
The routing of all construction vehicles
The parking of all vehicles and site operatives

The loading and unloading of all plant and materials

-~ ® 2 0 T

The storage of all plant and materials used in constructing the development

Wheel washing facilities

= Q@

Ecological Management Plan, including appointment of an Ecological Clerk of Works,
and the implementation of Natural England licences as required.

Relevant details of the archaeological mitigation strategy for the protection of retained
features during the construction period.

The approved CEMP shall be strictly adhered to throughout the construction period.

Reason: To minimise the effects of the construction stage of the development on the highway,
and ecological and archaeological assets.

Tree Protection & Arboricultural Method Statement

8) No works pursuant to this permission shall commence until a final detailed arboricultural
method statement and protection plan for the protection of the retained trees and hedgerows
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

The protection scheme and plan shall be completely implemented prior to site preparation,
clearance and building works, starting on site and not removed until entirely complete. The
protection scheme must include details of all trees and hedgerows to be retained and
positioning of protection fencing and ground covers to create construction exclusion zones.
No retained tree or hedgerow shall be cut down, uprooted, or destroyed, nor shall any

33



retained tree or hedgerow be pruned in any manner without the prior written approval of the
Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To protect the trees from unnecessary damage during the construction period, and
in accordance with Policy DE1 (Good Quality Design) and Policy EN2 (Protecting Biodiversity
and Geodiversity) of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036.

Flood Risk and Drainage

Surface Water Management Plan

9) The development hereby permitted shall not be commenced until such time as a scheme for
the disposal of surface water in the event of a fire within the battery energy storage system
(BESS) have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Thereafter, the approved scheme shall be implemented before the development hereby
permitted is first brought into use, and shall be retained and maintained in full for the lifetime
of the development.

Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not give risk to an unacceptable risk
of surface water flooding and groundwater pollution, as required by Policy EN4 and EN5 of
the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

Aircraft and Associated Activities

Electrical Noise Interference Management Plan

10)No works pursuant to this permission shall commence until such time as an Electrical Noise
Interference Management Plan (ENIMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the Ministry of Defence. The submitted
ENIMP shall contain, but not be limited to:

a. Manufacturers specifications for any generating and associated infrastructure to be
installed at the site, to include any inverters, substations, PV panels and any
associated cables (including all interconnecting cables as well as the export cables to
the national grid) and connectors

b. Details of measures designed to prevent electrical noise interference being caused to
transmitter/receiver technical installations at RAF Barkston Heath

c. A schedule setting of how the development will be operated, maintained and tested
throughout its lifetime to ensure that any electrical noise interference on
transmitter/receiver technical installations at RAF Barkston Heath is prevented; and

d. A protocol through which the site operator can be notified of electrical noise
interference issues or observations, the measures that would be taken to investigate,
and a description of the approach to resolving/mitigating those impacts.

The provisions set out in the approved ENIMP and any modifications or mitigation, as agreed
in writing by the Local Planning Authority shall be maintained for the lifetime of the
development. No electrical component or electrical equipment not specified in the approved
ENIMP shall be installed or operated within the site without the express written consent of
the Local Planning Authority, in consultation with the Ministry of Defence.

Reason: In the interests of maintaining the effective operation of national defence
infrastructure and to maintain aviation safety.

During Building Works

34



Biodiversity / Ecology

Ecological Mitigation

11)All works on site during the construction period shall be carried out in accordance with the
recommendations contained within Section 3 of the Ecological Impact Assessment (Clarkson
and Woods) (May 2024), including reasonable avoidance measures for protected species
and the provision and retention of skylark mitigation plots.

Reason: In the interests of best ecological practice and in accordance with Policy EN2
(Protecting Biodiversity and Geodiversity) of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

Before the Development is Operational
Landscape and Visual Impact

Landscape and Ecological Management Plan

12)Before the solar development hereby permitted is operational, a Landscape and Ecological
Management Plan (LEMP) shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority and shall include details of the management and monitoring of the site
during the operational period.

Reason: To protect and enhance the existing landscape features on the site, and to mitigate
the harm to the landscape and visual characteristics of the area as a result of the
development; and in accordance with Policy EN1 (Landscape Character), EN2 (Protecting
Biodiversity and Geodiversity) and DE1 (Promoting Good Quality Design) of the adopted
South Kesteven Local Plan.

Landscaping Implementation

13)Before the end of the first planting / seeding season following the date when electrical power
is first exported (“first export date”), all landscaping works shown on the approved Landscape
Mitigation Plan (Ref: 30183533-ARC-ELS-ZZ-DR-LV-00016-S2-P01) shall have been carried
out in full, unless otherwise required by another condition of this permission,

Reason: To mitigate the harm to the rural character caused by the proposal and to secure a
biodiversity net gain and in accordance with Policy EN1 (Landscape Character) and Policy
EN2 (Protecting Biodiversity and Geodiversity) of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

External Material Implementation

14)Before the development is operational, the external appearance of all built form on the site
shall have been completed in accordance with the details approved by Condition 6 above.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in accordance with
Policy DE1 (Promoting Good Quality Design) of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

Access / Highways

Operational Environmental Management Plan

15)Before the date of the first export of electricity from the development hereby permitted, an
Operational Environmental Management Plan (OEMP) relating to any maintenance or repair
works of the approved development shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that the solar farm continues to generate electricity; and to mitigate the
impacts of any further construction works required for the repair or replacement solar arrays;

35



in accordance with Policy RE1 (Renewable Energy Generation) of the adopted South
Kesteven Local Plan.

Pollution Control

Noise Mitigation Implementation

16)Before the date of the first export of electricity from the development hereby permitted, a 3m
high acoustic barrier to the Battery Energy Storage System (BESS) shall be installed, as
indicated on Figure 6-5 of the submitted Noise Assessment (ref: 30183533-ARC-NOI-REP-
00001/Rev 02).

Thereafter, the acoustic barrier shall be retained and maintained for the lifetime of the
development.

Reason: To ensure that the solar farm does not give rise to any unacceptable adverse noise
impacts on residential amenity, and to ensure that the development operates as assessed;
and in accordance with Policy EN4 and DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

Ongoing
Landscape and Visual Impact
Lighting Details

17)No permanent illumination of the site shall be permitted unless otherwise agreed in writing
by the Local Planning Authority. In such circumstances, prior to the erection of any external
lighting on site, a lighting plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details and thereafter retained for the lifetime of the development.

Reason: To protect the rural character of the site and in accordance with Policy EN1
(Landscape Character) of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

Compliance with LEMP

18)The approved development must be carried out in accordance with the approved Landscape
and Ecological Management Plan.

Reason: To protect and enhance the existing landscape features, and to mitigate the harm
to the landscape and visual characteristics of the area as a result of the development; and in
accordance with Policy EN1 and DEL1 of the adopted Local Plan.

Landscape Protection

19)Within a period of five years from the first export date, any trees or plants provided as part of
the approved Landscaping Plan that die or become, in the opinion of the Local Planning
Authority, seriously damaged or defective, shall be replaced in the first planting season
following any such loss with a specimen of the same size and species, unless otherwise
agreed by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To mitigate the harm to the rural character caused by the proposal and to secure a
biodiversity net gain and in accordance with Policy EN1 (Landscape Character) of the
adopted Local Plan.

Early Decommissioning

20)In the event that the site ceases to generate electricity for a period of 12 months prior to the
cessation of the 40 year period, a scheme of Decommissioning Works (“Early

36



Decommissioning Scheme”) shall be submitted no later than 6 months from the end of the
12 month non-electricity generating period to the Local Planning Authority for approval in
writing. The early decommissioning scheme shall include the same details required under the
Decommissioning Scheme set out in Condition 2 of this permission.

Thereafter, the early decommissioning scheme shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details.

Reason: To ensure that the solar farm continues to generate electricity or is otherwise
removed to the benefit of the character and appearance, and agricultural productivity of the
District; in accordance with Policy EN1 and RE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

37



Standard Note(s) to Applicant

1)

2)

3)

4)

5)

6)

In reaching the decision, the Council has worked with the applicant in a positive and
proactive manner by determining the application without undue delay. As such it is
considered that the decision is in accordance with Paragraph 38 of the National Planning
Policy Framework (2024).

The effect of paragraph 13 of Schedule 7A to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
is that planning permission granted for the development of land in England is deemed to
have been granted subject to the condition "(the biodiversity gain condition™) that
development may not begin unless:

(a) a Biodiversity Gain Plan has been submitted to the planning authority, and
(b) the planning authority has approved the plan.

The planning authority, for the purposes of determining whether to approve a Biodiversity
Gain Plan if one is required in respect of this permission would be South Kesteven
District Council.

There are statutory exemptions and transitional arrangements which mean that the
biodiversity gain condition does not always apply. These are listed below.

Based on the information available this permission is considered to be one which will
require the approval of a biodiversity gain plan before development is begun because
none of the statutory exemptions or transitional arrangements listed below are
considered to apply.

The developer should produce a risk reduction strategy (Regulation 38 of the Building
Regulations) as the responsible person for the scheme as stated in the Regulatory
Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005. We would also expect that safety measures and risk
mitigation is developed in collaboration with LFR.

Applicants will also need to comply with relevant Building Regulations in Part B. They
require applicants to provide suitable access for the fire service. Battery storage falls
within the scope of the UK’s producer responsibility regime for batteries and other waste
legislation. Operators’ of battery storage facilities should be aware of the Producer
Responsibility Regulations. When a battery within a battery storage unit ceases to
operate, it will need to be removed from the site and dealt with in compliance with waste
legislation. The party discarding the battery will have a waste duty of care under the
Environmental Protection Act 1990 to ensure that this takes place. The Waste Batteries
and Accumulators Regulations 2009 also apply

In accordance with Section 59 of the Highways Act 1980, please be considerate of
causing damage to the existing highway during construction and implement mitigation
measures as necessary. Should extraordinary expenses be incurred by the Highways
Authority in maintaining the highway by reason of damage caused by construction traffic,
the Highways Authority may seek to recover these expenses from the developer.

Please contact the Lincolnshire County Council Streetworks and Permitting Team on
01522782070 to discuss any proposed statutory utility connections, Section 50 licences
and any other works which will be required within the public highway in association with
the development permitted under this Consent.  This will enable Lincolnshire County

38



Council to assist in the coordination and timings of these works. For further guidance
please visit the Highway Authority’s website via the following link: Traffic Management -

https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/traffic-management

39


https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/traffic‐management

ov

Proposed Site Layout

i /{{ 3 .
I~ B/
/:'f’;-\#"t':‘i@}//

=

| J
e & @




1%

Proposed Landscaping Plan

T acaive Tree FaTing Paets |47 rew fedgercws anC Fappng U7 |

Toecms Coremas Name Hewt G Fa-m

o carrene Ted Vasie [s2m0cm | 14-teem | Extea Fawey Stanciest 3 bria: Yo S Cmar Sheem 175-2000m
Bt ia putescars Dowry Bacs 4304%0cm | 1418 Exiza Heasvy Siancard 3 bria: Yoc P Clwar Sarm 175-200cm
Crateegia monogy=a Comman Heathars | |390-3%0cm | 10-13=m Eeeciad Stanct 4 bri: 3x Bt Cwar Siem 175 2002
Sobas aa Cormmon Whisbesn | 8904%0cm | 14-b8cm [ Siamcwe 3 bria: Yo M. Cse Swrm 17%-300cm

Indcatve Hedgerow Paletie (for rnew hesgerones ard gepprg op)

Specws Coryron Neere Hags Il’u'.a- = Dw=xty
Acer campestre Pamkd Maphe €0-80cm ll-.&m 141 Trarapiest - seed rames: B
Coras awedana Masel S0-80cm lam 142 Traruplent - ssed ramed: Branched: 3 ey B8
Crataegua monogy=a Comryron hewttom | S0-80cm IBW 141 Trrnplant - seed raned: B
- - Tro. piants pet kses metre plarded n &
M‘m £0-80cm |Bn&nt 191 Trarmplend - sses ramed Branched: ) sdor B pry-
| Sax aguicium Holy £0-80cm ]L-i--hmc
Pruncs apemcas Bhackhoem Oare oot 141 Traraplesd - sses rawed: Branched: 2 o B
floes cnrs imgﬂa- S0-80cm  [Bare-foot | 141 Trarmples! - sse ramed: Branched: 3 el B
Sartucus kg [na- 80-80cm IBW 141 Trarapisst - ssed rames” Branched: ) dex B
(2=
L JProchct
Neactw rich seed mix

Notes:

[s 77NN
1) Larxiscape Mitigaton Plan 1 Be sead i compunction with he followeyg
drasnge:

*  lisnd Ceoen Power Layout Man
»  Chwkaon snd Woods yE (PEA S
(= wrd Opx Plan (2OOF) Juse 20D

*  fAocads Tres Conatraiobs Mara (Figeres 1-3) contained witen
*  Dramage Drategy Plas 301 B350 3-ARC-5W-XIU-CE 2001

2) Trem and an

only and net %0 be waed e

Tansccky praos seed mix

Locetos
Northem and sssterm Seitd reges [ms-a Beax and Betirth Widiowsr Seed BSBP 100%
Southem and veslers Sott murgra | Mabdel A Taxsock Ma

T ———— e p—— — Iw-n-ur-

Boaton Seeds BI 12M Low Growtng WikiSowar Mix

Key
——  Application Boundary
7= Existng Contoiss
[— — ] d M 4 Sructure {Solar Pana)
mmm Proposed Substation Area
- Proposed Conversion Unit
Proposed Batery Energy Stomge Area
w———— Proposed Boundary Fence
Proposed A Fence

' W Proposed Access Track
—— Proposed Maintenance Track
©  Proposed Gan

w— PO d Swale (InScatve)

Existing pond 20m buffer 2one

Existing of-Ste pond precautonary 20m
N bufler 2000

Exaiog hedgaioes siaioed 200 sananced

(Thare will be & minimum sethack of 4 meters

from the roct protection area of ol exising

hedgesows 1o al new developmant (Le. fancing,

MoUNing STuUchune, SC00ss roads and swakes) All

isting and prop hedy: 00 b grown and

madrtained at 4m high

— SpECES-ACh NOIQUrow with dich or ees
Existing hadgerow with rees

wsesw P d Qapping up and reink

w s Gapping up, reind ane sooal
e planting

Excoosed hodgorow

S New species-rich hodgerow with
occasional tree planting. Species mix 1o
be predomnanty Hawthom and Fied
Magie 10 reflect existing mix. Hedgerow
roes 4o be predominandy oak

T

. New troe and mixed sond planing to help
break-up the visual aaent of develcpmant
" viows from sercitive vieual recepiors
and renfores Jocal land .

Existing woodan? / Yees | hedgerow Uoes
’ retained and protected during Consrucion

GuRsaans
New species dhwarse grassiand under panets
(previcusly arabie)

,":Nmn-:unaaqaﬂnm
-Nmnmodwqm

I gy s s

retined. To be re-50630d of Over-SOWN Wih
MActa rich J tussocky grassland seed mix
where required following construction.

Ecctogtts

- Putc Rights of Way (PROW)

Qi Vaual Context
.Ol-m-oaﬂmd

e OfF-gite h0OGOIOWS

e
POWER

Welby Solar Farm

Figure 1.16 Landscape Mitigation Plan
May 2024

HENC -G S0 IRUHEGOIFL Qe * X Laraxage Vg Pas

A ARCADIS



Agricultural Land Classification Plan

A%

Appendix 6- Map of ALC Grade

Grade 3a

Grade 3b

‘0

oy

IO H )

-
-
L)
L)

>

*
oretetetel
L)

.

-
.0

<

L)

>
-
-
»
-
-
=
K
*
.0

0’0’0’0‘0’0’0’0‘0’0

.0.0’ .0.0.0.0.0.0 L )

.0
<

* e

IO
S

LG N I O O O L)

OO )
0.0.0.0.0.0.0.0’0.0.0.0.0.0.0 &
-

Pit (dis




Agenda Iltem 5

SOUTH Planning Committee
KESTEVEN 6 February 2025
DISTRICT

COUNCIL

S24/1327
Proposal: Conversion of former school house building together with erection of 3
(no) 3-storey apartment blocks to form a total of 60 (no) apartments with
associated amenity space and vehicle parking; following demolition of
the existing workshop and office building (Revised submission of
$23/0882)
Location: The OId School House, Station Road East, Grantham
Applicant Invicta Developments Limited
Application Type: Full Planning Permission

Reason for Referral to | At the discretion of the Chairman of the Planning Committee
Committee:
Key Issues:

Design Quality and Visual Impact
Impact on amenity

Impact on heritage assets

Biodiversity and Ecology

Infrastructure for Growth

Biodiversity Net Gain Report

Built Heritage Impact Assessment
Design, Access and Planning Statement
Financial Viability Appraisal

Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal
Parking Assessment

Options Testing Appraisal

Technical Documents:

Report Author

Adam Murray — Principal Development Management Planner
[ 01476 406080

=% Adam.Murray@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type:

Growth Regulatory Grantham St Vincent's

43


mailto:Adam.Murray@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1

29 January 2025

Reviewed by: Phil Jordan, Development Management &
Enforcement Manager
Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

To authorise the Assistant Director — Planning & Growth to GRANT planning permission,
subject to conditions

44



S24/1327 — Old School House, Station Road East, Grantham

45

Key

Application

i
!

| Boundary




1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

Description of the site

The application site comprises an area of approximately 3,569 sq. metres (0.88 acres) of
broadly rectangular land situated between Station Road East and Launder Terrace, to the
south-west of Grantham Town Centre. The site currently contains former school buildings,
and a modern workshop and office building, which have subsequently been used for
commercial purposes since the closure of the former school; most recently, the site was
used for pine furniture sales and as an indoor market space. However, the site currently
stands vacant.

The former school buildings are constructed in red brick, with steeply pitched slate roofs and
attractive window detailing; and comprise of the former main school house to the east of the
site, and the former infant school house to the north-west of the site. The former workshop
and office structure is positioned to the centre of the site, and is constructed of modern red
brick with concrete tiled roof. The existing buildings on the site are a mixture of 2 and 2 %
storey domestic scale.

The northern and eastern boundaries of the site, adjacent to the former school house, are
marked by traditional wrought iron black railings; whilst the yard to the south-west of the
complex of buildings is currently bound by a red brick wall topped with palisade fencing.

The site is bound to the north and west by residential properties fronting onto Launder
Terrace; to the east by Station Road East, beyond which lies with St. John the Evangelist
Church; and to the south by Station Road East, with Grantham Train Station Car Park
opposite and the East Coast Mainline Railway approximately 150m to the south of the site.

The application site falls within Character Area 03D of the Grantham Townscape
Assessment, which identifies the following key characteristics of the existing built form in
the area:

e Terraced housing and industrial survivals, including station environs, part of the
Victorian (some mid-Victorian), and Edwardian southern expansion of the town.

e Late 19" and early 20" century artisan terraced housing, part of the significant urban
extension of the town in this period. A valuable survival of malthouses and associated
buildings and an important Victorian church.

e Mostly regular plots of terraced housing, narrow rear gardens and larger survival of
outbuildings in rear gardens. Some larger floorplates, mostly traditional buildings
interspersed.

e Mostly red brick, although gault and brown bricks are also seen. Ancaster stone for
the Church of St. John, some render and cladding seen to terraces. Roofs, mostly
modern concrete interlocking tiles (replacing natural slate), red brick chimneys.

e There is a marked hierarchy in the terracing. Sub-area 03D contains the earliest
terraces from the 1850s onwards. These are also the most compact in footprint and
plot. Being artisan houses, probably built soon after the railway was constructed, they
are the simplest in architectural design. They have narrow flush fronts without bay
windows, situated to the back edge of the pavement. Nevertheless, window
proportions follow the usual Victorian sash layout. Few original doors remain, but the
simple four panel type would be likely. Lintels are simple, rectangular blocks and the
flush eaves to the relatively low pitched roofs consist of the basic brick detail.

46



1.6

1.7

1.8

The application site is identified as a Protected Employment Site (Local Plan Ref: EMP-
G22: Old School, Station Road, Grantham) within the adopted Local Plan, and the St. John
the Evangelist to the east of the site is a Grade Il Listed Building. Furthermore, due to the
local historic and architectural significance of the former school house buildings, these
buildings are deemed to be a non-designated heritage asset by the LPA. The value of these
buildings is recognised within the Townscape Character Appraisal, which states the
following:

e The former school, facing St. John’s Church, is a lively Gothic Revival single storey
urban school, typical of the Victorian period, with mullioned Gothic arched windows,
gables and steep pitched roofs.

e There are three present and former late 19" century school buildings of historic and
architectural significance. There are important buildings of which there are few
examples surviving.

The site has been the subject of a previous full planning application for a development of
the same description (LPA Ref: S23/0882), which was refused August 2023 via delegated
powers.

The previous application was refused for the following reason(s):

(1) As a result of the scale and layout of the proposed development, the application
proposals would not reflect the character and appearance of the existing streetscene
and the surrounding built form, and would also create the impression of an excluded
community. The scheme also fails to provide appropriate features, such as an active
frontage, secure cycle storage, security lighting and boundary treatments, to reduce
crime and the fear of crime for future occupants. Taking the above into account, it is
concluded that the application proposals would have an unacceptable adverse impact
on the character and appearance of the surrounding area, the amenity of future
occupants of the proposed development, and the integration of the scheme within the
surrounding community. As such, the application scheme is contrary to Policy DE1, EN1
and ID2 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036, the adopted Design
Guidelines SPD (November 2021), and Section 12 of the National Planning Policy
Framework (July 2021). As a result of the identified conflict, the application proposals
would also be contrary to Policy SP3. In this case, the Local Planning Authority considers
that the public benefits of the proposal, would not outweigh the identified harm.

(2) The existing former Old School House buildings which occupy the site are defined as a
non-designated heritage asset by virtue of their local historic and architectural
significance. The application proposals involve the unjustified demolition of the former
Infant School Hall, and would also result in the loss of the character and identity of the
retained Primar Old School Building due to the inappropriate scale and attachment of
the proposed 3-storey new build form. As a result, the application proposals would result
in substantial harm to the significance of a non-designated heritage asset. The public
benefits of the scheme would not outweigh the identified harm. As such, the application
proposals are contrary to Policy EN6 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-
2036 (Adopted January 2020), and Section 16 of the National Planning Policy
Framework (July 2021).

(8) The application proposals fail to provide an appropriate biodiversity net gain or
justification for why this cannot be achieved contrary to the requirements of Policy EN2
of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (Adopted January 2020), and

47



2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

2.6

Section 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework (July 2021). In this case, the Local
Planning Authority considers that the public benefits of the proposal would not outweigh
the identified harm.

(4) The applicant has failed to enter into a planning obligation to secure the necessary
financial contributions to healthcare, and the required affordable housing provision,
contrary to Policy H2 and ID1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036
(Adopted January 2020).

Description of the proposal

The current application seeks full planning permission for the conversion of the former
school house building, together with the erection of 3(no) 3-storey apartment blocks, to form
a total of 60(no) apartments with associated amenity space and vehicle parking; following
demolition of the existing workshop and office building, and the demolition of the former
infant school house.

In this respect, it is acknowledged that the current application is a revised submission of the
previously refused application (Ref: S23/0882) for a development of the same description,
which was refused via delegated powers in August 2023.

The current application has sought to address the previous reasons for refusal by including
the following key amendments:

e Block C has been set back from Launder Terrace and the existing railing is to be
retained.

e External doors have been added to all street-facing elevations.
e The 3-storey blocks now include a stepped eaves and ridge height.

e The 3-storey blocks have been set back from the retained school building, but
connected by a recessed link.

e Window designs have been amended to feature modern and dormer windows.

The application submission has been accompanied by a Design, Access and Planning
Statement, Built Heritage Impact Assessment, Existing and Proposed Elevation Plans and
Proposed Site Plans, which indicate that the proposed development would consist of the
following: -

The proposed scheme would entail the demolition of the former Infant School building
positioned within the north-west corner of the site, and the demolition of the modern
workshop and office building located in the centre of the site. The former school building to
the east of the site is proposed to be retained and converted into 6(no) apartments
distributed across 2-storeys with 3(no) apartments on each floor.

3 (no) 3-storey new build apartment blocks would be erected to the rear of the former school
house (along the northern and southern boundary of the site) to provide a further 54 (no)
apartments. The proposed new build elements would be physically attached to the former
school house on the western elevation and would cumulatively produce a U-shaped built
form within the site. Albeit Block A and B (adjacent to the retained school building) would be
set forward of the established building line of the former school buildings, and the properties
neighbouring the site to the west, and situated immediately to the rear of the existing
footway. Block C (in the north-west corner of the site) would be set back from these buildings
and would be broadly consistent with the positioning of the existing infant school building.

48



2.7

2.8

2.9

2.10
2.11

212

2.13

The internal courtyard between these buildings would form a communal, private garden area
for future occupants of the site and would include raised planters and informal seating, as
well as low level lighting.

The existing yard to the south-west corner of the site is proposed to be re-purposed as a
parking area for the scheme and would provide 15 (no) car parking spaces, with an
additional 2(no) disabled parking bays and a motorcycle bay, together with a covered bike
store. The parking area would also include a bin collection area.

Vehicular access into the site is proposed to be via the existing access from Station Road
East to the south of the application site boundary. However, as indicated above, the scheme
now includes occupant access to the proposed apartments directly from the street; as well
as continuing to propose occupant access via the internal courtyard.

The scheme is proposed to deliver 60 (no) 2-bed flats.

As indicated above, the proposed new build elements of the scheme are identified as being
3-storey scale and would contain projecting gables finished with off-white render and would
feature conservation style rooflights and dormer windows. The proposed elevations would
include brick arch detailing to doors.. The proposed new build blocks would feature a
stepped eaves and ridge height, and would be connected to the retained school building by
a recessed link section.

The existing built form of the former school house building is shown as being largely
retained, including the retention of the mullioned window openings and the existing roof,
with additional conservation rooflight windows added into the roofscape.

The existing wrought iron railings to the east of the former school building are shown to be
retained and as indicated above, the area to the front of Block C facing onto Launder Terrace
are also now proposed to retain the existing wrought iron railings. The existing boundary
wall to the south-west of the site is to be retained a topped with stone capping.

Relevant History

Application Ref. | Description of Development Decision

S23/0882 Conversion of former school house | Refused
building together with erection of 3 (no) 3- | 10.08.23
storey apartment blocks to form a total of
60 (no) apartments with associated
amenity space and vehicle parking;
following demolition of the existing
workshop and office building

Policy Considerations

South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (Adopted January 2024)

Policy SD1 — The Principles of Sustainable Development in South Kesteven
Policy SP1 — Spatial Strategy

Policy SP2 — Settlement Hierarchy

Policy SP3 — Infill Development

Policy H2 — Affordable Housing Contributions

Policy H4 — Meeting All Housing Needs

Policy E4 — Protection of Existing Employment Sites

Policy E6 — Loss of Employment Land and Buildings to Non-Employment Uses
Policy EN1 — Landscape Character

49



4.2

4.3

4.4

5.1
5.1.1
5.1.2

5.1.3

Policy EN2 — Protecting Biodiversity and Geodiversity

Policy EN4 — Pollution Control

Policy EN5 — Water Environment and Flood Risk Management
Policy EN6 — The Historic Environment

Policy DE1 — Promoting Good Quality Design

Policy SB1 — Sustainable Building

Policy OS1 — Open Space

Policy ID1 — Infrastructure for Growth

Policy ID2 — Transport and Strategic Transport Infrastructure

Design Guidelines for Rutland and South Kesteven Supplementary Planning
Document (Adopted November 2021)

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (Published December 2024)
Section 2 — Achieving sustainable development.

Section 4 — Decision-making

Section 5 — Delivering a sufficient supply of homes

Section 6 — Building a strong, competitive economy

Section 9 — Promoting sustainable transport

Section 11 — Making effective use of land

Section 12 — Achieving well-designed places

Section 14 — Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
Section 15 — Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

Section 16 — Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

South Kesteven Local Plan Review 2021 — 2041 (Regulation 18 Draft)
Representations received

Anglian Water

No objection subject to conditions.

The foul drainage from this development is in the catchment of Marston (Lincs) Water
Recycling Centre that will have available capacity for these flows.

The sewerage system at present has available capacity for these flows. If the developer
wishes to connect to our sewerage network they should serve notice under Section 106 of
the Water Industry Act 1991.

The preferred method of surface water disposal would be to a sustainable drainage system
(SuDS) with connection to the sewer seen as a last option. The Flood Risk Assessment and
Outline Sustainable Drainage Strategy submitted with the planning application relevant to
Anglian Water states that to provide betterment on the current surface water discharge
arrangements the site will be calculated as a 1 in 1 year greenfield rate which Anglian Water
welcome this approach, however, there is no evidence of the existing connections submitted
with the application and what the current discharge rates are and there is no evidence that
site drainage is unrestricted. It is also noted that the discharge rate as Soil type 1 is being
calculated as a soil type 4 in order to increase the discharge rate to 5I/s however there is no
evidence of the ground investigations being carried out to demonstrate the soil type
therefore on the basis the 5I/s discharge rate is considered to be excessive for a site of this
size. Therefore, a condition should be applied if permission is granted to require a surface
water drainage strategy.

50



5.2
5.2.1
5.3
5.3.1

5.3.2

5.3.3

5.4

5.4.1
5.4.2
5.4.3
5.5

5.5.1
552

5.5.3

5.5.4

5.5.5

Cadent Gas
No comments.
Grantham Civic Society

The current proposals replace the earlier proposals which were opposed, and the planning
application refused. The Society notes that the Applicant has taken on board a number of
concerns and has submitted a detailed and comprehensive Built Heritage Impact
Assessment and a more informative Design, Access and Planning Statement.

The GCS supports the retention of the eastern part of the school in the close proximity to
St. John’s Church but notes the redundant nature and the poor condition of the surviving
western school buildings. We request condition that if the remainder of the school buildings
are to be demolished, detailed plans of those structure to be demolished are made and
retained with Lincolnshire Archives together with a photographic record. Additionally, we
specifically request that the former notice boards are retained and displayed where possible
in any communal areas. We also ask that the outstanding issues made by the Conservation
Officer are addressed.

Whilst the GCS notes the comments that “the application site is in a highly sustainable
location where future residents will be able to access the facilities and services in Grantham
Town Centre, without the need to use a car”, the GCS is most concerned that there is likely
to be insufficient parking on site (namely 20 parking bays for 60 dwellings). GCS had voiced
this pot in respect of the earlier application and had suggested dialogue with those involved
in the adjacent car parks. The comments from National Highways indicate their opposition
to this. The GCS requests that the inadequacy of parking at this end of the town is
addressed.

Grantham Town Council

Consolidated comments

Objection

There remains potential for the site to be used for retail purposes

The number of proposed apartments is a concern due to the shortage of parking.
Heritage Lincolnshire

No objection subject to conditions.

The proposed site lies to the west of the centre of Grantham, close to the railway station
and opposite the Grade Il Listed Church of St. John the Evangelist, built 1840-41. A number
of former works and factories dating from the post-medieval period are recorded in the
surrounding area.

A Church of England School is recorded in Spittlegate, which dates the school’s foundation
to the early 1840s.

Former school buildings are a significant part of our historic environment. New uses
frequently alter the original fabric and character of the building, and it is beneficial to create
a record of the structure before alteration or demolition.

Therefore, a Scheme of Archaeological Works should be commissioned to enable the
historic assets within the site to be recorded prior to their alteration / destruction.

51



5.6
5.6.1
5.7
5.7.1
5.8
5.8.1
5.8.2

5.8.3
5.8.4

5.9
5.9.1
5.10
5.10.1
5.11
5.11.1
5.12

5.12.1
5.12.2
5.12.3
5.12.4

5.12.5

5.12.6

5.13

5.13.1
5.13.2

5.14

Historic England

No comments to make.

Lincolnshire County Council (Education)

No comments received.

Lincolnshire County Council (Highways & SuDS)
Additional information required.

A Parking Statement is required; the aim of the statement is to ensure enough parking is
available for the proposed use without overspill or obstruction of the public highway.

A full drainage strategy needs to be provided.

A Section 106 contribution of £10,000 will be required towards the Grantham Transport
Strategy.

Lincolnshire Fire & Rescue

No comments received.

Lincolnshire Police Crime Prevention Officer
No objections

Lincolnshire Wildlife Trust

No comments received.

LNER

Consolidated comments

Objection.
The Developer should be required to resurface any damage to Station Road East.
There is insufficient parking to serve the development.

LNER would request Section 106 funding towards improvements to access to the station, a
contribution of funding towards maintaining Station Road East, and funding for improved
wayfinding for the station.

No consultation has been undertaken with LNER despite their operational railway site being
close to the development.

The planning application includes an assumption that the developers and subsequent
residents will be able to use land held under a 99 year lease by LNER, this hasn’t been
agreed.

NHS Lincolnshire Integrated Care Board
Section 106 contribution requested.

£32,670.00 requested towards expanding capacity within the K2 Healthcare Grantham and
Rural Primary Care Network.

SKDC Conservation Officer

Consolidated comments

52



5.14.1
5.14.2

5.14.3

5.14.4

5.14.5

5.14.6

5.14.7

5.14.8

Objection.

The distinctive former Spittalgate School (also Old School House) on the site has been
designated as a non-designated heritage asset (MLI126761). The buildings complex is
described a main building to the east, made of red brick in a Flemish bond with ashlar string
courses, window arches, and other details, and a steeply pitched roof of slate. The building
plan is symmetrical, likely with one half being used as a boy’s school and the other half for
girls with separate entrances and playgrounds for each. A further school building was built
to the west in around 1886 as an infant’s school, in matching material and style.
Cartographic evidence shows a small structure in the centre of the site, which has long since
been removed. As this building is a non-designated heritage asset, a balanced judgement
will be required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the
heritage asset.

Following previous comments, a site appraisal for the viability of two other options for the
development, as well as updated drawings have been provided. | agree with the comments
provided by the Urban Design Officer in regards to the viability, assessing a higher density
approach which retains more fabric versus the current proposal of lower density with
communal area, but less historic fabric.

If the current proposal is to be accepted, the material and design should be of high quality,
with the brickwork matching the school building as well as the general streetscape. The
terrace design would fit in well within the wider streetscape and adjustments have been
made to present a street frontage towards Launder Terrace and Station Road. The provision
of a communal garden space is a positive feature that adds to the design. The windows of
Block C have been adjusted in scale to be more proportional to a Victorian terrace frontage.
The stylistic differences between the road facing elevations and courtyard elevations would
be in keeping with the terrace design, where the back elevations would often be more
modest in appearance, compared with the decorative front elevations.

As previously noted, the window and door lintels and cills should take inspiration from the
existing building, as well as the surrounding terraced buildings. If structures are to be
demolished, material and decorative features should be reused. The gable ends of the
existing buildings present interesting features such as the three pointed arch detailing and
vertical herringbone pattern with three air vent slits above, stained glass window as well as
various protruding brickwork patterns. There are thus many features that can be picked up
and replicated or reused within the new design. Different styles of dormers could also be
utilised to provide a more piecemeal appearance.

There is a strong opportunity to maintain the character, appearance and identify of the
heritage asset with good materials and complimentary detailing. The existing buildings have
the opportunity to create a positive impact on the important gateway to and from the rest of
the town from Grantham Railway Station through a heritage-led approach to regeneration.

Any structures to be demolished should be recorded to a Level 3 as defined by Historic
England prior to any works being undertaken.

| would advise that there is still heritage concerns with the design provided. The Old School
is considered a non-designated heritage asset and as such retains local significance. The
proposed demolition would result in a substantial level of impact upon this building, as a
high percentage of the building will be lost. The applicant should demonstrate how material
could be retained and features incorporated into the new buildings.

53



5.15
5.15.1
5.16
5.16.1
5.17

5171
5.17.2

5.17.3

5.17.4

5.17.5

5.17.6

5.17.7

SKDC Environmental Protection

No objection subject to conditions.

SKDC Planning Policy Officer — Affordable Housing
No comments received.

SKDC Urban Design Officer

Initial comments

Objection.

Unfortunately, despite amendments, the original primary concerns and the reasons for
refusal still remain — these being part demolition of the building being unjustified and the
character and identity having been lost (even if the new buildings are no longer attached to
the retained) — with the new build elements not of sufficient design quality.

This is a prime site next to the train station and requires a high quality proposal. Any scheme
for the site should aim to meet the following design principles:

e Be polite to the original building — retention of them and sensitive scale, massing,
height, building line, materials and detailing of any new elements.

e Embrace the spirit of the Old School House and create a bespoke scheme in
response to it.

e Allow the Old School House to be the dominant and most prominent feature on the
site.

e The site and context requires a bespoke scheme rather than a standardised
approach.

Some of the new elevations are an improvement on previous versions with North Block B
facing Launder Terrace moving closer to a contemporary take on the Victorian terrace and
possessing a more familiar Victorian rhythm and proportions, along with front doors to the
street. Unfortunately, this is not sufficient to overcome the major issues that still remain.

Revised comments

Viability testing is based on two options — it is not to say that there are not more options —
given the location the density could be higher, although this would require a more apartment
block style approach, and the negative impacts of this would be less amenity space and
parking.

In reviewing the overall approach, it can be noted that there are benefits of the current
proposals, in that there is an internal garden, a parking area and we have units in scale and
proportion (subject to detailing and materials) that are broadly in keeping with Victorian
terraces. A higher density scheme would lose some of these features but would provide an
option for retaining more of the original building. As such, it requires a judgement of the
balance of retaining the original building versus providing adequate amenity space and
parking.

The new build elevations are now looking much more like Victorian terraces — the windows
will need to be set back into the reveal to create the impression of an opening in proportion
to the Victorian ones adjacent or the window needs to be filled completely with glazing and
the lower infill removed. The detailing needs to be of a high quality and the bricks and other

54



5.18
5.18.1

(.2

7.3

.4

7.5

materials need to be of high quality and sit well with the surrounding terraces and original
school building.

Network Rail

No objections in principle to the scheme. However, during construction and operation of the
scheme, we would want to ensure that vehicles do not block or obstruct access to Grantham
Railway Station and its operations.

Representations as a Result of Publicity

The application has been advertised in accordance with the Council's Statement of
Community Involvement and letters of representation have been received from 3 interested
parties; all of whom have raised formal objections. The material considerations raised within
the representations can be summarised as follows:

(1) Principle of Development
e Support the reuse of the building
(2) Impact on neighbouring amenity

e The increased scale of the development will reduce natural light for nearby
properties.

(3) Access, Highways and Parking
e Insufficient parking for the quantum of development
(4) Impact on heritage assets

e The existing building is a historic landmark that should be preserved in its current
form.

Evaluation

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that the Local
Planning Authority (LPA) makes decisions in accordance with the adopted Development
Plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The Council adopted the South
Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 on 30 January 2020, and this forms the Development Pan
for the District and is the basis for decision-making for the current application.

The Local Planning Authority also have an adopted Design Guidelines Supplementary
Planning Document (SPD) (Adopted November 2021), and this document is a material
consideration in the determination of planning applications.

The policies and provisions set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (“the
Framework”) (Published December 2024) are also a relevant material consideration in the
determination of planning applications.

It is also appreciated that the Local Planning Authority are also in the process of conducting
a Local Plan Review. The Regulation 18 consultation on the draft Plan was carried out
between February and April 2024. At this stage, the policies contained within the draft Plan
can be attributed very limited weight in the determination of planning applications. However,
the updated evidence base published alongside the Plan Review is a material consideration
and must be taken into account in the determination of planning applications.

As referenced above, the current application is a revised submission of the previously
refused application for a development of the same description (Ref: S23/0882), which was

55



7.6
7.6.1

7.6.2

7.6.3

7.6.4

7.6.5

7.6.6

refused by the LPA in August 2023. The previous application was refused for reasons
relating to (i) the impact of the development on the character and appearance of the area
and the amenity of future occupants of the development (ii) the harm to the Old School
House as a non-designated heritage asset (iii) the absence of a biodiversity net gain; and
(iv) the absence of a Section 106 Agreement to secure necessary infrastructure
improvements and affordable housing. In this respect, the LPA’s assessment of the previous
application remains a relevant material consideration, subject to appropriate consideration
of any material changes to the proposed development or policy in the intervening period.

Principle of Development

It is appreciated that public representations received on the application have indicated
support for the principle of reuse of the site. However, it is also noted that Grantham Town
Council have objected to the application on the basis that the site retains potential for
employment generating uses or retail uses.

As discussed above, it is important to note that the previous application was not refused for
any reasons relating to the principle of development on the site. It is Officers’ assessment
that there has been no material change in circumstances, which would justify reaching an
alternative assessment on this matter.

Notwithstanding this, the application site comprises the former old school building and more
modern workshop and office building, which have been utilised for a range of commercial
purposes following the closure of the school. As such, the site falls to be defined as
previously developed land. Furthermore, it is also acknowledged that the site is positioned
within the established built-up area of Grantham; situated between Station Road East and
Launder Terrace and, therefore, redevelopment of the site would not extend the pattern of
development beyond the existing limits of the town in any direction.

Taking the above into account, redevelopment of the site would be in accordance with
criteria (a), (b) and (d) of Policy SP3, and would be in accordance with the principles of the
overall spatial strategy for the District, which seeks to focus growth on Grantham and
encourages the use of previously developed land. With regards to criteria (c) and (e) of
Policy SP3, these matters fall to be discussed against the relevant material design
considerations, which are discussed in further detail below.

In respect of the proposed redevelopment of the site for residential purposes, the application
site is identified as a Protected Employment Site (Site Ref: EMP-G22) under Policy E4 of
the Local Plan. This policy states that identified employment sites will be protected to ensure
the continued provision of locally important employment opportunities, and appropriate
proposals for B1, B2 and / or B8 uses, as well as other employment generating uses outside
of Use Class B will be supported, subject to consideration of the site-specific impacts.

Notwithstanding this, Policy E6 (Loss of Employment Land and Buildings to Non-
Employment Uses) establishes a permissive approach to the potential loss of allocated
employment sites to non-employment uses. It states that the Council will seek to retain and
enhance existing areas of employment use, unless it can be demonstrated that:

(a) The site is vacant and no longer appropriate or viable as an employment site — this may
include the need for effective, robust and proportionate marketing of the land and
buildings to be undertaken; or

(b) Redevelopment would maintain the scale of employment opportunities on the site, or
would deliver wider benefits, including regenerating vacant or underutilised land; or

56



7.6.7

7.6.8

7.6.9

7.6.10

7.6.11

(c) The alternative use would not be detrimental to the overall supply and quality of
employment land within the District; or

(d) The alternative use would resolve existing conflicts between land uses.

The application has been accompanied by a Design, Access and Planning Statement (The
Planning Hub), which sets out the following assessment against the above criteria:

e The site has accommodated several failed business uses over the years, resulting
in the buildings becoming vacant, poorly maintained and unviable for new
business ventures. Despite being advertised for sale as a commercial / business
venture, there was no interest in the site for a new business.

e The overall allocation measures 0.4ha and, with another small site in Stamford,
is the smallest of the 40 employment allocations across the District, which total
some 363.34ha. The allocation is only 0.11% of the total employment allocation
for the District.

e The commercial or business use of the site could give rise to conflicts with the
residential uses of the land to the west and north of the site, whereas residential
use of the site would accord with the prevailing residential land uses and would
be appropriate within this location.

It is appreciated that the application site has been marketed for sale by Savills, and the
Applicant has indicated that this has not generated any interest in retained commercial /
employment use of the site. Whilst, Grantham Town Council have indicated that the site
could continue to be used for retail provision, there has been no evidence supplied to
demonstrate viable interest in using the site in this manner. However, limited evidence has
been provided in respect of this marketing process in order to verify the information provided
and demonstrate compliance with criteria (a).

Notwithstanding this, Officers note that the Employment Land Study (2024) published
alongside the Local Plan Review concludes that the site is not suitable for employment land
uses, and therefore is not considered to be viable. As such, the Employment Land Study
recommends the removal of the allocation as part of the forthcoming Local Plan Review.

Similarly, Officers accept that the application site comprises a very small proportion of the
overall supply of employment land within the District and identified within the Local Plan. As
such, it is Officers’ assessment that removal of the application site from employment uses
would not have an unacceptable impact on the availability and quality of employment land
within the District, and therefore, the application scheme would accord with criteria (c) of
Policy E6.

Furthermore, the application proposals would result in the provision of 60 dwellings within a
sustainable location for growth within the District and would provide a substantial
contribution towards the Council’s housing land supply. The Council’s most recent published
Annual Position Statement 2023 confirmed that the Local Planning Authority could
demonstrate a 5.01 year housing land supply until 315t October 2024. The Council have not
published a further Annual Position Statement and it is acknowledged that the revised
National Planning Policy Framework (December 2024) has subsequently increased the
Council’'s housing requirements from 650 dwellings per annum to 895 dwellings per annum.
In this context, it is the Case Officer’'s assessment that the provision of additional housing is
a significant benefit that should be attributed substantial weight.

57



7.6.12

7.7
7.7

7.7.2

.73

r.7.4

7.7.5

7.7.6

r.r.r

Taking all of the above into account, it is Officers assessment that the proposed
redevelopment of the site for residential purposes would be in accordance with the overall
spatial strategy for the District, as set out in Policy SP1, SP2, SP3 and E6 of the adopted
Local Plan, and Section 5 and 6 of the NPPF, when taken as a whole. Consequently, the
application proposals are acceptable in principle, subject to material considerations. These
matters are assessed in detail below.

Meeting All Housing Needs

Local Plan Policy H2 (Affordable Housing Contributions) seeks to meet the needs for
affordable housing within the District by requiring all major residential proposals to provide
affordable housing. Within the main built-up area of Grantham, the policy requires the
provision of 20% affordable housing. The only exceptions to this are brownfield development
sites across the District, and in such cases, a site specific viability assessment is required,
and the Council will consider alternative options to deliver a range of affordable and
intermediate products, and an overage clause will be included to cover any deficit in
provision. This must be justified through clear evidence set out in a viability assessment,
which the Council will have independently assessed.

The National Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) advises on viability and how it should be
assessed, including benchmark land values, which advises that viability assessment should
be:

e Based upon existing use value

e Allow for a premium to landowners (including equity resulting from those building
their own homes)

e Reflect the implications or abnormal costs, site specific infrastructure costs and
professional site fees.

In respect of the above, the application submission has been accompanied by a Financial
Viability Assessment (Intali Property Strategy) (July 2024), which concludes that the scheme
cannot support any affordable housing or infrastructure contributions without undermining
the viability of the development.

The Applicant’s Viability Assessment has been independently reviewed on behalf of the
Council by CP Viability Ltd. The conclusions of this review were that there is reasonable
evidence to confirm that the scheme cannot support affordable housing and Section 106
obligations without undermining the delivery of the project.

Taking the above into account, the application proposals are considered to accord with
Policy H2 of the adopted Local Plan.

In terms of mix of property types and sizes to be provided across the development, Policy
H4 (Meeting All Housing Needs) requires all major proposals for residential development to
provide an appropriate type and size of dwellings to meet the needs of current and future
households in the District.

In this respect, the 2023 Local Housing Needs Assessment advises the following housing
mix should be provided for the period to 2041:

58



7.7.8

7.7.9

7.7.10

7.8
7.8.1

7.8.2

Affordable

Ownership
1 bedroom 1% — 5% 10% - 15% 30% to 35%
2 bedrooms 30% — 35% 40% - 45% 45% to 50%
3 bedrooms 45% - 50% 30% - 35% 20% to 25%
4 bedrooms 10% - 15% 5% - 10% 1% to 5%
5+ bedrooms 1% - 5% 110 5%

The application proposals would provide 60(no) 2-bed apartments, and whilst the
application proposals do not provide a mix of property types and sizes, it would provide a
contribution towards meeting the need for smaller properties within the District as a whole.

Furthermore, it is noted that Policy H4 includes a requirement for 10% of all dwellings on
major residential developments to be provided to the standards of Part M4(2) of Building
Regulations. The current application does not provide any details in relation to the delivery
of this policy requirement. However, it is Officers assessment that these details could be
secured through planning conditions, in the event that the application was considered to be
acceptable in all other respects.

Taking the above into account, it is concluded that subject to conditions, the application
proposals would be in accordance with Policy H2 and H4 of the adopted Local Plan, and
Section 5 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

Design Quality and Visual Impact

As previously identified, the application proposals would involve the redevelopment of a
brownfield site, which is currently occupied by former school buildings and a modern
workshop and office buildings that are in various stages of disrepair. As such, a sympathetic
redevelopment of the site has the potential enhance the positive features of the site and
provide in an overall improvement to the streetscene.

The application site falls within Character Area 03D of the Grantham Townscape
Assessment, which identifies the existing built form is defined by the following:

e Terraced housing and industrial survivals (including station environs, part of the
Victorian (some mid-Victorian) and Edwardian southern expansion of the town.

e Late 19" and early 20" century artisan terraced housing, part of the significant urban
extension of the town in this period. A valuable survival of malthouses and associated
buildings and an important Victorian church.

e Mostly regular plots of terraced housing, narrow rear gardens and larger survival of
outbuildings in rear gardens. Some larger floorplates, mostly traditional buildings
interspersed.

e Mostly red brick, although gault and brown bricks are also seen. Ancaster stone for
the Church of St. John, some render and cladding seen to terraces. Roofs, mostly
modern concrete interlocking tiles (replacing natural slate), red brick chimneys.

59



7.8.3

7.8.4

7.9

7.9.1

e There is a marked hierarchy in the terracing. Sub area 03D contains the earliest
terraces from the 1850s onwards. These are also the most compact in footprint and
plot. Being artisan houses, probably built soon after the railway was constructed, they
are the simplest in design. They have narrow flush fronts without bay windows,
situated to the back edge of the pavement. Nevertheless, window proportions follow
the usual Victorian sash layout. Few original doors remain, but the simple four panel
type would be likely. Lintels are simple, rectangular blocks and the flush eaves to the
relatively low pitched roofs consist of basic brick detail.

Furthermore, the Townscape Assessment outlines the following key design principles for
future development within this area:

e New buildings shall maintain and reinstate the strong building line with, wherever
possible, active frontages.

e Maintain the predominant two-storey scale

e Introducing street trees and tree planting throughout the area would be of great
benefit.

e Retain identified heritage assets as they form a key part of the identity of this part of
the town

e Converted buildings should consider the use of colour to emphasise their
regeneration and celebrate key buildings within the townscape.

e More sympathetic re-use of the former school buildings to Station Road.

As identified, it is noted that the previous application was refused for reasons relating to the
design quality and visual impact; in particular, it was concluded that the scale and layout of
the development resulted in a scheme which did not reflect the character and appearance
of the existing streetscene and created the impression of an excluded community.

The current application has sought to address the previous reasons for refusal by including
the following key amendments:

e Block C has been set back from Launder Terrace and the existing railing is to be
retained.

e External doors have been added to all street-facing elevations.
e The 3-storey blocks now include a stepped eaves and ridge height.

e The 3-storey blocks have been set back from the retained school building, but
connected by a recessed link.

e Window designs have been amended to feature modern and dormer windows.

The Council’'s Urban Design Officer has been consulted on the application proposals and
has acknowledged that the aforementioned revisions represent an improvement to the
design compared to the previously refused scheme. In addition, they have also
acknowledged that the design quality of the new build proposals has also now substantially
improved, and more reflective of a traditional Victorian terrace, subject to further details
relating to large scale details for windows and appropriate materials. In the event that the
application was deemed to be acceptable in all other respects, these matters can be secured
as pre-commencement conditions.

60



7.9.2

7.9.3

7.10
7.10.1

7.10.2

7.10.3

7.10.4

7.10.5

However, the Urban Design Officer continues to query whether the amount of level of
demolition proposed for the existing buildings on the site is justified, and retains concerns
that the new build element steps forward of the building line of the retained Old School
Building and the footprint of the buildings to be demolished, such that the new build element
does not appropriately respect the character of the Old School House. With regards to
justification for the level of demolition proposed, this matter is discussed in further detail
below.

Taking the above into account, it is the Case Officers’ assessment that, on balance, the
application proposals would provide an acceptable appearance, layout and scale which
would ensure that the development scheme integrates positively with the character and
appearance of the surrounding built form, such that it appropriately addresses the previous
reason for refusal relating to the impact on the character of the area. Consequently, it is the
Case Officers’ position that the application scheme would accord with Policy DE1 and EN1
of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan, the adopted Design Guidelines SPD, and
Section 12 of the Framework; although appropriate conditions relating to large scale details
and materials are proposed to ensure that the scheme achieves a high quality finish
commensurate for the site’s context.

Impact on heritage assets

As identified above, the application site is located immediately adjacent to the Grade Il
Listed St. John the Evangelist and, as a result of their local historic and architectural
significance, the former school buildings within the site are deemed to be a non-designated
heritage asset.

In respect of the above, Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation
Areas) Act 1990 requires Local Planning Authorities to have special regard for the
desirability of preserving listed buildings and their settings or have any special architectural
or historic interest which is possesses. It is important to note that these statutory obligations
apply to designated listed buildings only and are not applicable to non-designated buildings
such as the Old School House.

Policy EN6 (The Historic Environment) is the primary development plan policy through which
the Council exercises its statutory functions. This policy states that the Council will seek to
protect and enhance heritage assets and their settings in keeping with the policies in the
National Planning Policy Framework. Development that is likely to cause harm to the
significance of a heritage asset or its setting will only be granted planning permission where
the public benefits of the proposal outweigh the potential harm.

With regards to the potential impact of the proposed development on the setting of St. John
the Evangelist Church, Historic England have been consulted on the proposals and have
raised no objections. Similarly, the Council’s Conservation Officer has also raised no
objections in this respect. As such, the application proposals would accord with Policy EN6
of the Local Plan and Section 66 of the Act 1990 with regards to the potential impact of the
development on the nearby Grade Il Listed Church.

With respect to the impact of the proposed development on the former Old School House
buildings, which are defined as a non-designated heritage asset, the application proposals
would result in the demolition of the former Infant School House and replacement with a 3-
storey apartment block, whilst the Primary School House to the east of the site would be
retained and converted to form 6 (no) apartments.

61



7.10.6

7.10.7

7.10.8

7.10.9

As referenced previously, it is acknowledged that the previous application was refused for
reasons relating to the harm to the Old School House as a non-designated heritage asset.
In particular, it was concluded that demolition of the former Infant School house was
unjustified, and that the inappropriate scale and attachment of the new buildings would
result in the loss of the character and identity of the retained Primary School house. On that
occasion, the public benefits of the proposal were not considered to outweigh the harm
caused.

As identified, it is appreciated that the application proposals have been revised with a view
to addressing the previous reasons for refusal. Notwithstanding this, the application
proposals still entail the demolition of the Infants School house and would continue to be
connected to the retained Primary School house, albeit the link between the buildings has
now been recessed.

With regards to the above, it is noted that representations received on the application have
raised objection to the proposal on the basis of the loss of the historic built form.

The application has been accompanied by a Built Heritage Impact Assessment (Marrons)
(July 2024), which identifies the following:

e Through partial demolition, the proposed development will bring about a moderate
degree of harm to the non-designated heritage asset of the former Spittalgate School.

e The site lies in the setting of the Grade Il Listed building of the Church of St. John the
Evangelist and the proposed development will have a neutral impact upon its setting
and significance.

e The design of the proposed development is well-conceived around the inherent
constraints of the site and responds well to the established character of the
surrounding area.

e In bringing about a neutral impact to the Grade Il Listed building of the Church of St.
John the Evangelist, the proposed development satisfies the statutory objectives of
Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and
Paragraph 195 of the NPPF alongside Policy EN6 of the South Kesteven Local Plan.

e The moderate degree of harm arising from the partial demolition of the non-
designated heritage asset of the former Spittalgate School is primarily justified by the
inherent challenges of viably developing the building and site. The impact should be
weighed in the planning balance according to Paragraph 209 of the NPPF, taking a
balanced judgement with regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance
of the heritage asset.

7.10.10 Grantham Civic Society have been consulted on the application proposals and have

confirmed their support for the retention of the eastern end of the school buildings. They
have raised no objections to the proposed demolition of the former Infant Hall, subject to the
completion of a photograph and measured building survey prior to its demolition, and the
retention of the name boards within communal areas of the development. These matters
could be appropriately conditioned in the event that the development would be acceptable
in all other respects.

7.10.11 The Council’'s Conservation Officer has been consulted on the application and has raised

concerns in relation to the proposed development. As part of their initial comments, they
raised concerns in relation to the attachment of the new build 3-storey elements to the

62



retained Old School House, as well as concerns that the proposed fenestration and detailing
of the new buildings would fail to appropriately respect the character of the streetscape and
would detract from the significance of the retained school building. Following amendments
to the application, the Conservation Officer has acknowledged that the scheme proposed is
an improvement in comparison to the design of the previously refused development.
However, they remained concerned that the material and design of the new build element
does not respect the character of the streetscape and the significance of the building. In
particular, they have advised that material salvaged from the demolition of the Infant School
Building and decorative features from these buildings should be re-used as part of the new
built elements of the scheme. As set out above, it is the Case Officer's assessment that
these matters can be appropriately secured through planning conditions. In view of the
importance of these matters to the acceptability of the overall development, it is proposed
to secure further information in relation to the large scale details as a pre-commencement
condition, whilst matters relating to the use of salvaged material will need to be submitted
following demolition of the buildings, but prior to the commencement of any construction of
the new build structures.

7.10.12 Notwithstanding this, the proposed development would entail the demolition of the Infant

School House, it is concluded that the level of demolition proposed would result in
substantial harm to the significance of the Old School House as a non-designated heritage
asset.

7.10.13In relation to the above, the Applicant has provided details of two options tested for the

alternative development of the site, which sought to retain larger proportions of the former
school buildings. The accompanying Financial Viability Appraisal demonstrates that these
two options would not be viable to deliver. On that basis, these options have been
discounted and the Applicant has stated that the current application proposals represent the
optimal viable development scheme which balances the maximum level of retention of the
former school buildings possible alongside the need to deliver a minimum quantum of
dwellings to ensure that the development is viable.

7.10.14 In this regard, Officers accept that the two options presented are unviable. However, the

Urban Design Officer and Conservation Officer have suggested that there are alternative
options, which have not been considered by the Applicant which may allow for the retention
of the existing buildings in full, alongside a higher density new build element.
Notwithstanding this, the Urban Design Officer and Conservation Officer note that such an
alternative would be unlikely to provide the outdoor amenity space and parking included
within the current application, which are also deemed to be positive elements of the current
scheme, and as such a balanced view is required.

7.10.15 In connection with this, Officers acknowledge that Part 11: Class B of the Town and Country

Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) permit the
demolition of buildings, subject to an application being submitted to the LPA for
determination as to whether details are required as to the method of demolition and any
proposed restoration of the site. In assessing the weight to be attributed to this fallback
position, it is Officers’ assessment that there remains limited evidence that these rights
would be exercised, and therefore, limited weight is attributed to this fallback position.

7.10.16 Nonetheless, it is the Case Officer’s assessment, that on balance, the application proposals

represent the optimal viable use of the application site having regard to the public benefits
associated with the provision of additional housing, the quality of the existing buildings, the

63



guantum of development required to viably redevelop the site, and the benefits of providing
communal outdoor amenity space and parking to serve future occupants of the site.

7.10.17 Paragraph 215 of the Framework identifies “The effect of an application on the significance

of a non-designated heritage asset should be taken into account in determining the
application. In weighing applications that directly or indirectly affect non-designated heritage
assets, a balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any harm or
loss and the significance of the heritage asset”.

7.10.18 The proposed development scheme would result in substantial demolition of the Infant

School House, and the attachment of the new built form to the retained Old School House,
which would result in substantial harm to the significance of these non-designated heritage
assets. As set out above, it is the Case Officer's assessment that, on balance, the level of
demolition proposed has been justified as the minimum required to allow for the viable re-
development of the site.

7.10.19 Furthermore, the application proposals would result in the provision of 60 dwellings within a

sustainable location for growth within the District and would provide a substantial
contribution towards the Council’s housing land supply. The Council’s most recent published
Annual Position Statement 2023 confirmed that the Local Planning Authority could
demonstrate a 5.01 year housing land supply until 315t October 2024. The Council have not
published a further Annual Position Statement, and it is acknowledged that the revised
National Planning Policy Framework (December 2024) has subsequently increased the
Council’s housing requirements from 650 dwellings per annum to 895 dwellings per annum.
In this context, it is the Case Officer's assessment that the provision of additional housing is
a significant benefit that should be attributed substantial weight.

7.10.20 In addition, the proposals would also generate economic benefits associated with the

construction of the proposed development, and the potential for increased patronage of local
services and facilities by future occupants of the proposed development, which may
increase the vitality of these services.

7.10.21 Taking the above into account, It is Officers’ assessment that the public benefits associated

711
7111

r.11.2

with the provision of 60 dwellings within the main built-up area of Grantham would outweigh
the substantial harm caused to the significance of the non-designated former school
buildings that would result from the demolition of the former Infant School House. As such,
the application proposals accord with Policy EN6 of the adopted Local Plan and Section 16
of the Framework, subject to conditions relating to large scale details and the use of
salvaged material.

Impact on neighbouring amenity

In respect of the effect of the development on amenity, it is noted that representations
received have raised objections due to concerns about the scale of the proposed
development, and the implications that this will have on the availability of natural light serving
nearby dwellings.

In assessing the proposed development against the Design Guidelines SPD (Adopted
November 2021), it is noted that the back-to-back separation distance between the
proposed 3-storey blocks (Block A and Block B) would measure approximately 20 metres,
which falls short of the standards included within the SPD in relation to providing adequate
privacy. However, it is appreciated that future occupants of the development would be aware
of the inter-relationship between the proposed apartment blocks and would need to satisfy

64



7.11.3

7.11.4

7.11.5

7.11.6

1.7

7.11.8

7.11.9

themselves that the proposed arrangements would provide them with an adequate standard
of amenity. Furthermore, having regard to the orientation of the site and the proposed
floorplans and layout, it is Officers’ assessment that all dwellings would receive an
appropriate level of natural light during the course of the day.

With regards to the potential impact of the proposed development on the residential amenity
of existing properties on Launder Terrace, it is noted that the proposed development would
be immediately adjacent to an existing residential property on the western boundary of the
site (23 Launder Terrace). In this case, it is noted that the existing property has a blank
elevation abutting the site, and similarly, there are no windows proposed in the side /
western elevation of Proposed Block C. As such, the application scheme would not give rise
to any unacceptable impact in terms of overlooking. Furthermore, the proposed
development would be set back from the established building line to the west and, therefore,
would not break the 45-degree angle set out within the adopted Design Guidelines SPD.

In respect of the relationship properties on the northern side of Launder Terrace, it is noted
that separation distances between the existing and proposed residential properties would
fall short of the 21m distance set out within the adopted Design Guidelines SPD. However,
these dwellings would be separated by a public highway and the existing footway on either
side and, therefore, would benefit from a conventional relationship between dwellings within
a built-up urban area.

As outlined above, the previous application was refused for reasons relating to failing to
minimise the fear of crime and disorder. In particular, it was concluded that the scheme
failed to include appropriate features, such as an active frontage, secure cycle storage,
security lighting and boundary treatments, and would create the impression of an excluded
community.

The current application has been amended to address the previous concerns through the
addition of external doors to all street-facing elevations for all dwellings and external lighting
has been included for the communal gardens.

The Lincolnshire Police Crime Prevention Officer has been consulted on the application
scheme and has confirmed that they have no objections. As such, it is the Case Officers’
assessment that the revised scheme has satisfactorily addressed the previous concerns
relating to crime and the fear of crime, and there would accord with Policy DE1 in this
respect.

In respect of the impacts of construction activities on the amenity of existing residential
properties, it is appreciated that the application site is located within a residential setting
and, therefore, there is the potential for short-term impacts on the residential amenity of
existing properties as a result of noise, dust and vehicle movements associated with the
demolition of the existing buildings and subsequent construction of the development. IN
view of the above, in the event that the application was deemed to be acceptable in all other
respects, conditions would be imposed to require the submission and approval of a
Demolition and Construction Management Plan and Method Statement prior to the
commencement of development, in order to mitigate these potential impacts.

Taking the above into account, subject to the imposition conditions, it is Officers’
assessment that the application proposals would not have any unacceptable adverse
impacts on the amenity of neighbouring properties and would provide an appropriate level
of amenity for future occupants. As such, the application would accord with Policy DE1 and

65



712
7121

7.12.2

7.12.3

7.13
7.13.1

7.13.2

7.13.3

EN4 of the adopted Local Plan, and Section 12 of the National Planning Policy Framework,
in respect of residential amenity considerations.

Open Space Provision

With regards to the open space standards set out within Policy OS1 of the adopted Local
Plan, it is Officers assessment that the application site benefits from suitable access to
informal / natural green space, and children’s and young persons play equipment within the
surrounding area. The site is located within close proximity to Dysart Park, which can be
accessed by pedestrian via a walk along the River Witham. It is Officers’ assessment that
the application proposals would not give rise to any requirements to increase the supply of
equipped play space in the local area.

In addition, the application site itself does include the provision of a communal garden area
to serve the future occupants of the proposed development.

Taking the above into account, it is considered that the application site benefits from
appropriate access to existing open space provision and would not generate a level of
demand for open space that requires additional facilities. As such, the application proposals
accord with Policy OS1 of the adopted Local Plan and Section 8 of the Framework.

Access, Parking and Highways Impact

It is noted that public representations have raised objections to the application proposals on
the basis that they do not provide adequate parking provision within the site, and this would
result in residents being required to park on the surrounding streets to the detriment of
highways safety and the amenity of nearby residents. These concerns have also been
raised by Grantham Civic Society, Grantham Town Council and LNER.

In respect of the above, Lincolnshire County Council (as Local Highways Authority) have
been consulted on the application proposals and have not raised any formal objections. In
commenting on the application scheme, they have identified a requirement for further
information and have requested the submission of a Parking Statement to ensure that
sufficient parking is available to serve the development.

The Applicant has subsequently submitted a Parking Assessment (Capricorn Transport
Planning) (December 2024), which identifies the following:

e The site is located within a 400m walking distance from the heart of Grantham Town
Centre and as such has excellent access to the full range of retail, commercial and
community facilities that it offers. It is also within a comfortable walking distance of a
range of education and employment opportunities.

e The site is within less than 400m walking distance of Grantham’s main bus and
railway station, where the fullest possible range of public transport services are
available to local and longer distance travel destinations.

e The site is well located for cycling, with suitable terrain and access to the entire
Grantham Urban Area within 5km. The National Cycle Network provides a traffic free
route from north to south within Grantham and can be accessed within a short
distance of the site.

e The development would therefore be highly accessible using active travel and public
transport modes of travel to reach a full range of activities and opportunities. As such,

66



7.13.4

7.13.5

7.13.6

7.13.7

7.13.8

7.13.9

these modes would cater for many of the trips generated by the scheme, which is
therefore ideally located for residents without cars.

Lincolnshire County Council (as Local Highways Authority) have not provided any further
comments following receipt of the Parking Assessment.

Notwithstanding the above, as part of other, recent major residential development schemes
within the main built-up area of Grantham, LCC Highways have indicated that dedicated
parking provision is not necessary due to residents benefitting from access to local services
and facilities via sustainable methods of travel. As such, it is the Case Officers’ assessment
that the level of parking provided would be acceptable when viewed in the context of recently
approved development schemes within the town.

Furthermore, in respect of the proposed access arrangements, it is noted that the
application proposals would utilise the existing access into the site via Station Road East.
The existing access has previously been used to serve the site as a former school, as well
as the more recent commercial activities. It is the Case Officers’ assessment that the
proposed development of the site for 60 apartments would result in an increase in the
number of vehicles accessing the site but would be unlikely to fundamentally alter the nature
/ size of vehicles using the site. The comments received from Lincolnshire County Council
(as Local Highways Authority) have not indicated any concerns in respect of the safety of
the proposed access arrangements.

The Local Highways Authority have requested a £10,000 financial contribution towards
delivering the objectives of the Grantham Transport Strategy and have also requested
conditions for the provision of tactile crossing points. Similarly, LNER have requested
Section 106 funding towards maintaining Station Road East, and improving access and
signage to the train station.

At the time of writing, it is Officers assessment that there is currently insufficient evidence
to demonstrate that the requested financial contributions would meet the legal tests set out
in the CIL Regulations and National Planning Policy Framework. In particular, it is unclear
that how the requested contributions have been calculated, the schemes that they would be
required to deliver, and how these schemes are necessary to make the development
acceptable. In this respect, it is understood that the financial contribution is intended to
improve pedestrian and cycle access to the site. However, clarification has been sought
from LCC Highways and this will be reported through the late items paper.

Notwithstanding this, as referenced above, the independent viability review has confirmed
that the proposed development cannot viably support any planning obligations and, as such,
it is not possible to secure the requested highways contributions.

7.13.10 Taking the above into account, it is the Case Officer's assessment that the application

.14
7.14.1

proposals would not give rise to any unacceptable adverse impacts on highways safety and
/ or capacity and provide an appropriate level of parking. As such, the application proposals
are assessed as being in accordance with Policy ID2 of the Local Plan and Section 9 of the
Framework.

Flood Risk and Drainage

In respect of matters of flood risk and drainage, it is appreciated that no representations
have been received on these matters.

67



7.14.2

7.14.3

7.14.4

7.14.5

7.15
7.16.1

7.15.2

7.15.3

7.15.4

Nonetheless, the application site is located within Flood Zone 1 of the Flood Map for
Planning and is also identified as being at very low risk of surface water flooding. As such,
the application site is considered to present an overall low risk of flooding.

The application has been accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment & Outline Sustainable
Drainage Strategy (July 2024), which identifies that surface and foul water will be discharged
to the existing mains sewer network.

In respect of the above, Anglian Water have been consulted on the application proposals
and have indicated that a formal drainage strategy is required to demonstrate evidence of
the existing connections from the site, the ground conditions, and therefore, the acceptable
rate of discharge to the sewer network. Similarly, Lincolnshire County Council (as Lead
Local Flood Authority) have also indicated that a detailed Drainage Strategy is required,
which includes appropriate SuDS techniques.

As such, in the event that the development was deemed to be acceptable in all other
respects, conditions requiring the submission of a detailed surface water drainage strategy,
based on SuDS principles could be applied. Therefore, it is Officers assessment that,
subject to the imposition of conditions, the application proposals would not give rise to any
unacceptable risk of flooding. Consequently, the application would accord with Policy EN5
of the adopted Local Plan and Section 14 of the NPPF.

Biodiversity and Ecology

With regards to the impact of the development proposals on biodiversity and ecology, it is
acknowledged that the previous application was refused due to failing to provide an
appropriate biodiversity net gain or justification for why this cannot be achieved.

In respect of the above, the application is subject to the statutory obligation for all planning
permissions to deliver a minimum 10% biodiversity net gain. The requirement to deliver this
net gain is secured via a statutory pre-commencement condition attached to all permissions.
The application submission includes the mandatory biodiversity metric, which confirms that
the proposed development could achieve a 12.99% net gain through the provision of tree
planting and modified grassland, and additional vegetation within the communal garden.
However, a detailed biodiversity gain plan and Habitat Management and Monitoring Plan
would be required as part of the statutory condition.

Furthermore, it is appreciated that the application site contains vacant buildings which are
in various states of disrepair, including a number of buildings which have exposed roof
trusses. Therefore, the site may provide suitable habitats to support protect species, such
as roosting and commuting bats.

The application has been accompanied by a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Andrew
Chick) (Dated November 2022), which identifies the following key conclusions:

e The site comprises hardstanding and is of negligible ecological value. Overall, the
site is considered to be of low ecological value and the proposals are not likely to
give rise to an adverse ecological impact.

e The search of all of the internal areas and the exterior of the buildings recorded no
evidence of bat activity in the area. The Old School and Little School buildings are
of a construction detail that is regularly utilised by roosting bats, including habitat
associated with the ridge board and ridge tiles, and also with cavities behind timber
features set into the internal walls. The buildings are determined to contain features

68



7.15.5

7.15.6

7.16
7.16.1

7.16.2

7.16.3

a7
717

r17.2

which would classify them as having medium Bat Roost Potential (BRP). However,
the search of all areas has found no evidence of bat use.

e The buildings are clearly being used for nesting by species of common birds. Any
future redevelopment work should ideally avoid the active nesting season. If work
commences during the bird breeding season, a search for nests should be carried
out before commencing work, and active nests should be protected until young
fledge.

In connection with the above, Lincolnshire Wildlife Trust have been consulted on the
application proposals and have not raised any objections. Notwithstanding this, it is noted
that the submitted Preliminary Ecological Appraisal was completed 2 years ago, and
therefore, the findings of the survey are no longer valid. Similarly, it is also appreciated that
a number of works, including the exposure of the roofs of buildings, have been carried out
at the site since the original assessment was completed. As such, in the event that the
development was deemed to be acceptable in all other respects, it would be necessary for
an updated Preliminary Ecological Assessment to be carried out and the results submitted
to the LPA, together with a detailed scheme for ecological mitigation, including bat and bird
boxes. These details would be secured as a pre-commencement condition.

Taking the above into account, it is Officers assessment that, subject to the imposition of
conditions, the proposed development would result in a biodiversity net gain, and would not
result in any unacceptable ecology impacts. As such, the proposed development would be
in accordance with Policy EN2 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan, and Section 15
of the National Planning Policy Framework.

Ground Conditions

As stated previously, it is appreciated that the application site comprises of previously
developed land occupied by the vacant, former Old School buildings, which have been used
for commercial purposes following the closure of the school. As such, the previous uses of
the site have the potential to give rise to sources of ground contamination.

In respect of the above, the Council’s Environmental Protection Team have been consulted
on the application proposals and have confirmed that they have no objections to the
development, subject to the imposition of conditions requiring the submission of a
Contaminated Land Assessment and Construction Management Plan.

As such, subject to the imposition of conditions, the proposed development would be in
accordance with Policy EN4 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan and Section 15 of
the National Planning Policy Framework.

Climate Change

It is noted that the Design, Access and Planning Statement which accompanies the
application states “the applicant is intending on making the development as eco-friendly and
energy efficient as possible in order to comply with this condition of the Local Plan. However,
the application submission does not include any detailed Sustainability Assessment of the
scheme, and as a result has not demonstrated how the proposed development would
comply with the requirements of Policy SB1 of the Local Plan.

Nonetheless, it is Officers assessment that this could be appropriately addressed through
the imposition of conditions requiring the submission of further details of sustainable building

69



7.17.3

7.18
7.18.1

7.18.2

7.18.3

7.19
7.19.1

7.19.2

7.19.3

7.19.4

7.19.5

measures, including the identification of electric vehicle charging points within the proposed
parking area.

Therefore, subject to the imposition of conditions securing further details of sustainable
building measures, the proposals would be in accordance with Policy SB1 of the adopted
Local Plan.

Impact on archaeological assets

Heritage Lincolnshire (as Local Archaeological Advisors) have been consulted on the
application proposals and have confirmed that they have no objections, subject to the
imposition of conditions requiring the submission of a Written Scheme of Investigation,
requiring the submission of a written scheme of investigation, requiring an historic building
recording survey prior to the demolition and alteration of the existing buildings.

Similarly, Grantham Civic Society have also confirmed that they have no objection to the
application proposals. However, they have also requested a photographic and measured
building survey of the former school buildings, as well as the retention of the historic name
boards.

It is Officers assessment that these matters could be appropriately addressed through the
imposition of conditions. As such, subject to the imposition of pre-commencement
conditions for the completion of the building survey, together with details of a scheme of
mitigation to include the relocation of the historic name boards, the proposal would accord
with Policy EN6 and Section 16 of the Framework in respect of archaeological matters.

Infrastructure for Growth

Policy ID1 (Infrastructure for Growth) states that all development proposals will be expected
to demonstrate that there is, or will be, sufficient infrastructure capacity to support and meet
the essential infrastructure requirements arising from the proposed development. Where
financial evidence is provided that indicates the provision of infrastructure along with
affordable housing and other policy requirements affects the delivery of an individual
scheme the Council will consider prioritising provision.

In this respect, the Lincolnshire Integrated Care Board (LICB) have been consulted on the
application and have confirmed that the proposed development would result in a
requirement to increase capacity within the local healthcare network. As such, they have
requested a Section 106 contribution of £32,670.00 to contribute towards expanding
healthcare provision within the K2 Healthcare Grantham and Rural Primary Care Network.

In addition, Lincolnshire County Council (as Local Education Authority) have been consulted
on the application and have not submitted any request for financial contributions.

Furthermore, Lincolnshire County Council (as Local Highways Authority) have requested
financial contributions towards the implementation of the Grantham Transport Strategy. As
outlined above, at the time of writing, there is currently insufficient evidence to demonstrate
that the requested contributions would meet the statutory CIL Regulations. In particular, the
information provided as part of the LHA’s comments does not sufficiently demonstrate that
the requested contributions are necessary to mitigate the impacts of the development and
proportionate to the scale of development proposed.

In addition, the application scheme would also generate a requirement for the provision of
20% affordable housing to be provided on site.

70



7.19.6

7.19.7

10
10.1

10.2

10.3

However, as detailed above, the Applicant has provided a Financial Viability Assessment,
which concluded that the scheme cannot support affordable housing or infrastructure
contributions without undermining the viability of the development. The Viability Assessment
has been the subject of independent review, and this has verified the results of the
Applicant’'s assessment.

Therefore, it is concluded that the scheme cannot support any planning obligations, and as
such, the application is in accordance with Policy H2 and ID1 of the adopted South Kesteven
Local Plan.

Crime and Disorder

It is concluded that the proposals would not result in any significant crime and disorder
implications.

Human Rights Implications

Article 6 (Rights to fair decision making) and Article 8 (Right to private family life and home)
of the Human Rights Act have been taken into account in making this recommendation. It is
concluded that no relevant Article of the Act will be breached in making this decision.

Planning Balance and Conclusions

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that the Local
Planning Authority makes decisions in accordance with the adopted Development Plan,
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. In this respect, it is appreciated that the
current application is a revised submission of application ref: S23/0882, which was refused
by the Local Planning Authority in August 2023 for reasons relating to: (i) the impact of the
development on the character and appearance of the area and the amenity of future
occupants of the development; (ii) the harm to the Old School House as a non-designated
heritage asset; (iii) the absence of a biodiversity net gain; and (iv) the absence of a Section
106 Agreement to secure necessary infrastructure improvements and affordable housing.
In this respect, the LPA’s assessment of the previous application remains a relevant material
consideration, subject to appropriate consideration of any material changes to the proposed
development or planning policy in the intervening period.

The current application has sought to address the previous reason(s) for refusal through
revisions to the design of the proposed development, together with the submission of
additional technical evidence. The submitted additional documentation, together with the
introduction of the statutory biodiversity net gain condition, have been sufficient to overcome
the reasons for refusal relating to absence of a biodiversity net gain and the absence of a
Section 106 Agreement for infrastructure improvements and affordable housing.

With regards to the revisions to the design of the scheme, the Council’s Urban Design
Officer has confirmed that the scheme is substantially improved, and the new build elements
are not more reflective of a traditional Victorian terrace. The Urban Design Officer and
Conservation Officer have raised concerns that the proposed fenestration, detailing and
materials would fail to respect the streetscape and the significance of the retained school
house. In particular, they have advised that material salvaged from the demolition of the
Infant School Building and decorative features from these buildings should be re-used as
part of the new built elements of the scheme. As set out above, it is the Case Officer’s
assessment that these matters can be appropriately secured through planning conditions.

71



10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

As such, it is the Case Officers’ assessment that, on balance, the application proposals
would provide an acceptable appearance, layout and scale which would ensure that the
development scheme integrates positively with the character and appearance of the
surrounding built form, such that it appropriately addresses the previous reason for refusal
relating to the impact on the character of the area. Consequently, it is the Case Officers’
position that the application scheme would accord with Policy DE1 and EN1 of the adopted
South Kesteven Local Plan, the adopted Design Guidelines SPD, and Section 12 of the
Framework

Notwithstanding this, the application scheme proposes the demolition of the former Infant
Hall, which as a matter of principle, would result in substantial harm to the significance of
this non-designated heritage asset. Whilst it is appreciated that these buildings could be
demolished under the permitted development rights set out within Part 11: Class B of the
Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015, it is
Officers’ assessment that the weight to be attributed is minimal due to the limited evidence
to suggest that these rights would be exercised. Nonetheless, in accordance with the
requirements of Policy EN6 of the Local Plan and Paragraph 215 of the Framework, a
balanced judgement is required having regard to the scale of harm or loss and the
significance of the asset.

In this respect, it is the Case Officer’s assessment that, on balance, the level of demolition
proposed has been justified as the minimum required to all for the viable re-development of
the site; having regard for the benefits of also enabling the provision of a scheme which
includes on-site amenity space and vehicular parking.

Furthermore, the application proposals would result in the provision of 60 dwellings within a
sustainable location for growth within the District and would provide a substantial
contribution towards the Council’s housing land supply. The Council’'s most recent published
Annual Position Statement 2023 confirmed that the Local Planning Authority could
demonstrate a 5.01 year housing land supply until 315t October 2024. The Council have not
published a further Annual Position Statement, and it is acknowledged that the revised
National Planning Policy Framework (December 2024) has subsequently increased the
Council’'s housing requirements from 650 dwellings per annum to 895 dwellings per annum.
In this context, it is the Case Officer’'s assessment that the provision of additional housing is
a significant benefit that should be attributed substantial weight.

In addition, the proposals would also generate economic benefits associated with the
construction of the proposed development, and the potential for increased patronage of local
services and facilities by future occupants of the proposed development, which may
increase the vitality of these services.

Taking the above into account, It is Officers’ assessment that the public benefits associated
with the provision of 60 dwellings within the main built-up area of Grantham would outweigh
the substantial harm caused to the significance of the non-designated former school
buildings that would result from the demolition of the former Infant School House. As such,
the application proposals accord with Policy EN6 of the adopted Local Plan and Section 16
of the Framework, subject to conditions relating to large scale details and the use of
salvaged material.

Taking all of the above into account, it is the Case Officer's assessment that the application
proposals would accord with the adopted Development Plan, when taken as a whole, and

72



11

the material considerations in this case also weigh in favour of planning permission being
granted; although appropriate conditions are recommended.

Recommendation

To authorise the Assistant Director — Planning & Growth to GRANT planning permission,
subject to the proposed schedule of conditions detailed below.

73



Schedule of Condition(s)

Time Limit for Commencement

1) The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of three years
from the date of this permission.

Reason: In order that the permission is commenced in a timely manner, as set out in Section
91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

Approved Plans

2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following list
of approved plans:

a. Proposed Block Plan (Ref: 21-107-001)
b. Proposed Elevations Plan — Block A, B and D — Part 1 (Ref: 21-107-006/Rev A)
c. Proposed Elevations Plan — Block A, B and D — Part 2 (Ref: 21-107-007/Rev A)
d. Proposed Elevations Plan — Block C (Ref: 21-107-005/Rev A)
e. Proposed Ground Floor Plans (Ref: 21-107-002)
f. Proposed First Floor Plans (Ref: 21-107-003/Rev A)
g. Proposed Second Floor Plans (Ref: 21-107-004)
Unless otherwise required by another condition of this permission.
Reason: To define the permission and for the avoidance of doubt.

Before the Development is Commenced

Meeting All Housing Needs
Part M4(2) Dwellings

3) Before any part of the development hereby permitted is commenced, a plan indicating the
provision of 10% of the dwellings as being Accessible and Adaptable in line with the standard
set out in Part M4(2) of the Building Regulations shall have been submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Thereafter, the development shall be completed in accordance with the approved details and
the dwellings shall be retained as such for the lifetime of the development.

Reason: To ensure that the development meets the needs of all future residents as required
by Policy H4 of the adopted Local Plan.

Design Quality and Visual Impact

Large Scale Details

4) No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced, until large scale details
of all external features (including fenestration, brickwork embellishment, dormer detailing and
materials, and eaves detailing) have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.

74



Thereafter, the development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details
prior to first occupation.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development in accordance with Policy
DE1 (Promoting Good Quality Design) and to minimise the harm to a non-designated heritage
asset in accordance with Policy EN6 (The Historic Environment) of the adopted South
Kesteven Local Plan.

Heritage and Archaeology

Written Scheme of Investigation — Building Recording

5) Before any part of the development hereby permitted is commenced, a Written Scheme of
Archaeological Investigation (WSI) shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. The submitted WSI shall include details of a Level 3 Historic
Building Recording as defined by Historic England (Understanding Historic Buildings) for any
structures to be demolished prior to any works being undertaken and for the retention of the
former school notice boards.

Thereatfter, all works on site shall be carried out in accordance with the approved WSI.

Reason: In order to provide a reasonable opportunity to record the historic of the site and in
accordance with Policy EN6 (The Historic Environment) of the adopted South Kesteven Local
Plan.

Residential Amenity

Demolition Method Statement & Construction Management Plan

6) No works pursuant to this permission, including demolition of buildings hereby permitted, until
a Demolition Method Statement and Construction and Environmental Management Plan has
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The submitted
Plan and Statement shall include measures to mitigate the adverse impacts of noise, dust
and vehicular movements during the demolition and construction stages of the permitted
development. The submitted document shall include:

The phasing of the development, to include demolition phasing and build routes.

S

Construction, demolition and delivery hours

The parking of all vehicles of site operatives and visitors

a o

The on-site loading and unloading of all plant and materials.
e. The on-site storage of all plant and materials used in constructing the development

f. The routing of all vehicles associated with the demolition and construction activities of
the development.

g. Wheel washing facilities

h. A strategy stating how surface water runoff on and from the development will be
managed during construction, and protection measures for any sustainable drainage
features. This should include drawing(s) showing how the drainage systems
(temporary or permanent) connect to an outfall (temporary or permanent) during
construction.

75



i. A method statement for how demolition and removal works of the existing buildings
will be undertaken.

J.  Ecological Management Plan, including appointment of an Ecological Clerk of Works,
and the implementation of Natural England licences as required.

Thereafter, the Demolition Method Statement shall be strictly adhered to throughout the
demolition period.

The Construction Management Plan shall be strictly adhered to throughout the construction
period.

Reason: To minimise the effects of the demolition and construction activities on the
residential amenity of neighbouring properties and the public highway and protected species.

Flood Risk and Drainage

Surface Water Drainage Strategy

7) Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, a scheme for the treatment of
surface water drainage shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The scheme shall:

a. Be based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the hydrological
and hydrogeological context of the development

b. Provide flood exceedance routing for storm events greater than the 1 in 100 year
event.

c. Provide details of how runoff will be safely conveyed and attenuated during storms up
to and including the 1 in 100 year critical storm event with an allowance for climate
change, from all hard surface areas within the development into the existing drainage
infrastructure and watercourse system without exceeding the runoff rate for the
undeveloped site.

d. Provide attenuation details and discharge rates which shall be restricted

e. Provide details of the timetable for and any phasing of the implementation of the
drainage scheme; and

f. Provide details of how the scheme shall be maintained and managed over the lifetime
of the development, including any arrangements for adoption by any public body or
Statutory Undertaker, and any other arrangement required to secure the operation of
the drainage system throughout its lifetime.

Thereafter, no dwelling shall be occupied until the approved scheme has been completed or
provided on site in accordance with the approved phasing. The approved scheme shall be
retained and maintained in full, in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure that the permitted development is adequately drained without creating or
increasing flood risk to land or property adjacent to, or downstream of, or upstream of, the
permitted development.

Pollution Control

Ground Investigation

76



8) No works pursuant to this permission shall commence, unless otherwise agreed in writing by
the Local Planning Authority, until there have been submitted to and approved in writing:

a. A desk top study documenting all the previous and existing land uses of the site and
adjacent land (Phase |);

Should the Phase | Study identify potentially contaminative land uses, the Applicant shall
provide to a Phase 2 site investigation detailed below:

b. A site investigation report assessing the ground conditions of the site and incorporating
chemical and gas analysis identified as appropriate by the desk top study; and if
required

c. A detailed scheme for remediation works (should such works be required) and
measures to be undertaken to avoid risk from contaminants and / or gases when the
site is developed and proposals for future maintenance and monitoring. Such a
scheme shall include the nomination of a competent person to oversee the
implementation of the works.

Reason: Previous activities associated with this site may have caused, or had the potential
to cause, land contamination and to ensure that the proposed site investigation and
remediation will not cause pollution in the interests of the amenities of future residents and
users of the development; and in accordance with Local Plan Policy EN4 (Pollution Control)

Biodiversity / Ecology

Ecological Assessment and Mitigation

9) Notwithstanding the submitted documentation, no works pursuant to this permission shall be
commenced until an up-to-date Ecological Impact Assessment, including the results of any
necessary protected species surveys, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The submitted Ecological Impact Assessment must include a
Biodiversity Mitigation and Enhancement Scheme, including a scheme for the provision of
bat and bird boxes as part of the development scheme.

The submitted Mitigation and Enhancement Scheme shall include a plan identifying the
location of any mitigation and enhancement, along with a detailed scheme (and technical
details of each of the proposed measures.

Thereafter, the required mitigation and enhancement measures shall be completed in full in
accordance with the agreed scheme, prior to the first occupation of the development.

Reason: In the interests of best ecological practice and in accordance with Policy EN2 of the
adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

During Building Works

Design Quality and Visual Impact

Materials Details — salvaged material

10)Following the demolition works hereby approved, but prior to the commencement of any
works for the development of the replacement structures, a detailed specification of the
material to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the development hereby
permitted shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The

77



submitted specification shall include large scale details of the use salvaged materials from
the demolition of the former building.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development in accordance with Policy
DE1 (Promoting Good Quality Design) of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

Climate Change

Sustainable Construction

11)No development above damp-proof course shall take place until details demonstrating how
the proposed development would comply with the requirements of Policy SB1 have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall
include details of how carbon dioxide emissions would be minimised through the design and
construction of the development, details of water efficiency; and provision of electric car
charging infrastructure.

The approved sustainable building measures shall be completed in full, in accordance with
the agreed scheme, prior to the first occupation hereby permitted.

Reason: To ensure that the development mitigates against, and adapts to, climate change in
accordance with Policy SB1 of the South Kesteven Local Plan.

Before the Development is Occupied

Design Quality and Visual Impact

Materials Implementation

12)Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied, the external elevations
shall have been completed in accordance with the materials details approved by Condition
10 above.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development in accordance with Policy
DE1 (Promoting Good Quality Design) of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

Boundary Treatment Implementation

13)Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied, the works to provide the
boundary treatments for the site as shown on the approved plans shall have been completed
in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development in accordance with Policy
DE1 (Promoting Good Quality Design) of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

Pollution Control

Verification Report

14)Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied, where remediation is
required by Condition 8 above, a verification report shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The report shall have been submitted by the agreed
competent person and identify that the approved remedial works have been implemented.
The report shall include, unless otherwise agreed in writing:

a. A complete record of remediation activities, and data collected, as identified in the
remediation scheme to support compliance with the agreed remediation objectives.

78



b. Photographs of the remediation works in progress; and

c. Certificates demonstrating that imported and / or material left in situ is free from
contamination.

Thereafter, the scheme shall be monitored and maintained in accordance with the approved
remediation scheme.

Reason: Previous activities associated with this site may have caused, or had the potential
to cause, land contamination and to ensure that the proposed site investigation and
remediation will not cause pollution in the interests of the amenities of future residents and
users of the development; and in accordance with Local Plan Policy EN4 (Pollution Control)

79



Standard Note(s) to Applicant

1)

2)

3)

4)

5)

6)

7

In reaching the decision, the Council has worked with the applicant in a positive and proactive
manner by determining the application without undue delay. As such it is considered that the
decision is in accordance with Paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework
(2024).

The effect of paragraph 13 of Schedule 7A to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 is
that planning permission granted for the development of land in England is deemed to have
been granted subject to the condition "(the biodiversity gain condition") that development
may not begin unless:

(a) a Biodiversity Gain Plan has been submitted to the planning authority, and
(b) the planning authority has approved the plan.

The planning authority, for the purposes of determining whether to approve a Biodiversity
Gain Plan if one is required in respect of this permission would be South Kesteven
District Council.

There are statutory exemptions and transitional arrangements which mean that the
biodiversity gain condition does not always apply. These are listed below.

Based on the information available this permission is considered to be one which will
require the approval of a biodiversity gain plan before development is begun because
none of the statutory exemptions or transitional arrangements listed below are
considered to apply.

Anglian Water has assets close to or crossing this site or there are assets subject to an
adoption agreement. Therefore the site layout should take this into account and
accommodate those assets within either prospectively adoptable highways or public open
space. If this is not practicable then the sewers will need to be diverted at the developers
cost under Section 185 of the Water Industry Act 1991. or, in the case of apparatus under
an adoption agreement, liaise with the owners of the apparatus. It should be noted that the
diversion works should normally be completed before development can commence.

Notification of intention to connect to the public sewer under S106 of the Water Industry Act
Approval and consent will be required by Anglian Water, under the Water Industry Act 1991.
Contact Development Services Team 0345 606 6087.

Protection of existing assets - If a public sewer is shown on record plans within the land
identified for the proposed development. It is recommended that the applicant contacts
Anglian Water Development Services Team for further advice on this matter. Building over
existing public sewers will not be permitted (without agreement) from Anglian Water.

Building near to a public sewer - No building will be permitted within the statutory easement
width of 3 metres from the pipeline without agreement from Anglian Water. Please contact
Development Services Team on 0345 606 6087

The developer should note that the site drainage details submitted have not been approved
for the purposes of adoption. If the developer wishes to have the sewers included in a sewer

80



8)

adoption agreement with Anglian Water (under Sections 104 of the Water Industry Act 1991),
they should contact our Development Services Team on 0345 606 6087 at the earliest
opportunity. Sewers intended for adoption should be designed and constructed in
accordance with Sewers for Adoption guide for developers, as supplemented by Anglian
Water’s requirements.

An application to discharge trade effluent must be made to Anglian Water and must have
been obtained before any discharge of trade effluent can be made to the public sewer.
Anglian Water recommends that petrol / oil interceptors be fitted in all car
parking/washing/repair facilities. Failure to enforce the effective use of such facilities could
result in pollution of the local watercourse and may constitute an offence. Anglian Water also
recommends the installation of a properly maintained fat traps on all catering establishments.
Failure to do so may result in this and other properties suffering blocked drains, sewage
flooding and consequential environmental and amenity impact and may also constitute an
offence under section 111 of the Water Industry Act 1991

81



8

Proposed Site Plan

Launder Tamace

[ —— - Soming Baanng S0 0 0 B eatel SRR ALIeNe ey

aoaing

|
|
/

|o nugz

" Gt Prdasdrtan aoose

Lamg Habngdimon W bhe rebemd

/

e i I e i
AR et W tea ) Soanites Sieias

| KA

Al
ErrT ey |
et p - . .
~LER%

L R e ]

Y
SRR SR e

o

A

ety

e

=
=

At




€8

Proposed Elevations Plans

roves e —————

FROPTSI NTaRDGL SOTEASVATION B DO R

P~

T ———

A

=

Yo X g : A A A

~ oA . A A

—ae R
- G
3 v

¥ e

TRCFISSCETASATONA DT DAR NIRTe SL00C S Lacrce Terace R l2T

SRCATRD SAST A ATIDNGEZTN D

MRCFTRD TTRAST VAN NS IO D AT ANTSRTSRASS

SRS SRCTION CLD STa00L

SNFLSEIITONGLDIC LGS

e ———— . —
——— . .

TIATTELLA o Tveasas
e

MLTTL Wil
=

- -0 lpee

Rt L e L
L BITeLRTIZIINITON

ETLTDN DS
SN T=LE
I3 G




78

— oo YTy - S13
e Y X ey,
XX b4 o .
5 P ST A YT YA YA P A e A 8 A B O TN YY VD
v e s s S S I3 I I I LI o LSS0 8000000 86
sssaa e v Bttetasecs 1SS
- eeen ~—
[~ f~—~—vr e
| S vre ot Yy
| e X i
| vy o
e f~~~ o
R brwe s e
e A AN D I M 1
cen VL et b s
(SSSNEt 000800800800
g g P
S~ e nm g
~ i
. - . sesseess
- s mmamhan
v (sosssssesacas
s <y
FROSTISD MWTRRNAL NCETE ARVATON I DOCALD
T T - .
b X

X

e an -

ey
TYYTTY
S SLS6650 0558004 1L

SROSCASDACLUTHSLS LTI L LA

e
S 500000000 80soy
. B e a

vy
4 h
vev ey

. &= T

PRSI NTRRALVESTA S ATONATTIR DA

resssssssesasss
$8854

v
-~ YO
LA A i -

b s ons s

e v AN

X

% X
ey X

T X T 4
- i
adn

NSy




G8

o
Teeesrens o eeeseerenee tanns eere e = Rk i eeeesanen o
poa
X o X e
A\ Ay & i, " LA
’s AdA AL A A, A,
h o4 o ' 4
o s » s A
A, -
X oo X
'

NOETE SL000 L Laonde Tevace FRLAS LI OO

ANPE ERCTON RLoCKD

SROSCISD MRST SAVATIONA.TON T

JITIII
e v‘rv‘- 4

BLOCKC

~Aorce Termace

sceigsplnne

HEEIRIIRIR IR b




98

Proposed Ground Floor Plan

s T L .ﬂi:u el T Ll el 1) _--xTn'é:l=IEL e 4
e - - -
- —_ —_ C lllll&lll.m..ﬂiﬂ‘:EE R
— — - - — WELEE 0N 400 R LB
. — . : gepE@EEE noEn =
T RITITRESTHTREAT
A2 =1 -4 - | e Ho e
) = N - - - — i Siaad

gl

¥ O

|

EeaT Rl O aocor S

PROPOSED GROUND FLODR PLAN

%E,-r.e:{:-

Twme— w1 L

ERZATINT DEZ_AI R IIEE a3




Agenda Iltem 6

SOUTH Planning Committee
KESTEVEN 6 February 2025
DISTRICT

COUNCIL

S24/1822

Proposal: Proposed demolition of Class Q consented barn and erection of a
detached dwelling, hard and soft landscaping and formation of a re-
wilding Zone

Location: Wildwood, Nightingale Lane, Aisby, NG32 3NE

Applicant: J King and P Kermeen

Agent: Mr John Dickie, John Dickie Associates, 5 Victor Way, Cherryholt
Road, Bourne

Application Type: Full Planning Permission

Reason for Referral to | Call In — Councillor Sarah Trotter due to concerns about visual

Committee: intrusiveness/impact

Key Issues: Impacts on the character of the area
Impacts on amenity
Highway safety/parking
Drainage/flood risk

Report Author

Miranda Beavers — Senior Development Management Planner
[ 01476 406302

2% Miranda.beavers@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type:

Growth ‘ Regulatory ’ Lincrest

Reviewed by: Adam Murray — Principal Development Management
Planner
Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

To authorise the Assistant Director — Planning to GRANT planning permission, subject to
conditions

29 January 2025

87


mailto:Miranda.beavers@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1

S24/1822 — Wildwood, Aisby

108 NOLLY O VS5 LWT00 VT O Rawex)
seseper] OV = (0] O | sy
PONC R0 W)

UoemavY g Sy gy s
g uemry - gy Reeng

ANE Ty
wmry qrbmgin FOOROTLY, M ERw iy pewy o ey bary
¥ 9 wmrEre § pur bavdesepury yog poe g AT e PR
30 BREULY P mw ™ {3 ey 0 sy

womompuitepl (1006 SLL0 PL —
1484114 *uT] mEwy
ooy Hony AusyNey, e, §
g by Nanreg paTITL)

w bs 970¢ - NOVUL SSA0V
“ONI VY ALIS NOLLVOI1ddY

FTIA TR0 VLI S WOMS VAN LLINTNY &

J12auibua Buip)in
J&Q’l‘ ‘ T

uzoly %K | CZOT/RVR T PasTYamy amua) dujy [reoney 1961 £0001 SO §T0T SyFu sseqerep pur wFaido ) umox) wn m U WM .

Oy YN

-

88



1.1

2.1

4.1

Description of Site

The existing barn comprises a steel framed, wooden clad agricultural building (previously
used for lambing), with pitched roof. There are 16 photovoltaics panels on the south facing
roof slope. The land is situated to the western edge of the village, Aisby. The land lies to the
rear (west) of four detached dwellings which lie to the western side of Green Lane. The
application site is initially accessed from Green Lane via a shared access road along
Nightingale Lane, with the remaining access being located to the north of 'Wildwood'.

Description of Proposal

This application is for the demolition of an existing barn and erection of a detached dwelling,
hard and soft landscaping (including access way) and creation of re-wilding zone. The
replacement dwelling in this instance is recognised as being smaller in scale than the
dwelling that was applied for and refused under S23/1913 and again under S24/1291.These
applications were refused for the following reason:

1) The proposed development would result in the erection of a new building dwelling within
an area identified as being Open Countryside, and there is no demonstrable need for the
dwelling to be located in this location contrary to Policy SP5 of thee adopted Local Plan.
Whilst the site benefits from a fallback position, which has established the principle of a
single dwelling on the site, the application proposals would result in a form of development
which would be harmful to the character and appearance of the area, and would not
represent a betterment when assessed against the fallback position. As such, the
application proposals are contrary to Policy SP5 and DEL1 of the adopted South Kesteven
Local Plan, the Design Guidelines SPD (Adopted November 2021), and Section 12 of the
National Planning Policy Framework (2023). The material considerations in this case,
including the betterment provided by the proposed rewilding area would not outweigh the
conflict with the adopted development plan.

Relevant History

e S22/1235 Conversion of existing agricultural building (sited to the northern boundary
of Wildwood) into a single dwelling, with the provision & insertion of new windows
and roof windows to provide natural light to all habitable rooms
Approved Details Not Required (with conditions) 05/08/2022

e S23/1913 Demolition of existing barn and erection of a detached dwelling, detached
storage building and formation of a re-wilding zone.

Refused 31/01/2024
Appeal in Progress

e S24/1291 Proposed demolition of Class Q consented barn and erection of a
detached dwelling, garaging, hard and soft landscaping and formation of a re-wilding
Zone.

Refused 13/08/2024

Policy Considerations

SKDC Local Plan 2011 - 2036

89



4.2

4.3

5.1
5.1.1

5.1.2

5.1.3

5.2
5.2.1

5.3

Policy SD1 ‘The Principles of Sustainable Development in South Kesteven’
Policy SP1 ‘Spatial Strategy’

Policy SP2 ‘Settlement Hierarchy’

Policy SP5 ‘Development in the Open Countryside’

Policy SB1 ‘Sustainable Building’

Policy DE1 ‘Promoting Good Design’

Policy ID2 ‘“Transport and Strategic Transport Infrastructure’

Policy EN1 Landscape Character

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

Chapter 4 ‘Decision Making’

Chapter 5 ‘Delivering a sufficient supply of homes’

Chapter 9 ‘Promoting sustainable transport’

Chapter 12 ‘Achieving well-designed places’

Chapter 14 ‘Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change’
Chapter 15 ‘Conserving and enhancing the natural environment’

Supplementary Planning Document:

Design Guidelines for Rutland and South Kesteven (November 2021)

Representations received

LCC Highways & SuDS
No objections subject to conditions.

The lane serving the property is a private road, and the highway authority has no jurisdiction
over the use of this road. With regard to this application, we have considered the safety and
impact of these proposals on Green Lane and its junction with the private lane. It is for the
Local Planning Authority to determine whether the access provided by the private road is
safe and suitable for all users. The junction of the private lane and Green Lane remains
unchanged and parking has been provided in line with the guidance set out in Lincolnshire
County Councils Design Approach and turning space has been provided within the limits of
the site to allow vehicles to enter and leave in a forward gear and therefore, it is considered
that this proposal would not result in an unacceptable impact upon highway safety

Access to the application site is gained via the track over which a public right of way passes.
The surface of the public footpath should not be disturbed without the consent of the
Highway Authority. The legal alignment of the public footpath should remain open and
available for public use. It is expected that there will be no encroachment, either permanent
or temporary, onto the right of way as a result of the proposal. The proposed works shall not
pose any dangers or inconvenience to the public using the right of way. No additional
structures (i.e gates) should be erected on the surface of the public footpath without the
prior consent of the Highway Authority.

Lincolnshire Wildlife Trust

| like the separation of the vegetated garden and neutral grassland. As long as these two
sites remain distinct with the latter maintained to the appropriate condition | feel this would
be appropriate implementation of the metric.

Heydour Parish Council

90



5.3.1

5.4
5.4.1
5.5
5.5.1

6.1

7.1.3

At Heydour PC meeting held on the 10th September it was resolved that the Council submit
that they have * No comment’ on the application S24/1291.

Environmental Protection
No objections subject to conditions
Historic England

No objections.

Representations as a Result of Publicity

This application has been advertised in accordance with the Council's Statement of
Community Involvement and 7 letters of representation have been received, comments are
summarised:

Three No. Letters of Objections:
a) A single-track lane is the only access, also used for BE equestrian events and dog
walkers, not suitable as road for a family home.
b) Lightintrusion from car headlights on access road to and from the property, impacting
neighbour residential amenities
c) Overlooking and loss of privacy to existing adjacent occupiers

Four No. Letters of Support (non-local addresses):

a) Barely impinges/impacts on the view from neighbouring property as would be
screened mature by trees;

b) Itis energy efficient — much ‘greener’ than converting the lambing shed

c) The present structure does not lend itself to redevelopment. New build is more
energy efficient.

Evaluation

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that the Local
Planning Authority makes decisions in accordance with the adopted Development Plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

In this case, the Development Plan comprises of the following documents:
e South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (Adopted January 2020);

The Local Planning Authority have adopted a Design Guidelines Supplementary Planning
Document (Adopted November 2021) and this document is a material consideration in the
determination of planning applications.

The policies and provisions set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) ("the
Framework") (Published December 2024) are also a relevant material consideration in the
determination of planning applications.

It is acknowledged that the Local Planning Authority are in the process of conducting a Local
Plan Review. The Regulation 18 consultation on the draft Plan was carried out between
February and April 2024. At this stage, the policies contained within the draft Plan Review
can be attributed very little weight in the determination of planning applications.

91



7.1.5

7.2
7.2.1

1.2.2

r.2.3

r.2.4

7.3

However, the updated evidence base which accompanies the ongoing Plan Review is a
material consideration and must be taken into account in the determination of planning
applications.

In respect of the current development proposals, it is noted that prior approval has been
granted for the conversion of existing agricultural building (sited to the northern boundary of
Wildwood) into a single dwelling, with the provision and insertion of new windows and roof
windows to provide natural light to all habitable rooms via planning application reference:
S22/1235. This prior approval remains extant and capable of implementation and, therefore,
it is a material consideration in the assessment of the current proposals. Similarly, the
previous refusals for a replacement dwelling in lieu of the Class Q fallback position are also
a material consideration in the determination of the application.

Principle of Development

In this instance, this site is located beyond the settlement boundaries of Aisby and is
considered to be in the open countryside and relevant the policy for this location is SP5.
This policy seeks to limit development to that related to agriculture, forestry or equine, rural
diversification, replacement dwellings or conversion of existing buildings. In this case, the
proposed development would not form one of the identified acceptable forms of
development within the Open Countryside and, therefore, would be contrary to Policy SP5
of the adopted Local Plan, and would be contrary to the overall principles of the spatial
strategy.

Whilst this proposal does not fall within any of these categories, a significant material
consideration is the extant prior approval granted under Class Q. Case law has established
that an existing planning permission (granted using Permitted Development Rights under
Part 3 (Change of Use) Class Q of the GDPO) can be used as a 'fall back' position to gain
planning permission for an alternate scheme.

This current application is for the demolition of the existing barn and erection of 1 detached
dwelling, hard and soft landscaping and formation of a re-wilding zone. The proposed
development would result in the provision of 1 dwelling on the site, resulting in the removal
of the existing steel framed, timber clad barn and is considered would be no less sustainable
in terms of its location than the extant Class Q approval. The extant Class Q permission
(S22/1235) was approved on the 8 August 2022 and therefore the development is required
to be completed by the 22 August 2025. This gives the Applicants less than 7 months to
complete the conversion works before the existing permission expires. It is the Officers
assessment that this time constraint weakens the weight that can be attributed to the
realistic prospect of the fall-back position taking place.

Taking the above into account, the proposed development would involve the erection of a
single dwelling on land situated within the Open Countryside and would not form one of the
acceptable forms of development in such locations. As such, the application proposals
would be contrary to Policy SP5 of the adopted Local Plan. However, it is acknowledged
that the application site benefits from prior approval for the formation of a single dwelling on
the site, and this deemed consent remains extant and represents a valid fallback position,
albeit with less weight attributed to it given the time that has now passed since the prior
approval was granted. Notwithstanding this, the principle of development has previously
been deemed to be acceptable.

Impact on the Character of the Area

92



7.3.1

7.3.2

7.3.3

7.3.4

7.3.5

7.3.6

The proposed dwelling would have the appearance of a rectangular modern barn
conversion with contemporary domestic design features such a Zinc roof, timber clad walls
and floor to ceiling feature windows on the principal elevation. The dwelling would have 2
storeys having an overall height of 6.3m. The dwelling would be approximately 192.96 sqm
in floor area (over 2 floors). If the application were to be recommended for approval,
materials details could be secured by way of an appropriately worded condition.

The existing barn, which has planning permission to be converted into a house (S22/1235)
has an existing height of 5.8m. The conversion of the barn into a dwelling, as approved
would not comprise an external enlargement to the existing built form and the resultant
dwelling would comprise additional doors and windows to the north, south and east
elevation, whilst a first floor would be formed following the removal of an existing mezzanine
level. The dwelling would have 2 bedrooms on the upper floor. The resultant dwelling would
comprise a floorspace that is larger than 100sqm, but of a lesser scale than 465sgm; the
dwelling would therefore fall to be a 'larger dwellinghouse' for the purposes outlined within
Class Q.

It is accepted that the site is not highly visible from within Aisby village, however the
proposed dwelling would be visible from surrounding land. The supporting Design and
Access Statement states that the "high quality design will enhance the landscape
character". A Contextual Analysis document was submitted with the application which
includes images of other agricultural buildings within the District. There is one example of a
replacement dwelling application that was approved (with a Class Q fall-back position) within
the village of Aisby, however it is not considered that this example is comparable as the
original building in that case was a large grain dryer, as opposed to the much small lambing
shed that would be converted in this case. A further parameter plan demonstrates view of
the site from various vantage points surrounding the site and this helps to understand the
visibility of the site from a wider area.

Notwithstanding the limited contextual analysis, the proposed dwellinghouse (as amended)
would not be significantly larger than if the existing barn were to be converted, as approved.
The dwelling would be greater in height; however, it would occupy a similar footprint to the
existing barn (to be demolished) and is similarly orientated within the site as the Class Q
approval so that the principal elevation is facing south. Much of the residential garden
would be on the northern side, and the access way to the eastern side.

It is the Officers assessment that the scale and siting would not result in greater impact upon
the character and appearance of the area when compared to the fall-back position,
especially given the residential curtilage that is proposed is not greatly extended when
compared to the Class Q approval. It is the Officers assessment that dwelling does
represent a design that would be more suitable than the fall-back proposal within the context
of this site, given the increased thermal efficiency design details of the new dwelling and,
subject to conditions requiring further materials and landscaping specifications it would be
no less in keeping with the local vernacular than the approved conversion.

The site is relatively discreetly located and is not widely visible from surrounding land, as
demonstrated by photographs submitted in the parameters plan. It has been demonstrated
through supporting documents and plans that the design is similar in scale to the approved
scheme and would be a betterment, when compared to the fallback position, within the
context of this rural village location.

93



7.4

7.4.1

7.5
7.6

7.7

7.8

7.9
7.10

7.11

By granting planning permission for a change of use of the land, to be used as residential
garden, it would allow the occupants to benefit from the associated permitted development
rights relating to residential structures, which include the right to construct certain sized
outbuildings and means of enclosure. It is considered that in this instance, given the size
of the land and the site characteristics, the erection of additional built forms or the erection
of boundary treatments surrounding the area, are likely to cause impacts which could be
harmful to the rural character and appearance of the area; as such, it is considered
reasonable to impose an appropriately worded conditions to restrict/remove some of the of
Permitted Development rights under Schedule 2, Part 1 or Part 2.

Class Q case law makes it clear that, where a fallback position exists, authorities should
seek to approve alternative schemes that result in a better planning outcome. In view of the
above, the proposal would result in a betterment when compared to the Class Q fallback
position. In this instance as the scale and design aesthetic of the proposed dwelling, when
compared to the existing permission, would result in an enhanced or better form of
development. It therefore complies with Policy DE1 of South Kesteven Local Plan and the
NPPF (2024) Section 12.

Impact on Residential Amenity

Whilst the proposed development would result in an impact on neighbours’ residential
amenities as a result of the siting of a new dwelling, it is not considered that these impacts
would be any greater than if the existing barn were to be converted as per the existing
permission.

The proposed dwelling would have a maximum ridge height of approximately 6.3m and
would be sufficiently separated from the nearest residential property so it would not harm
residential amenity through being overbearing or causing an unacceptable loss of light or
loss of privacy through overlooking. Any harm to the privacy afforded to neighbouring
properties could be satisfactorily mitigated by requiring appropriate screening boundary
treatments as a condition attached to any permission granted. Taking into account the
concerns regarding light pollution from cars entering and leaving the site via the access
road, although there would be some noise, exhaust emissions and light from vehicle
headlights, the comings and goings generated by a single dwelling are not considered to be
sufficient to justify a refusal of planning permission, especially given the fall back position.

Taking into account the scale and nature of the proposal, and adequate separation
distances, there would be no unacceptable adverse impact on the residential amenities of
the occupiers of adjacent properties in accordance with the NPPF Section 12, and Policy
DEZ1 of the South Kesteven Local Plan.

Highway Safety/Parking

The proposed development would make use of an existing access from Nightingale Lane
and drawings show the ability to turn and manoeuvre within the application site.

Lincolnshire County Council as the Local Highway Authority have given due regard to the
appropriate local and national planning policy guidance and has concluded that the
proposed development is acceptable and accordingly does not wish to object. Taking the
above into account, the application proposals would be in accordance with Local Plan
Policy ID2 and Section 9 of the National Planning Policy Framework

Biodiversity and Ecology

94



7111

7.11.2

7.11.3

711.4

r.12
7121

713
7.13.1

7.13.2

7.13.3

In England Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) became mandatory from 12 February 2024 under
Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as inserted by Schedule 14 of
the Environment Act 2021. This means that developers must deliver a BNG of 10%. This
means that a development will result in more or better natural habitat than there was before
development.

The benefits of the rewilding scheme, combined with the thermal efficiency of the new
dwelling have been taken into consideration and the proposals would, in time, enhance and
promote the Districts biodiversity and geological interest.

For this application the applicant has completed the statutory biodiversity metric. The results
of the base-line survey compared to the proposed development would create a 104.11%
net increase of habitat units and 27.07% increase in hedgerow units across the site.
Lincolnshire Wildlife Trust were consulted with the submitted information, and they have not
raised any objections. Whilst Lincolnshire Wildlife Trust have express that they would ideally
like to see conditions sheets for neutral grassland and more substantial information stating
how net gain would be achieved in the long term, it is Officers assessment that these matters
would be appropriately addressed through the statutory biodiversity condition. This requires
the submission of a Biodiversity Gain Plan prior to the commencement of development, and
also includes a requirement for the submission of appropriate Habitat Management and
Monitoring arrangements.

Consequently, subject to appropriate conditions, it is considered that the proposed
development would be acceptable and in accordance with Policies EN2 of the SKLP and
Section 15 of the NPPF.

Drainage

The site is located in Flood Zone 1, so it is not at unusual risk of flooding from fluvial flooding,
and the site is also identified by the Environment Agency as being at very low risk from
surface water flooding. Lincolnshire County Councils as Lead Flood Authority have also not
raised objections to the proposal. The applicant has stated on the application form that
surface water is to be disposed of to a soakaway, and it is therefore considered that
compliance with the Building Regulations is sufficient to ensure that the proposal does not
increase the risk of flooding elsewhere. In this respect the proposal is therefore in
accordance with the NPPF Section 14: Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding
and coastal change) and Local Plan policy EN5.

Climate Change and Sustainability

In the context of the above, as previously stated, Aisby is identified as a smaller village, with
an absence of plentiful local services and facilities. As such, the characteristics of the
location of the application site means that the scheme would be unlikely to accord with the
overarching sustainability objectives of the Local Plan in respect of minimising the need to
travel and encouraging low carbon travel.

Notwithstanding this, Policy SB1 principally relates to the sustainability credentials of all
development proposals, including residential development, and due to the nature of this
application being for 1 x new dwellings, details of mitigation against and adaptation to
climate change would be required to be provided.

It is therefore considered that these matters and details can be appropriately addressed
through the use of planning conditions, if the application were to be recommended for

95



10
10.1

10.2

10.3

11

approval; requiring the submission of further details in relation to demonstrating how the
proposed dwelling would comply with the requirements of Local Plan Policy SB1, including
details of how carbon dioxide emissions would be minimised through the design and
construction of the building and details of water efficiency and electric car charging points.

Crime and Disorder

It is considered that the proposal would not result in any significant crime and disorder
implications.

Human Rights Implications

Articles 6 (Rights to fair decision making) and Article 8 (Right to private family life and home)
of the Human Rights Act have been taken into account in making this recommendation. It is
considered that no relevant Article of that act will be breached.

Conclusion and Planning Balance

The proposal is for development in the open countryside, and it fails to comply with any of
the rural exception criteria contained within Local Plan Policies SP5. However, prior
approval has been obtained to carry out the conversion of an existing agricultural building
to a residential dwelling via Class Q of the GDPO and therefore a valid Class Q fallback
position exists. This current application is for the erection of 1 detached dwelling, hard and
soft landscaping and formation of a re-wilding zone. The proposed development would
result in the provision of 1 dwelling on the site and would be no less sustainable in terms of
its location than the extant Class Q approval. The extant Class Q permission (S22/1235)
was approved on the 8 August 2022 and therefore the development is required to be
completed by the 22 August 2025. This gives the Applicants less than 7 months to complete
the conversion works before the existing permission expires. It is the opinion of the Officer
that this time constraint further weakens the argument that there is a realistic prospect of
the fall-back position taking place.

Notwithstanding this, the principle of development for a single dwelling on the site has been

established by the class Q fallback. It is the Officers opinion that the planning application,
as submitted, would result in an improved design or better outcome for development of the
site. The benefits of the rewilding scheme, combined with the thermal efficiency of the new
dwelling have been taken into consideration and the proposals would, in time, enhance and
promote the Districts biodiversity and geological interest. The alternative proposal in this
case meets all 3 of the fallback tests, in particular that the proposed development would
result in an overall betterment when compared to the fallback position and therefore the
Council can justify a departure from the local plan policies in this instance.

The proposal would not be harmful to the character of the surrounding area and complies
with Local Plan Policies DE1, and has regard to section 12 of the NPPF. The material
considerations in this case outweigh the above conflicts with policy and the proposal is
therefore recommended for approval subject to conditions.

Recommendation

To authorise the Assistant Director — Planning to GRANT planning permission subject to
conditions.

96



Time Limit for Commencement

1. The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of three years
from the date of this permission.

Reason: In order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set out in Section
91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

Approved Plans

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following list of
approved plans:

i.  Drawing No.JDA 202-0755-LOCATION.001 Location Plan
ii.  Drawing No.JDA 2024-0755-SITE.O01A Proposed Site Plan

iii.  Drawing No.JDA 2024-755-FLOORS-ELEVS.001A Proposed Floor Plans and
Elevations

iv.  Drawing No.JDA 2024-0755-LIGHTING.001Proposed Lighting
Unless otherwise required by another condition of this permission.
Reason: To define the permission and for the avoidance of doubt.

Before the Development is Commenced

3. Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, a scheme relating to the survey of the
land for contamination shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The scheme shall include:

i. A desk top study documenting all the previous and existing land uses of the site and
adjacent land;

ii. A site investigation report assessing the ground conditions of the site and
incorporating chemical and gas analysis identified as appropriate by the desk top
study; and

iii. A detailed scheme for remedial works and measures to be undertaken to avoid risk
from contaminants and/or gases when the site is developed and proposals for future
maintenance and monitoring.

iv.  Shall include the nomination of a competent person to oversee the implementation of
the works.

Reason: Previous activities associated with this site may have caused, or had the potential
to cause, land contamination and to ensure that the proposed site investigations and
remediation will not cause pollution in the interests of the amenities of the future residents
and users of the development; and in accordance with Policies EN2 and EN4 of the adopted
South Kesteven Local Plan and national guidance contained in the NPPF.

During Building Works

4. During construction of the development hereby permitted, the approved Construction
Management Plan October 2024 (Drawing No.JDA/2024/755/CEMP/001) shall be adhered to in
full unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: Hard and soft landscaping and tree planting make an important contribution to the
development and its assimilation with its surroundings and in accordance with Policies DE1, EN3
and OS1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

97



. Before any of the works on the external elevations for the building(s) hereby permitted are begun,
a detailed specification of the materials (including colour of any render, paintwork or colourwash)
to be used in the construction of the external surfaces shall have been submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in accordance with Policy
DEZ1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

. ‘Construction work' shall only be carried out between the hours of 7:30 am to 6:00 pm Monday
to Friday and 9:00 am to 1:00 pm on a Saturday. Construction work shall not be carried out on
Sundays or Public Holidays.

The term 'construction work' shall include mobile and fixed plant/machinery, (e.g., generators)
radios and the delivery of construction materials.

Reason: To prevent disturbance to the amenities of residents living in the locality and in
accordance with Policies EN4 and DEL1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

. During construction work, deliveries of construction materials shall only take place between 8:00
am and 5:00 pm, Monday to Friday and between 9:00 am and 5:00 pm on a Saturday. No
deliveries shall take place on a Sunday or Public Holiday.

Reason: In order to minimise noise impacts on the occupiers of adjacent residential dwellings,
in accordance with Policy DE1 of the South Kesteven Local Plan.

. If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present at the site

then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning
Authority) shall be carried out until a remediation strategy detailing how this contamination will
be dealt with has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
remediation strategy shall be implemented as approved.

Reason: To ensure that the proposed development not cause pollution in the interests of the
amenities of the future residents and users of the development; and in accordance with Local
Plan Policy EN4.

. Before any construction work above ground is commenced, details of any soft landscaping works
shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Details
shall include:

I. planting plans;

ii.  written specifications (including cultivation and other operations associated with plant
and grass establishment);

iii. schedules of plants, noting species, plant sizes and proposed numbers/densities
where appropriate;

Reason: Soft landscaping and tree planting make an important contribution to the development and
its assimilation with its surroundings and in accordance with Policies DE1, EN3 and OS1 of the
adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

Before the Development is Occupied

10.Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied/brought into use, the external

surfaces shall have been completed in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in accordance with Policy
DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

98



11.Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied, a verification report confirming
that remedial works have been completed shall have been submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority should any contaminated land be identified by the above
condition. The report shall have been submitted by the nominated competent person approved,
as required by condition above. The report shall include:

I. A complete record of remediation activities, and data collected as identified in the
remediation scheme, to support compliance with agreed remediation objectives;

. As built drawings of the implemented scheme;

iii. Photographs of the remediation works in progress; and

V. Certificates demonstrating that imported and/or material left in situ is free from
contamination.

The scheme of remediation shall thereafter be maintained in accordance with the approved
scheme.

Reason: Previous activities associated with this site may have caused, or had the potential to
cause, land contamination and to ensure that the proposed site investigations and remediation
will not cause pollution in the interests of the amenities of the future residents and users of the
development; and in accordance with Policies EN2 and EN4 of the adopted South Kesteven
Local Plan and national guidance contained in the NPPF.

12.Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied/brought into use, all hard
landscape and soft landscaping works shall have been carried out in accordance with the
approved hard landscaping details.

Reason: Hard landscaping and tree planting make an important contribution to the development
and its assimilation with its surroundings and in accordance with Policy DE1 of the adopted South
Kesteven Local Plan.

Ongoing

13.Within a period of five years from the first occupation of the final dwelling/unit of the development
hereby permitted, any trees or plants provided as part of the approved soft landscaping scheme,
that die or become, in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority, seriously damaged or
defective, shall be replaced in the first planting season following any such loss with a specimen
of the same size and species as was approved in condition above unless otherwise agreed by
the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure the provision, establishment and maintenance of a reasonable standard of
landscape in accordance with the approved designs and in accordance with Policies DE1, EN3
and OS1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

14. Notwithstanding the provisions of Schedule 2, Part 1, Class A of the Town and Country Planning
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any order revoking, or re-enacting
that Order, with or without modification), no enlargement, improvement or other alteration of the
approved properties, shall be carried out without planning permission first having been granted
by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: The Local Planning Authority considers that further development could cause harm to
the character of the area, and for this reason would wish to control any future development and
in accordance with Policy DE1 (Promoting Good Quality Design) of the adopted South Kesteven
Local Plan.

15. Notwithstanding the provisions of Schedule 2, Part 1, Class E of the Town and Country Planning
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any order revoking, or re-enacting

99



that Order, with or without modification), no buildings etc. incidental to the enjoyment of the
dwellinghouse, shall be constructed without planning permission first having been granted by the
Local Planning Authority.

Reason: The Local Planning Authority considers that further development could cause harm to
the character of the area, and for this reason would wish to control any future development and
in accordance with Policy DE1 (Promoting Good Quality Design) of the adopted South Kesteven
Local Plan.

Informative(s)

1. The effect of paragraph 13 of Schedule 7A to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 is that
planning permission granted for the development of land in England is deemed to have been
granted subject to the condition "(the biodiversity gain condition™) that development may not
begin unless:

(a) a Biodiversity Gain Plan has been submitted to the planning authority, and
(b) the planning authority has approved the plan.

The planning authority, for the purposes of determining whether to approve a Biodiversity Gain
Plan if one is required in respect of this permission would be South Kesteven District Council.

There are statutory exemptions and transitional arrangements which mean that the biodiversity
gain condition does not always apply. These are listed below.

Based on the information available this permission is considered to be one which will require the
approval of a biodiversity gain plan before development is begun because none of the statutory
exemptions or transitional arrangements are considered to apply.

2. The highway improvement works referred to in the above condition are required to be carried out
by means of a legal agreement between the landowner and the County Council, as the Local
Highway Authority. For further guidance please visit our website;
www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/highwaysplanning/works-existing-highway

Highway Informative 08

Please contact the Lincolnshire County Council Streetworks and Permitting Team on 01522
782070 to discuss any proposed statutory utility connections, Section 50 licences and any other
works which will be required within the public highway in association with the development
permitted under this Consent. This will enable Lincolnshire County Council to assist in the
coordination and timings of these works. For further guidance please visit the Highway
Authority’s website via the following link: Traffic Management -
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/traffic-management

100


https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/traffic-management

T0T

APPROVED CLASS Q LAYOUT (S22/1235)

The green fill area represents the extent of
the garden amenity area/residential curtilage

SNAPSHOT FROM THE CONSENTED
CLASS Q SCHEME $22/1235 (NTS)

AMENITY SPACE (SHOWN WITH A
GREEN FILL)

Residential Curtilage New Build

1100 sq m

Class Q Residential Curtilage

1100 sq m



coT

PROPOSED SCHEME S24/1822

AT Ncute ks Fondes waghe plase

Mook 400 RE2 1P Mo
ANT It Susdivn My ™

gt v ah

AL plass il cnbam te HS 108 sl be & acosdan s sl S Nasuad Pos Spec i son
Seppd yng ntt bin dd | de agbened wndor B HITA Newry Condicaivn Scheme. ALl placas bl
b p hid wnd s ried B sccosdence w8 B Coli of Muaiie S Pt HaaS by o paodasd
by CFSE Puscng Gull au be canvied o whes e oo o setarbegund, Bost bosad w davg
poraide of codd Iy wiode AT bas reot @ack abell by et ppnd @ st aporoned i -aased

Pyt AL il kb o a perinaies B sl Japtte we bl pude S oo Suskd
L e e

Wheelis llin wumage. Al S will
o Dennghe furnand 2 B adge of
i adopted bigbasn o cud
dar v

s 8 =
o e SR

- AV Ohagig P
- Poa snomaned

Tive dastmg

Tose phavnmg Sl ity by camud wut betneun Oindor and Maas

Mk ot e ormnanid wpasad of Tests, sdding s 12 30080 (1 20) Eucaase o e Jpd of 0o
st Bl and Sk over B Duns and dides Placs B pla e the Bode, cheniing that e seom s

spnad oot By W him tecosry, sl B sbn of the plastiag b The conwer plasing kgt v
Place the woil o the wew bonal wilh e plasnng s

Faom wmad S plass catldily 1o dicsisste b pochons s e plandng Sobe 1< Shad Specunis von
wll reguin bty e guy g 500 8y of Tes dlbin plassng @il waddelid O provet wind k.

©

Q

oS Q
)

)

PEANTING GENSRAL PLANTING INSTRUCTIONS

v Lo bagedd (ke

AP et S B ipunien ol bkt dacsige goved
tolowe

Costatad Py i of Toss Promtus Mot s - i daqand

(movp
ML A

e

ol
Ll A4

. Batiow plamtng, tome v ) - foriudle et s bun snd casitally e any baly

Mt i oo sl bl iud wih e e w Trss Candilly maws s wananed.
gl packing seand cvondy osad reots of oot bell sad hed widl

Wane plann dunonghly wmscdisnly W plascing, s o Sa rine

mndanly 8% pladsyg Sada camibdh Gl bl sy Jasiged Sad A bvainad
Draaten sd rims sny vk, Sin o caliuued grrets Wien and o R veton

Al planing ok sadon b el w o Dne 338 it spgeeved cambon wnd oo

Al S bl Bowd o £ caid 0 % adeitidy pretated batay wuite .
All Gacing will e cteond and ppraved a vanddle JON e ommuncoras of -
Lt o Ta sl WK My T Sen ] sl elig cialha ol e gy

o St Duce b o Bu s b wnaond Sy will mat be msoved o sl
wited prs cosaluton wiih B stocoduad advies o Bu SKIC T O
o Trve wedearos bine busn dorvbagud snd uinifod @ avedans i O
Vicstmwnots of BESEET 2012 “Tises in Rebain 0 divign, Senud ke sod
conttaten etedug et sine Llslen od Rt Praocss A

MARCINAL PLANTING TO MOND
Slurgiad plastug 3ol e o of D puside sbonj S aes o st ki

12 o B prondisencs Slag Mo, 12 w0 Cultha pobemis (Mand sacguddy
12 0 Verunies Succabunga Slmdibad) 12 30 Lytuus whowts | Puple
[ ]

Plass s speciun goosps of 6 4 por

NALIVE EDGE MIX 1O CORNERS OF POND

15 80 Conme snpuinn | Dogmand). 15 50 Vil apaii | Ganller rose )
s st Ssnplass & | caats Qagputod Lsiion 3 el Woiwt prepe
Abow S | o 750 e o 100 e S Acas’ Tabeo w30 ook px

Sabalwed Gravel

e b it & A e Bee iVt

Tika Cordata - Sn
$-10cay UG

Sl A ey b

Quascas Robex - 1

Wl Nise

Sochun Ara
Wihebexn



€0t

Proposed Elevations and Floor Plans

]

[

PROPOSED FRONT ELEVATION PROPOSED REAR ELEVATION

anthracite grey aluminium
windows and doors

e
A
1 I|I|

vertical oak boarding

two courses of rad facings

T
nm) ®

PROPOSED SIDE ELEVATION PROPOSED SIDE ELEVATIONM




¥01




Proposed Elevations and Floor Plans

PROPOSED FRONT ELEVATION PROPOSED REAR ELEVATION

Approved Design Under Class Q 522/1822

||||!||||Lm -

LINR [EIHIED

Existing North Elevation (1.100) Existing West Elevation (1100 Proposed North Elevation (1-900)

105



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda ltem 7

SOUTH Planning Committee
KESTEVEN 6 February 2025
DISTRICT

COUNCIL

S24/1719
Proposal: Change of use of outbuilding to single dwelling
Location: 1 Albert Road
Stamford
Lincolnshire
PE9 2EA
Applicant: Mrs Heather Heath
Agent: James Turley
Application Type: Full Planning Permission
Reason for Referral to  Councillor Call-in
Committee:
Key Issues: Impact on the character and appearance of the area
Impact on neighbours’ residential amenities
Highway Safety

Impact on heritage assets
Technical Documents:

Report Author

Hannah Noutch Development Management Planner
E 01476 406080

& H.Noutch@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type:

Growth ‘ Regulatory ’ Viking

Reviewed by: Phil Jordan, Development Management &
Enforcement Manager
Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

107

28 January 2025



mailto:H.Noutch@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1

To authorise the Assistant Director — Planning & Growth to GRANT planning permission,
subject to conditions.

108



Asepunog
uonedddy

e

wgy

xogJapa

ok

Caal el

)Y

._.m.u.E...m |3l Pd.Zt
(g4
abpug
wagy PUEBIZM J2AIY
5 L & sE
0t £t e
_ﬁa%,oa

FIvd 3qiSHIAR

7 ]

0loig

|

109



Description of Site

The application site is located adjacent to the River Welland, to the southern end of Albert
Road in Stamford. No.1 Albert Road is an end terrace property that hosts a single storey
outbuilding within the rear amenity space. The outbuilding was deemed lawful
development under application S18/1988. This outbuilding is the subject of this planning
application. The outbuilding was the subject of a householder planning application under
S21/1235, where it was permitted to allow the construction of a balcony to the south of the
outbuilding.

Description of Proposal

The proposal relates to changing the use of the outbuilding into a dwellinghouse. The
access for the dwelling would be via an existing passageway between No.1 and No.2
Albert Road. The resulting access and amenity space for No.1 Albert Road would be the
existing side access and garden space to the south of No.1 Albert Road.

Relevant History
o S21/2225 - Change of use of outbuilding to single dwelling - Withdrawn

e S21/1235 — Householder planning application - Construction of balcony to south
elevation of outbuilding — Approved Conditionally

e S19/0543 — Full planning application - Erection of a single storey dwelling -
Withdrawn

e S18/1988 — Lawful Development Certificate - Erection of single storey outbuilding —
Lawful Development

e S17/2217 - Lawful Development Certificate - Lawful Development Certificate for the
erection of an outbuilding to be utilised for purposes incidental to the enjoyment of
the dwelling house — Unlawful Development — Appeal dismissed

e S16/2381 — Lawful Development Certificate - Lawful Development Certificate
relating to the proposed erection of ancillary outbuilding within curtilage of a
dwelling house — Unlawful Development — Appeal dismissed

e S16/1895 — Lawful Development Certificate — Lawful Development Certificate
relating to the proposed erection of ancillary outbuilding within curtilage of a
dwelling house - Unlawful Development

e S15/3399 — Lawful Development Certificate — Lawful development certificate
proposed for the erection of a building within the curtilage of No. 1 Albert Road for a
purpose incidental to the enjoyment of the dwellinghouse — Unlawful development

e S14/1935 — Full Planning Permission - Erection of bungalow — Refused — Appeal
dismissed

e S13/3396 — Full Planning Permission - New dwelling — Refused — Appeal dismissed
Relevant Planning Policies & Documents
SKDC Local Plan 2011 - 2036
Policy DE1 - Promoting Good Quality Design

Policy SD1 - The Principles of Sustainable Development in South Kesteven

110



5.1
52
5.3
54
5.5
5.6
5.7
5.8

5.9

Policy EN6 - The Historic Environment

Policy EN2 - Protecting Biodiversity and Geodiversity
Policy EN5 - Water Environment and Flood Risk Management
Policy SB1 - Sustainable Building

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
Section 12 - Achieving well-designed places

Section 16 - Conserving and enhancing the historic environment
Section 9 - Promoting sustainable transport

Section 5 - Delivering a sufficient supply of homes
Neighbourhood Plan

Stamford Neighbourhood Plan

Representation Received

Parish Council

No comment

LCC Highways and SuDS Support

No objections

Ward Councillors

No comments received

Conservation Officer

S24/1719 1 Albert Road, Stamford, PE9 2EA
Change of use of outbuilding to single dwelling.

No 1 Albert Road is set within the Medieval Core Character Area of the Stamford
Conservation Area, which is also under an Article 4 Directory. The site is set adjacent to
the Albert Bridge, a grade Il listed building (NHLE 1359564). As the site is located with the
Stamford Conservation Area consideration needs to be given to the contribution of this site
to the significance of this conservation area. Under the Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Act, 1990, special attention should be paid to the desirability of
preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of conservation areas. It is proposed
to change the use of a single storey outbuilding, set to the rear of No 1 Albert Road, into a
separate dwelling. The structure subject to this application was built as an outbuilding
in2019, taking up the greater part of the garden of No 1 Albert Road. The building is a
single storey structure, sitting along the riverbank, clearly visible from the bridge and
opposite riverbank. The proposal does not expand the structure, so there would be no
additional impact upon the setting of the bridge and conservation area, beyond the
existing impact. As the structure is already present, a change in use would not cause
harm.

There therefore would be no heritage impact by the proposed change of use.

111



5.10
5.11

5.12

5.13

5.14
5.15

6.2
6.3

6.4

6.5

Environment Agency

The proposed development will only meet the National Planning Policy Framework's
requirements in relation to flood risk if the following planning condition is included.

Peterborough City Council

Having reviewed the pending planning application (reference: S24/1719) Peterborough
City Council, as the neighbouring Local Planning Authority, has no comments to make on
this application.

Environmental Protection Services

Environmental Protection has reviewed the documents in respect of the above application
and has no further comment to make.

Representation as a result of publicity

This application has been advertised in accordance with the Council's Statement of
Community Involvement and 4 letters of representation have been received. The points
raised can be summarised as follows:

1. Previous application was refused on the lack of amenity grounds and flood issues. The
reasons for the refusal have not been overcome by this proposal.

2. The site is located at the end of a narrow cul de sac. Access for vehicles for residents
and carers is already difficult, and an additional dwelling would exacerbate this and
increase risk of incidents.

3. The proposed access if often blocks by parked cars, and access for emergency
vehicles would be difficult

4. The scale of the proposed residence would be out of proportion to the site and leaves
very limited amenity space

5. Windows on the proposed dwelling would directly overlook No.2 Albert Road

6. If approved, the application would set a precedent for developments to bypass normal
planning regulations in a conservation area

7. The lawful use of the building as an outbuilding does not mean that the building would
be acceptable as a dwelling

Evaluation

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that the Local
Planning Authority makes decisions in accordance with the adopted Development Plan,
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. In this case, the adopted development
plan comprises of the following documents:

- South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (Adopted January 2020)
- Stamford Neighbourhood Plan (Made 25 July 2022)

The Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan forms part of the development plan in
relation to minerals planning.

The policies and provisions set out in the National Planning Policy Framework are also a
material consideration in the determination of planning applications, alongside the adopted
Design Guidelines for Rutland and South Kesteven.

112



6.6
6.7

6.8

6.9

6.10

6.11

6.12

Principle of Development

Policy SD1 (The Principles of Sustainable Development in South Kesteven) sets out the
overarching obligation for development proposals to minimise its impact on climate and
contribute toward a strong, stable and more diverse economy. The policy requires
consideration of a number of matters including the impact of development of climate
change, minimising the need to travel, avoiding development of areas of flood risk and
development proposals giving rise to pollution, encouraging the use of previously
developed or underutilised land, providing a supply of housing to meet the needs of
present and future generations, and enhancing the character, natural environment and
cultural and historic environment of the District.

The South Kesteven Local Plan (SKLP) sets out the principles for the location of
development within Policies SP1 and SP2. Policy SP1 (Spatial Strategy) outlines the
strategy for the District during the plan period. It identifies that the overall strategy of the
Local Plan is to deliver sustainable growth, including new housing and job creation, in
order to facilitate growth in the local economy and support local residents.

Decisions about the location and scale of new development will be taken on the basis of
the settlement hierarchy set out in Policy SP2. Policy SP2 (Settlement Hierarchy),
alongside Policy SP1, seeks to focus the majority of new development to Grantham to
support and strengthen its role as a Sub-Regional Centre, followed by the three other
market towns being Stamford, Bourne and The Deepings, then in the hierarchy comes the
larger villages, followed by smaller villages. SP2 states that development in Smaller
Villages, development will be supported in accordance with Policy SP3, SP4 and all other
relevant policies, where development will not compromise the village's nature and
character.

The application site in this instance lies within Stamford, and as such, comprises a one of
the Market Towns as defined by policy SP2.

SP3 (Infill Development) states that in all settlements defined in Policy SP2, infill
development, which is in accordance with all other relevant Local Plan policies, will be
supported provided that:

a. it is within a substantially built-up frontage or re-development opportunity (previously
development land);

b. it is within the main built-up part of the settlement;

c. it does not cause harm or unacceptable impact upon the occupiers amenity of adjacent
properties;

d. it does not extend the pattern of development beyond the existing built form; and it is in
keeping with the character of the area and is sensitive to the setting of adjacent properties.

The proposal relates to the change of use of a residential outbuilding into a dwellinghouse.
Given the location of the outbuilding within a substantially built-up area within the main
part of the settlement, the development would be considered to comply with the locational
principles of Policy SP3 of the SKDC Local Plan and therefore be acceptable in principle.
Discussion is given to whether the proposal would comply with criteria ¢ and the latter part
of d below along with any site-specific criteria.

113



6.13
6.14

6.15

6.16

6.17

6.18

6.19

6.20

6.21

Character and appearance of the area

Policy DE1 (Promoting Good Quality Design) of the adopted Local Plan states (amongst
other criteria) that to ensure high quality design is achieved throughout the District, all
development proposals will be expected to make a positive contribution to local
distinctiveness, vernacular and character of the area. Proposals should reinforce local
identity and not have an adverse impact on the streetscene, settlement pattern or the
landscape / townscape character of the surrounding area. Proposals should be of an
appropriate scale, density, massing, height and material, given the context of the area.
Part 12 of the NPPF (Achieving well-designed places) states that good design is a key
aspect of sustainable development and new development should be visually attractive as
a result of good architecture and appropriate landscaping.

The Local Planning Authority is required to ensure that with respect to any buildings or
other land in a conservation area, special attention shall be paid to the desirability of
preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area, through the Planning
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 at Section 72.

Furthermore, the importance of considering the impact of development on the significance
of designated heritage assets is expressed in the National Planning Policy Framework
(NPPF). The NPPF advises that development and alterations to designated assets and
their settings can cause harm. These policies ensure the protection and enhancement of
the historic buildings and environments. Proposals that preserve those elements of the
setting that make a positive contribution to or better reveal the significance should be
treated favourably.

Policy EN6 (The Historic Environment) states amongst other criteria that the Council will
seek to protect and enhance heritage assets and their settings, in keeping with the policies
in the National Planning Policy Framework. Proposals will be expected to take into
account the Conservation Area Appraisals, where these have been adopted by the
Council.

The proposal would not result in external alterations to the existing appearance of the
outbuilding. Nevertheless, the proposed change of use of the building would alter the
character of the use of the building. The use as a residential dwelling in a built-up
residential area would not be out of character with the surrounding building uses and
would not introduce any visual disturbance.

SKDC'’s Conservation Officer was consulted on the scheme and advised that given that
the proposal would not expand the structure, there would be no additional impact upon the
setting of the bridge and conservation area, beyond the existing impact. As the structure is
already present, a change in use would not cause harm, therefore would be no heritage
impact by the proposed change of use.

It is considered that any further alterations, enlargements, outbuildings, windows, works to
roof and means of enclosure to the building could result in harm to the character and
appearance of the area due to the scale of the plot and the heritage constraints. Taking
this into account, it is deemed appropriate to remove the permitted development rights for
these types of development via condition.

By virtue of the proposal comprising solely of a change of use of an existing building, the
proposal would remain in keeping with the existing streetscene and surrounding context

114



6.22
6.23

6.24

6.25

6.26

and would not harm the character of the Stamford Conservation in accordance with the
Stamford Neighbourhood Plan Policy 8, NPPF Sections 12 and 16, and Policies DE1, EN6
and SP3 of the Local Plan.

Neighbours residential amenities

Policy DE1 (Promoting Good Quality Design) of the adopted Local Plan states (amongst
other criteria) that all development proposals will be expected to ensure there is no
adverse impact on the amenity of neighbouring users in terms of noise, light pollution, loss
of privacy and loss of light and provide sufficient private amenity space, suitable to the
type and amount of development proposed. Paragraph 135 of the NPPF states that
developments should create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which
promote health and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future
users; and where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality
of life or community cohesion and resilience.

The subdivision of the plot and relationship between the proposed dwelling and No.1
Albert Road would result in a reduction in the level of amenity space afforded to each
property. This was a concern raised within the representations received. Whilst the level of
amenity space would be relatively small, it would not be uncharacteristic for properties
along Albert Road and the adjacent streets to host small amenity spaces. Furthermore,
the resulting amenity space for each property would be enhanced by the adjacent
riverside location, making the amenity space higher quality amenity space. Within the
appeal decisions for both applications S13/0491 (APP/E2530/ A/13/2201597) and
S14/1935 (APP/E2530/W/15/3007955), where there were comparable resulting levels of
amenity space, the inspector deemed this amenity space to be adequate. It is
acknowledged that since these decisions that the SKDC Local Plan has been adopted, the
Stamford Neighbourhood Plan has been made and the Rutland and South Kesteven
Design Guidelines have been produced, however there is no specific guidance on levels
of amenity space.

The reason for dismissal of the single storey dwelling largely reflecting this current
proposal at appeal under S14/1935 (APP/E2530/W/15/3007955) was on the basis that the
introduction of the built form to the rear of No.1 Albert Road would result in harm to the
amenity of the occupiers of No.2 Albert Road particularly on the basis of their outlook. By
outlook, it was meant that the inclusion of the built structure within the rear garden of No.1
Albert Road in addition to the existing built form would be overly dominant and enclosing
to the amenity level available to the rear windows of No.2 Albert Road. This level of built
form has however already been provided on site with confirmation that this was lawful
provided by the lawful development certificate S18/1988. This previous refusal reason is
therefore now ineffectual due to the anticipated harmful impact of the building already
being experienced by the neighbours as a result of the existing structure. The change of
use application would not increase any harm to No.2’s outlook as there would be no
increase in no built form.

The proposed dwelling would be utilising the buildings existing openings. There are no
windows to the eastern elevation of the building which would face onto No.1 Albert Road’s
private amenity space. The window facing onto No.2 Albert Road is already in situ and
would face the rearmost section of this neighbour’s outdoor amenity space. It is satisfied
that the proposal would not result in any significant overlooking that would result in an

115



6.27

6.28

6.29
6.30

6.31

6.32

6.33

6.34
6.35

6.36

unacceptable level of impact by way of loss of privacy to any of the neighbouring
properties.

It is considered that any further alterations, enlargements, outbuildings, windows, works to
roof and means of enclosure to the building could result in neighbours residential
amenities. Taking this into account, it is deemed appropriate to remove the permitted
development rights for these types of development via condition.

Taking into account the nature of the proposal, small scale, and adequate separation
distances, it is considered that there would be no unacceptable adverse impact on the
residential amenities of the occupiers of adjacent properties in accordance with the
Stamford Neighbourhood Plan, NPPF Section 12, and Policy DE1 of the Local Plan.

Highways Impacts

Paragraph 116 of the NPPF advises that development should only be prevented or
refused on transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development are
severe.

The concerns raised in representation are noted in regard to congestion and use of the
adjacent public walkway associated with the intensification of residential use on the
existing site, however there is no parking provisions provided within the scheme for the
proposed dwelling. However, the application site is within the Stamford Town Centre, and
adjacent a car park which offers parking season tickets. There are also public transport
options such as the train station and bus services in walking distance. In addition, it is
considered that the main facilities considered to be essential for a residential property
such as schools, transport, food premises etc would all be within walking or cycling
distance of the building and largely available in and around the Town Centre. With
overarching promotion of sustainable development within the SKDC Local Plan, it is
considered that the application site would be a sustainable location for residential
development that allows for sustainable transport options. It is also worth noting that as
the proposal would be for market housing, any future occupiers would be aware of there
being no private parking provisions.

The Highways Authority have raised no objections, noting due to the central urban
location, private parking provisions are not required in this instance.

The proposal would result in adequate access, parking and turning facilities and would not
have an unacceptable adverse impact on highway safety in accordance with the NPPF
Section 9.

Flood Risk and Drainage

The application site is located within Flood Zones 2 and 3, due to its location directly
adjacent the River Welland. Consideration must be given to that whilst the building is
existing, the existing use of the building being one for purposes incidental to the
enjoyment of the existing dwelling and how this would differ to the use as a permanent
residential dwelling.

The Environment Agency advised that the proposed development would only meet the
National Planning Policy Framework's requirements in relation to flood risk if a planning
condition is included that requires the development to be undertaken in accordance with
the mitigation measures set out in the Flood Risk Assessment (dated October 2024).

116



6.37
6.38

6.39

6.40

6.41
6.42

6.43

6.44

6.45
6.46

6.47

6.48
6.49

6.50
6.51

Climate Change

As previously identified, the application site is located within the main part of the
settlement of Stamford which is a settlement identified within the Local Plan as being an
appropriate location for residential development of the scale proposed. As such, the
application would accord with the locational principles of Policy SD1.

It is acknowledged that the application submission does not specifically provide details
about how the proposed dwelling would accord with the policy obligations of Local Plan
Policy SB1, the re-use of an existing building through change of use is a sustainable
building practice.

The above partnered with the historic context of the site, it is considered that additional
sustainable building measures would not be required in this instance for the scheme to
comply with Policy SB1 of the SKDC Local Plan.

Ecology and Biodiversity

Local Plan Policy EN2 seeks to ensure the conservation and enhancement of ecological
networks and deliver a net gain in biodiversity for all development proposals.

Additionally, Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) became mandatory on all small sites on 2 April
2024. This application is exempt from the requirement for BNG given that it relates to a
change of use.

Nevertheless, taking into account that the built structure is already in place on site, the
change of use and any works to facilitate this would not significantly impact on any
existing onsite biodiversity. Therefore, the proposal is considered to comply in accordance
with Local Plan Policy EN2.

Other Matters

The comment received in relation to the acceptance of the outbuilding as lawful does not
therefore mean that the building would be acceptable as a dwelling is noted. This
statement is true, and it has been the role of this planning application to consider the
merits of the change of use.

The issue of setting a precedent was also raised in representation, in that approving this
scheme would promote bypassing the normal planning application system. The
outbuilding was deemed lawful under S18/1988 and the acceptability of the proposal
therefore has to be considered with this in mind. Each application is considered on its own
merits taking into account all relevant planning considerations, and the Local Planning
Authority is not able to alter what is lawful under permitted development regulations.

Crime and Disorder

It is considered that the proposal would not result in any significant crime and disorder
implications.

Human Rights Implications

Articles 6 (Rights to fair decision making) and Article 8 (Right to private family life and
home) of the Human Rights Act have been taken into account in making this
recommendation. It is considered that no relevant Article of that act will be breached.

117



6.52
6.53

6.54

6.55

6.56

Conclusion

The change of use from an outbuilding to a dwelling would provide a single housing unit,
which is a benefit, although officers only attribute this moderate weight in the context of
the overall housing needs of the district.

There would be no additional harm in terms of the appearance and character of the area.
The subdivision of the plot and relationship between the proposed dwelling and No.1
Albert Road would result in a reduction in the level of amenity space afforded to each
property. However, this has previously been found to be acceptable and there are no
material changes in policy of circumstance to justify a different conclusion.

The previous application and appeal decisions are material planning considerations, and it
is considered the previous reasons for the dismissal of the application for a similar scheme
have either been overcome or are now no longer relevant due to the subsequent lawful
development certificate application in which it was confirmed that the erection of the
outbuilding was lawful. Therefore, there are no new material planning considerations that
would warrant refusal of this application, and the proposal is therefore considered to be
appropriate for its context and is in accordance with the Stamford Neighbourhood Plan,
NPPF (Sections 9, 12 and 16) and Policies EN6 and DE1 of the South Kesteven Local
Plan.

Recommendation

Time Limit for Commencement

1 The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of

three years from the date of this permission.

Reason: In order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set out

in Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

Approved Plans

2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
following list of approved plans:

i OS Location Plan as shown on Site Plan, Block Plan and OS Location Plan as
Existing re. Drawing No.5 received 4 October 2024

il. Site Plan, Block Plan and OS Location Plan as Proposed re. Drawing No.7 received
4 October 2024

iii. Proposed Elevations re. Drawing No.8 received 4 October 2024Unless otherwise
required by another condition of this permission.

Reason: To define the permission and for the avoidance of doubt.

118



Before the development is occupied

3 Prior to the occupation of the development hereby permitted, the finished floor levels
shall have been completed in accordance with the submitted flood risk assessment in
section 6.6 of the Planning Statement, undertaken by James Turley Planning Ltd (dated
October 2024) and the following mitigation measures it details:

- Finished floor level for the bedroom to be set no lower than 23.335 mAOD
- Finished floor level for the living area to be set no lower than 22.36 mAOD

These mitigation measures shall be retained and maintained thereafter throughout the
lifetime of the development.

Reason To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future occupants
in line with Policy EN5 of the South Kesteven Local Plan

Ongoing conditions

4. Notwithstanding the provisions of Schedule 2, Part 1, Class A of the Town and Country
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any order revoking
or re-enacting that Order with or without modification), no enlargement, improvement or
other alteration to the property other than those expressly authorised by this permission
shall be carried out without Planning Permission first having been granted by the Local
Planning Authority.

Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the occupiers of nearby properties and the
character and appearance of the ar.

6.57  Notwithstanding the provisions of Schedule 2, Part 1, Classes B & C of the Town and
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any order
revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without modification), no window, dormer
window, rooflight or other development consisting of an alteration to the roof of the
property other than those expressly authorised by this permission shall be constructed
without Planning Permission first having been granted by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the occupiers of nearby properties and the
character and appearance of the area.

Notwithstanding the provisions of Schedule 2, Part 1, Class E of the Town and Country
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any order revoking
or re-enacting that Order with or without modification), no building, enclosure, swimming or
other pool or container used for domestic heating purposes shall be constructed within the
curtilage of the dwellinghouse without Planning Permission first having been granted by
the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: The Local Planning Authority considers that further development could cause
detriment to the amenities of the occupiers of nearby properties or to the character of the
area, and for this reason would wish to control any future development and in accordance
with Policy DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

©6.58  Notwithstanding the provisions of Schedule 2, Part 2, Class A of the Town and Country
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any order revoking
or re-enacting that Order with or without modification), no gate, fence, wall or other means

119



of enclosure shall be constructed within or on the boundary of the curtilage of the site
without Planning Permission first having been granted by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: The Local Planning Authority considers that further development could cause
detriment to the amenities of the occupiers of nearby properties or to the character of the
area, and for this reason would wish to control any future development and in accordance
with Policy DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Not applicable

Legal Implications reviewed by: Not applicable

120



Agenda Iltem 8

SOUTH Planning Committee
KESTEVEN 6 February 2025
DISTRICT

COUNCIL

S23/0299

Proposal: Erection of 67 dwellings with associated vehicular access from
Reedings Road and Owen Way, and associated public open space and
infrastructure

Location: Land at Reedings Road, Barrowby

Applicant Persimmon Homes East Midlands

Application Type: Full Planning Permission (Major Development)

Reason for Referral to | Major development which requires a Section 106 Agreement to secure

Committee: financial contributions.

Key Issues: e Section 106 Heads of Terms

Report Author

Adam Murray — Principal Development Management Planner
E 01476 406080

2% Adam.Murray@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type:

Growth ‘ Regulatory ’ Belvoir

Reviewed by: Phil Jordan, Development Management &
Enforcement Manager
Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

To authorise the Assistant Director — Planning & Growth to GRANT planning permission,
subject to conditions and the completion of a Section 106 Agreement

28 January 2025

121


http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1

=

AN

Asepunog
uonedddy

Aay

Agmouieg ‘peoy s3uipasy — 6620/£CS

122



Addendum to Committee Report — S23/0299 — Reedings Road, Barrowby

1
1.1

1.2

Introduction

Members will recall that this application was previously discussed at Planning Committee
on 13 June 2024 (Report at Appendix 1 and Additional Items Paper at Appendix 2). At that
meeting, the Committee resolved that it was minded to grant planning permission for the
reasons set out within the officer report, and subject to the recommended schedule of
conditions and the completion of a Section 106 Agreement.

The relevant minutes of that meeting stated:
*During questions to Officers and debate, Members commented on:
= Whether the ongoing maintenance of soft landscaping would be enforced.

The Planning Officer confirmed that the ongoing maintenance of soft landscaping would
be an enforcement matter. The Enforcement Team would engage with Applicant’s in order
to rectify any issues that may arise.

= Whether any money had been set aside for monitoring as part of the legal
agreement.

The legal agreement included a monitoring fee, which looked at the Council’s time and
expense enforcing the Section 106 Agreement and approved conditions.

=  Whether there was a substation included within the proposed plan of the site.

The Planning Officer clarified that the proposed substation was within the eastern part of
the site, which was not within the children’s play area.

= Clarification was sought around Policy SB1 and whether any EV charging points
or climate change mitigation would be conditioned.

Condition 9 required the details of the EV charging points. Policy SB1 related to sustainable
buildings and taking decarbonisation of the energy grid into account. The current Local Plan
did not require communal / visitor EV charging points.

It was proposed, seconded and AGREED to authorise the Assistant Director of Planning to
GRANT planning permission subject to the completion of a Section 106 Agreement to
secure the planning obligations detailed below, and subject to the schedule of conditions
set out within the main report (with the removal of Condition 19).

Updated Heads of Terms

e Open Space - on site provision as per the approved plans, and £45,862.60 towards
improving existing sports facilities within Barrowby.

e Affordable Housing — 30% of all dwellings provided on site, consisting of:

o Affordable Home Ownership (First Homes) (5 dwellings)

= 5x2-bed

o Affordable Home Ownership (Shared Ownership) (4 dwellings)
= 2Xx3-bed
= 2Xx4-bed

o Affordable Homes (Affordable Rent) (11 dwellings)

123



2.2

2.3

= 4x1-bed
= 5x2bed
= 2Xx3bed

Dwellings are to be provided in accordance with the distribution demonstrated on the
Proposed Planning Layout, which indicates clusters of 2-4 dwellings. The Nomination
Agreement will also be secured as part of the Section 106 Agreement, which will give
priority to applicants with a local connection.

Healthcare - £44,220.00 towards expanding healthcare capacity in the Grantham and
Rural K2 Primary Care Network.

Highways (Low Road cycleway / footway) - £100,000 towards the cost of delivering a
dedicated footway / cycleway along Low Road to link the site to Grantham.

Highways (Off-site pedestrian improvements) - £50,000 towards the cost of providing
uncontrolled tactile dropped kerbs between the site and village centre.

Highways (Bus Services) - £67,000 to cover the cost of providing free year-long bus
passes to each dwelling of the new development.

Community Facility - £68,514.25 towards the cost of delivering a new community hall.
Monitoring Fee - £15,000.00
Updates since June 2024

Subsequent to the application being discussed at the June 2024 Committee meeting,
progress has been made on the drafting of the Section 106 Agreement. During the course
of negotiations, Lincolnshire County Council (as Local Highways Authority) have confirmed
that they do not wish to collect the financial contribution towards the provision of bus passes
for the new dwelling and would prefer the Developer to engage directly with the future
occupiers and the bus operators.

As a result, it is necessary for the heads of terms for the Section 106 Agreement to be
amended to exclude the financial contributions towards bus passes, and for this to be
secured through planning conditions instead. To be clear, the proposed amendments do not
change the infrastructure improvements to be provided, but simply alters the mechanism
through which they are provided.

Taking the above into account, it is proposed that the Heads of Terms for the Section 106
Agreement are updated as follows:

Updated Heads of Terms

Open Space — on site provision as per the approved plans, and £45,862.60 towards
improving existing sports facilities within Barrowby.

Affordable Housing — 30% of all dwellings provided on site, consisting of:

o Affordable Home Ownership (First Homes) (5 dwellings)

= 5x2-bed
o Affordable Home Ownership (Shared Ownership) (4 dwellings)
= 2x3-bed

124



2.4

2.5

2.6

3.1

= 2X4-bed
o Affordable Homes (Affordable Rent) (11 dwellings)

= 4x1-bed
= 5x2bed
= 2x3bed

Dwellings are to be provided in accordance with the distribution demonstrated on the
Proposed Planning Layout, which indicates clusters of 2-4 dwellings. The Nomination
Agreement will also be secured as part of the Section 106 Agreement, which will give
priority to applicants with a local connection.

Healthcare - £44,220.00 towards expanding healthcare capacity in the Grantham and
Rural K2 Primary Care Network.

Highways (Low Road cycleway / footway) - £100,000 towards the cost of delivering a
dedicated footway / cycleway along Low Road to link the site to Grantham.

Highways (Off-site pedestrian improvements) - £50,000 towards the cost of providing
uncontrolled tactile dropped kerbs between the site and village centre.

Community Facility - £68,514.25 towards the cost of delivering a new community hall.
Monitoring Fee - £15,000.00

In addition, a new planning condition (Condition 14) is proposed to require the submission
of a revised Travel Plan, which will include details of a scheme making available 2 free
annual travel passes per dwelling for the first year of their occupation. This is consistent with
the arrangements that would have been secured as part of the financial contributions
requested by Lincolnshire County Council.

Condition 19 would be subsequently revised to ensure that the revised Travel Plan is subject
to compliance rather than the travel plan currently submitted as part of the application.

It is the Case Officers assessment that the above revisions to the Heads of Terms of the
Section 106 Agreement together with the revised schedule of conditions would ensure that
the Section 106 Agreement would meet the necessary legal requirements set out within the
CIL Regulations, as well as within national and local planning policy. The revised schedule
of conditions would also ensure that the proposed development makes appropriate
arrangements for securing sustainable modes of travel. As such, the revisions would be in
accordance with Policy ID1 and ID2 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan and Section
9 of the Framework.

Other Matters

A revised National Planning Policy Framework was published on 12 December 2024. Whilst
the revised National Planning Policy Framework contains a number of significant policy
updates, these policy updates would result in further weight being given to the public
benefits associated with the delivery of housing as part of this scheme. As such, it is Officer’s
assessment that these material planning policy updates do not justify a revised assessment
of any other material considerations relating to the application.

125



6.2

6.3

7.1

1.2

7.3

Crime and Disorder

It is concluded that the application proposals would not result in any significant crime and
disorder implications.

Human Rights Implications

Article 6 (Rights to fair decision making) and Article 8 (Right to private family life and home)
of the Human Rights Act have been taken into account in making this recommendation. It is
concluded that no relevant Article of the Act will be breached in making this decision.

Planning Balance and Conclusions

To summarise, during the course of negotiations on the Section 106 Agreement,
Lincolnshire County Council (as Local Highways Authority) have confirmed that they do not
wish to collect financial contributions towards the provision of bus passes for new dwellings
and would prefer the Developer engages directly with the future occupiers and the bus
operators.

As a result, it is necessary for the heads of terms for the Section 106 Agreement to be
amended to delete the financial contributions towards bus passes, which is to be secured
through planning conditions instead. To be clear, the proposed amendments do not change
the infrastructure requirements, but simply changes the mechanism through which they are
to be delivered. The application proposals remain unchanged in all other respects.

Taking the above into account, it is the Officer's assessment that the application proposals
would accord with the adopted Development Plan when taken as a whole, and the material
considerations in this case, also indicate that planning permission should be granted.

Recommendation
Recommendation — Part 1

To authorise the Assistant Director — Planning & Growth to GRANT planning permission,
subject to the completion of a Section 106 Agreement to secure the necessary financial
contributions set out within the report above, and subject to the proposed schedule of
conditions below.

Recommendation — Part 2

Where the Section 106 Agreement has not been concluded prior to the Committee, a period
not exceeding twelve weeks after the date of the Committee shall be set for the completion
of the obligation.

In the event that the agreement has not been concluded within the twelve week period, and
where, in the opinion of the Assistant Director — Planning & Growth, there are no extenuating
circumstances which would justify a further extension of time, the related planning
application shall be refused for the following reason(s):

1. The applicant has failed to enter into a planning obligation to secure the
required level of affordable housing, as well as necessary financial
contributions towards healthcare, open space and community facilities as
required by Policy ID1, H2 and OS1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local
Plan 2011-2036.

126



Schedule of Condition(s)

Time Limit for Commencement

1) The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of three years
from the date of this permission.

Reason: In order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set out in
Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended)

Approved Plans

2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following list
of approved plans:

a) Planning Submission Schedule (Dated 4 June 2024)

Unless otherwise required by another condition of this permission.

Reason: To define the permission and for the avoidance of doubt.
Before Development is Commenced

Archaeological Investigation

3) Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, the programme of archaeological
investigations shall have been completed in accordance with the approved Written Scheme
of Investigation for Archaeological Evaluation Trenching (Lanpro) (June 2022), and a report
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In order to provide a reasonable opportunity to record the history of the site and in
accordance with Policy EN6 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

Construction Management Plan

4) No development shall take place until a Construction Management Plan has been submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Plan and Statement shall
include measures to mitigate the adverse impacts during the construction stages of the
permitted development and shall include:

The phasing of the development, including access construction and build routes.

The on-site parking of all vehicles of site operatives and visitors.

The on-site loading and unloading of all plant and materials.

The on-site storage of all plant and materials to be used in constructing the
development.

Dust suppression measures.

Wheel washing facilities.

g. A strategy stating how surface water runoff on and from the development will be
manged during the construction, and protection measures for any sustainable

coop

-

127



features. This should include drawing(s) showing how the drainage systems
(temporary or permanent) connect to an outfall (temporary or permanent) during all
construction works.

The Construction Management Plan and Statement shall be strictly adhered to throughout
the construction period.

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity, and to prevent flooding upstream or
downstream of the application site.

Part M4(2) Dwellings

5) Before any part of the development hereby permitted is commenced, a plan indicating the
provision of 10% of the dwellings as being Accessible and Adaptable in line with the
standards set out in Part M4(2) of the Building Regulations, shall have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Thereafter, the development shall be completed in accordance with the approved details and
the dwellings shall be retained as such for the lifetime of the development.

Reason: To ensure that the development meets the needs of all future residents as required
by Policy H4 of the adopted Local Plan.

Surface Water Drainage Strategy

6) Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, a scheme for the treatment of
surface water drainage shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The scheme shall:

a. Be based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the hydrological
and hydrogeological context of the development.

b. Provide flood exceedance routing for storm events greater than the 1 in 100 year
event;

c. Provide details of how run-off will be safely conveyed and attenuated during storms
up to and including the 1 in 100 year critical storm event, with an allowance for climate
change, from all hard surfaced areas within the development into the existing drainage
infrastructure and watercourse system without exceeding the runoff rater for the
undeveloped site;

d. Provide attenuation details and discharge rates which shall be restricted;

e. Provide details of the timetable for and any phasing of the implementation of the
drainage scheme; and

f. Provide details of how the scheme shall be maintained and managed over the lifetime
of the development, including any arrangements for adoption by any public body or
Statutory Undertaker and any other arrangements required to secure the operation of
the drainage system throughout its lifetime.

Thereafter, no dwelling shall be occupied until the approved scheme has been completed

or provided on site in accordance with the approved phasing. The approved scheme shall
be retained and maintained in full, in accordance with the approved details.

128



Reason: To ensure that the permitted development is adequately drained without creating
or increasing flood risk to land or property adjacent to, or downstream of, or upstream of,
the permitted development.

Tree Protection Measures

7) Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, including bringing any plant or
materials on to the site, the tree protection measures indicated on the Tree Protection Plan
(Ref: RSE_6038_TPP/Rev V3) shall have been implemented in full.

Thereafter, the protection measures shall be retained on site until all works have been
completed.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and for the avoidance of doubt.

Estate Road Phasing Plan

8) Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, an Estate Road Phasing and
Completion Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The Plan shall set out how the construction of the development will be phased and
standards to which the estate roads on each phase will be completed during the construction
period of the development.

Thereafter, the development shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure that a safe and suitable standard of vehicular and pedestrian access is
provided for residents throughout the construction period of the development.

During Building Works

EV Charging Points Plan

9) No development above damp-proof course shall take place until a plan detailing the local of
electric vehicle charging points, as required by Local Plan Policy SB1, has been submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Thereafter, the approved electric vehicle charging points shall be installed prior to first
occupation of the dwellings hereby permitted.

Reason: To ensure the development mitigates against and adapts to climate change in
accordance with Policy SB1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

Construction Hours

10)Construction work on site shall only be carried out between the hours of 0730 and 1800
Monday to Friday, and 0900 to 1300 on Saturdays. Construction work shall not be carried out
on Sundays or Public Holidays; unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.

129



The term “construction work” shall include all mobile plant and machinery, radios and the
delivery of construction materials.

Reason: To minimise noise impacts on nearby residential dwellings.

Delivery Hours

11)Deliveries of construction materials shall only rake place between the hours of 0800 and 1700
Monday to Friday, and 0900 and 1700 on Saturdays. Deliveries shall not take place on
Sundays or public holidays.

Reason: To minimise noise impacts on the adjacent residential dwellings.

Ecological Mitigation

12)All works on site, including construction and delivery works, shall be carried out in accordance
with the recommendations contained within Section 6 of the Ecological Appraisal (BSG
Ecology) (December 2022), unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.

Reason: In the interests of best ecological practice and in accordance with Policy EN2 of the
adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

Previously Unidentified Contamination

13)Should the developer, during excavation and construction works of the approved
development site, find any area where it is suspected that the land is contaminated, then all
works must stop and the Local Planning Authority notified immediately. An investigation and
risk assessment must be undertaken, and where remediation is necessary, a remediation
scheme must be prepared in accordance with current good practice and legislation, and
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, the
approved remediation scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved detalils.

Following the completion of the measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a
verification report must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing by the Local
Planning Authority prior to the first occupation of the dwellings hereby permitted.

Reason: previous activities associated with the site may have caused, or had the potential to
cause, land contamination and to ensure that any site investigation and remediation will not
cause pollution, in the interests of the amenities of future residents and users of the
development; and in accordance with Policy EN4 of the Local Plan.

Revised Travel Plan

14)Notwithstanding the submitted details, before any development above damp-proof course, a
revised Travel Plan, including specific modal share targets for active travel modes which seek
to achieve the Government’s objectives for 50% of all trips to be made by active travel
methods, shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning

130



Authority. This shall include a scheme making available 2 free annual travel passes per
dwelling for the first year of their occupation.

Reason: In order that the permitted development conforms to the requirements of the
National Planning Policy Framework, by ensuring that access to the site is sustainable and
that there is reduced dependency on the private car for journeys to and from the development.

Before the Development is Occupied

Sustainable Building

15)Prior to the occupation of each dwelling hereby permitted, works shall be undertaken to
conform with the sustainable building measures detailed in the approved Sustainability
Statement (JSP Sustainability) (October 2022).

Reason: To ensure that the development mitigates against, and adapts to, climate change,
in accordance with Policy SB1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

Materials Compliance

16)Before each dwelling hereby permitted is first occupied, the external materials must have
been completed in accordance with the approved Proposed Charter Plan (Ref:
BA/CP/01/Rev A) and the corresponding approved housetypes pack detailed in the Drawing
Schedule (4 June 2024).

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in accordance with
Policy DEL1 of the adopted Local Plan.

Hard Landscaping

17)Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied, all hard landscaping works,
including the proposed children’s play area, and street surfacing, shall have been completed
in accordance with the approved Proposed Charter Plan (Ref: BA/CP/01/Rev A).

Reason: Hard landscaping makes an important contribution to the development and its
assimilation with its surroundings, and in accordance with Policy DE1 of the adopted South

Kesteven Local Plan.

Boundary Treatments

18)Before each dwelling hereby permitted is occupied, the works to provide the boundary
treatments relating to that part of the development shall have been completed in accordance
with the approved Proposed Charter Plan (Ref: BA/CP/01/Rev A) and the approved
Landscaping Plan (Ref: 10821-FPCR-XX-XX-DR-L-003 P13, 10821-FPCR-XX-XX-DR-L-
004 P13 and 10821-FPCR-XX-XX-DR-L-005 P13).

Reason: To provide a satisfactory appearance to any boundary treatments and by screening
rear gardens from public view, in the interests of the privacy and amenity of the occupants of

131



the proposed and neighbouring dwellings and in accordance with Policy DE1 of the adopted
South Kesteven Local Plan.

Travel Plan Compliance

19)Before any dwelling hereby permitted is occupied, the measures contained with the approved
Travel Plan shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and shall continue
to be implemented for as long as any part of the development is occupied.

Reason: In order that the permitted development conforms to the requirements of the
National Planning Policy Framework, by ensuring that access to the site is sustainable and
that there is reduced dependency on the private car for journeys to and from the development.

Reedings Road / Owen Way junction

20)Before any part of the development is occupied, all of that part of the estate road and
associated footways that forms the junctions with Reedings Road and Owen Way, and which
will be constructed within the limits of the public highway, shall be laid out and constructed to
finished levels in accordance with details to be submitted to, and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interest of safety, to avoid the creation of pedestrian trip hazards within the
public highway from surfacing materials, manholes and gullies that may otherwise remain for
an extended period of time at dissimilar, interim construction levels.

Ongoing Conditions

Soft Landscaping

21)Before the end of the first planting / seeding season following the first occupation of the
development hereby permitted, all soft landscaping works shall have been completed in
accordance with the approved planting plans:

e FPCR, Detailed POS Planting Sheet 1 of 5, drawing number 10821-FPCR-XX-XX-
DR-L-0001 P14

e FPCR, Detailed POS Planting Plan Sheet 2 of 5, drawing number 10821-FPCR-XX-
XX-DR-L-0002 P14

e FPCR, Detailed On-Plot Planting Pan, drawing number 10821-FPCR-XX-XX-DR-L-
003 P13

e FPCR, Detailed On-Plot Planting Pan, drawing number 10821-FPCR-XX-XX-DR-L-
004 P13

e FPCR, Detailed On-Plot Planting Pan, drawing number 10821-FPCR-XX-XX-DR-L-
005 P13

Reason: Soft landscaping makes an important contribution to the development and its
assimilation with its surroundings, and in accordance with Policy DE1 of the adopted South
Kesteven Local Plan.

Soft Landscaping Protection

132



22)Within a period of five years from the first of occupation of the final dwelling of the
development hereby permitted, any trees or plants provided as part of the approved soft
landscaping scheme that die or become, in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority,
seriously damaged or defective, shall be replaced in the first planting season following any
such loss with a specimen of the same size and species, unless otherwise agreed by the
Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure the provision, establishment and maintenance of a reasonable standard
of landscaping, in accordance with the approved designs, and in accordance with Policy DE1
and EN2 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

Landscape Ecology Management Plan

23)Following first occupation of the final dwelling hereby permitted, the approved Landscape
Ecology Management Plan (BSG Ecology) (October 2022) shall be adhered to in full, unless
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: Soft landscaping makes an important contribution to the development and its

assimilation with its surroundings, and in the interests of best ecological practice; and in
accordance with Policy DE1 and EN2 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

133



Note(s) to Applicant

1)

2)

3)

4)

5)

6)

7

8)

In reaching this decision, the Council has worked with the Applicant in a positive and
proactive manner by determining the application without undue delay. As such, it is
considered that the decision is in accordance with Paragraph 38 of the National Planning
Policy Framework (December 2023).

All roads within the development hereby permitted must be constructed to an acceptable
engineering standard. Those roads that are out forward for adoption as public highways
must be constructed in accordance with the Lincolnshire County Council Development
Road Specification that is current at the time of construction, and the developer will be
required to enter into a legal agreement with the Highway Authority under Section 38 of
the Highways Act 1980. Those roads that are not to be voluntarily out forward for
adoption as public highways may be subject to action by the Highway Authority under
Section 219 (Advanced Payments Code) of the Highways Act 1980.

The permitted development requires the formation of a new/amended vehicular access.
These works will require approval from the Highway Authority in accordance with Section
184 of the Highways Act. The works should be constructed in accordance with the
Authority's specification that is current at the time of construction. Relocation of existing
apparatus, underground services or street furniture will be the responsibility of the
applicant, prior to application. For application guidance, approval and specification
details, please visit
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/licences-permits/apply-dropped-kerb

Please contact the Lincolnshire County Council Streetworks and Permitting Team on
01522 782070 to discuss any proposed statutory utility connections and any other works
which will be required within the public highway in association with the development
hereby permitted under this Consent. This will enable Lincolnshire County Council to
assist in the coordination and timings of these works.

For further guidance, please visit our website via the following links:

Traffic Management - https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/traffic-management

Licences and Permits — https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/licences/permits.

The highway improvement works referred to in the above condition are required to be
carried out by means of a legal agreement between the landowner and the County
Council, as the Local Highway Authority.

The existing ground level of the site must not be raised above the ground level of any
surrounding land without further consultation with the Lead Local Flood Authority and
Local Planning Authority, to consider suitable mitigation measures to ensure that surface
water flood risk is not created or increased to land adjacent to the permitted
development.

Notification of intention to connect to the public sewer under Section 106 of the Water
Industry Act approval and consent will be required by Anglian Water under the Water
Industry Act 1991. Contact Development Services on 0345 606 6087.

No building will be permitted within the statutory easement width of 3m from the pipeline
without agreement from Anglian Water.

134


https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/licences-permits/apply-dropped-kerb

9) The Developer should note that the site drainage details submitted have not been
approved for the purposes of adoption. If the developer wishes to have the sewers
included in a sewer adoption agreement with Anglian Water (under Section 104 of the
Water Industry Act 1991), they should contact the Development Services Team at the
earliest opportunity. Sewers intended for adoption should be designed and constructed

in accordance with Sewers for Adoption guide for developers, as supplemented by
Anglian Water’s requirements.

135



This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	4 Application S24/1040
	5 Application S24/1327
	6 Application S24/1822
	7 Application S24/1719
	8 Application S23/0299

